
The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through    
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

AGENDA  
PUBLIC HEARING FOLLOWED BY REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

Bresnan Meeting Center 
706 Kenwood Rd., Champaign 
AND VIA TELECONFERENCE  

The President of the Board of Commissioners has determined that requiring in-person attendance at a meeting 
or a meeting conducted pursuant to the Open Meetings Act is not practical or prudent because of the COVID-19 
disaster. 

(As permitted by Public Act 101-0640) 
However, citizens may choose to participate in person, or they may attend via Zoom by going to the 
following web address: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86949973253?pwd=djlHUmwvcFpZak9EZzZrU0pBaEtEQT09 

For online video access, please use the following Meeting ID and Password when prompted: 
Meeting ID: 869 4997 3253 
Password: 123607 

Alternatively, the meeting may be accessed by telephone at: 
1-312-626-6799, If prompted for the following items, please enter:
Meeting ID: 869 4997 3253, followed by the # symbol
Password: 123607, followed by the # symbol

Citizens will be offered an opportunity to speak to the Board during the public comment portion. If attending by 
Zoom, to facilitate this and not have individuals speaking over one another, the Park District kindly requests that 
individuals wishing to address the Board via the conference line during public comment notify the Park District via 
email, as noted below, of their intent to address the Board.  Alternatively, citizens may submit public comments 
by email prior to the Board meeting, to be announced by the Park Board President during the public comment 
portion of the meeting. Email submissions (notice of intent to speak or comment via email) should be submitted 
by Noon on Wednesday, March 8, 2023, and sent to sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org.   

PUBLIC HEARING 
Wednesday, March 8, 2023 

7:00 p.m. 

A. ORDINANCE NO. 667, BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE
The Public Hearing is to discuss and receive public comments on the Budget and Appropriation
Ordinance for FY24. A Notice of Public Hearing was published in The News-Gazette on February 17,
2023.

B. PUBLIC COMMENTS

C. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING

REGULAR MEETING 
Wednesday, March 8, 2023 

7:00 p.m. 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PRESENTATION

1. City of Champaign – TIF District – T.J. Blakeman

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86949973253?pwd=djlHUmwvcFpZak9EZzZrU0pBaEtEQT09
mailto:sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org


The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through                                        
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

Regular Board Meeting 
March 8, 2023 
Page 2 
 
C. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments must be limited to not more than three (3) minutes. 
 
D. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
E. TREASURER’S REPORT 
 

1. Consideration of Acceptance of the Treasurer’s Report for the Month of February 2023  
(Roll Call Vote) 

 
F. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

1. General Announcements 
 
G. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS 
 

1. Champaign Parks Foundation 
 
H. REPORT OF OFFICERS 
 

1. Attorney’s Report 
 

2. President’s Report 
 
I. CONSENT AGENDA 

All items appearing below are considered routine by the Board and shall be enacted by one motion. If 
discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and discussed separately. (Roll Call Vote) 
 
1. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting, February 8, 2023 
2. Approval of Minutes of the Executive Session, February 8, 2023 
3. Approval of Minutes of the Special Board Meeting, February 22, 2023 
4. Approval to Apply for the FY24 Illinois Arts Council Grant  
5. Approval of the Disbursement of $5,000 for 2023 Executive Committee of the Champaign County 

Community Coalition Membership Dues    
6. Approval of Agreement with Micro Systems International, Inc. for a two (2) year period 
7. Approval of Adoption of Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of Business of the 

Champaign Park District 
 
J.  NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. Approval of Disbursements  

Staff recommends approval of disbursements for the period beginning February 8, 2023 and 
ending March 7, 2023. (Roll Call Vote) 
 

2. Approval of Adoption of Ordinance No. 669: Annexing Territory (Roll Call Vote) 
Staff recommends approval of Ordinance No. 669 annexing territory pursuant to petition (1907 W. 
Curtis Road, Champaign) (Roll Call Vote) 
 

3. Approval of Letter of Support for TIF District (Roll Call Vote) 
 

4. Approval of Professional Services Agreement for Construction Administration of Greenbelt Bikeway 
Trail Connection Project 
Staff recommends approval of Professional Services Agreement with Clark Dietz Engineers for 

 construction management for Greenbelt Bikeway Project. (Roll Call Vote) 
 
 
 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through    
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

Regular Board Meeting 
March 8, 2023 
Page 3 

5. Approval of Bid for General Concrete Work
Staff recommends awarding this contract to the lowest bidder that meets all required specifications, 
A&R Mechanical Services, at the total bid amount of $59,344 and requests the Board authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into a contractual agreement for this work. (Roll Call Vote) 

K. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. FY24 Annual Operating Budget

2. Timberline Valley HOA Request

L. COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS

M. ADJOURN





























CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 
 

February 8, 2023 
 
The Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners held a Regular Board Meeting on 
Wednesday, February 8, 2023 at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, 
Illinois, and online due to President Miller’s determination that an in-person meeting or a meeting 
conducted pursuant to the Open Meetings Act was not practical or prudent because of the COVID-
19 disaster. The Regular Board Meeting occurred pursuant to published notice duly given. 
President Miller presided over the meeting. Citizens were given the opportunity to participate in the 
teleconference at the web address: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89438812005?pwd=blVFTkVyKzVOcHk4bkhOS3hFK3N3dz09 or by 
calling 312-626-6799. Citizens were also offered the opportunity to submit comments or questions 
by email prior to the meeting. Those comments were to be announced by President Miller during 
the public comment portion of the meeting. Email submissions were solicited from the public 
through a notice of intent to speak or comment to be submitted by noon on Wednesday, February 
8, 2023 to be sent to the Executive Director of the Park District at: 
sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org. There were no email comments or questions submitted by 
citizens for consideration by the Board. 
 
Present in-person: President Kevin J. Miller, Commissioners Jane L. Solon, Timothy P. McMahon, 
and Barbara J. Kuhl; Treasurer Brenda Timmons, Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director, and Jarrod 
Scheunemann, Secretary and Director of Administrative Services. 
 
Present electronically: Vice President Craig W. Hays.  
 
Absent with prior notice duly given and approved, Attorney Guy C. Hall. 
 
Staff present in-person: Andrea Wallace, Director of Finance, Andrew Weiss, Director of Planning, 
Chelsea Norton, Director of Marketing and Development, Dan Olson, Director of Operations, 
Heather Miller, Director of Human Resources, Jameel Jones, Director of Recreation, Jimmy 
Gleason, Director of Revenue Facilities, Steven Bentz, Director of the Virginia Theatre, Todd 
Blazaitis, Budget Manager, and Haley Gillespie, Dance Arts Supervisor. 
 
Staff present electronically: Bret Johnson, Assistant Director of Operations, Erin Dietmeier, 
Horticulture Supervisor, Justice Miller, Sports Manager, and Pete Frieden, Maintenance Specialist 
– Electrical.  
 
Greg Douglas and Mike Plecki from Martin Hood LLC and Mike Somers were in-person attendees 
at the meeting. 
 
Call to Order 
President Miller called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  
 
Presentation 
Greg Douglas, CPA, Audit Senior Manager and Mike Plecki, Supervisor in Audit with Martin Hood 
LLC, presented the audit report. They thanked Ms. Wallace and the finance team for help with 
preparing for the audit. They reviewed the audit process and highlighted areas of the Governance 
Letter, Financial Statements, and graphs. Mr. Douglas reported that the Park District received an 
unmodified (clean) opinion. They also noted delays in completing the audit, reviewed other areas 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89438812005?pwd=blVFTkVyKzVOcHk4bkhOS3hFK3N3dz09
mailto:sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org


 
Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 

Page 2 

of the financial statement, and preparations for the annual financial report filing as well as agreed 
upon procedures for outstanding grants. 
 
President Miller thanked the staff from Martin Hood for their presentation. 
 
Comments from the Public 
None.  
 
Communications 
Communications were distributed to the Board members.  
 
Treasurer’s Report 
Treasurer Timmons reported about the Park District’s revenue and expenses for the month of 
January 2023. She stated the Park District’s finances had been reviewed and were found to be in 
appropriate order.  
 
Discussion and clarifications ensued regarding interest rates, interest income, and proper 
management of interest income. Treasurer Timmons noted that the Park District has received 
slightly more than $520,000 in interest income as of January 1, 2023. Ms. Wallace responded that 
interest income is held with reserve funds until a supplementary budget is approved to account for 
those funds. 
 
Commissioner McMahon made a motion to accept the Treasurer’s Report for the month of January 
2023. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: 
Vice President Hays – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner 
McMahon – yes; and President Miller – yes. The motion passed 5-0. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
 
General Announcements 
Ms. Sandquist reported that thirteen (13) staff attended IPRA conference and appreciated the 
educational opportunities. Ms. Wallace and Mr. Blazaitis continue to refine the budget to present 
for approval in March. Ms. Sandquist reminded the Board that the IAPD legislative breakfast will be 
hosted by the Urbana Park District on February 27, 2023 and the IAPD Parks Day at the Capital 
and Legislative Conference will be held on May 2nd and 3rd in Springfield.  
 
Committee and Liaison Reports 
 
Champaign Parks Foundation 
Mr. Scheunemann presented the report. He stated the fundraising gala will be held on September 
14, 2023. He also highlighted recent donations to support the Park District’s dance arts program.  
 
Report of Officers 
 
Attorney’s Report 
None. 
 
President’s Report 
None. 
 
 
 



 
Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 

Page 3 

Consent Agenda  
President Miller stated that all items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and shall be 
acted upon by one motion and if discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and discussed 
separately. 

 
1. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting, January 11, 2023 
2. Approval of the Minutes of the Executive Session, January 11, 2023 
3. Approval of Purchase of Lawn Mower. 
4. Acceptance of the FY22 Audit Report as Presented. 

 
Vice President Hays temporarily departed the meeting at 7:27 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Solon requested more details about the replacement lawn mower. Mr. Olson 
responded that staff would compile the information to share. 

 
Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Solon. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows: President Miller – yes; 
Commissioner Kuhl – yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; and Commissioner Solon – yes. The 
motion passed 4-0. 

 
New Business 
 

1. Approval of Disbursements as of January 12, 2023 
Staff recommended approval of disbursements for the period beginning January 12, 2023, and 
ending February 8, 2023.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve the list of disbursements for the period beginning 
January 12, 2023 and ending February 8, 2023. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
McMahon. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows: Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner 
McMahon – yes; President Miller – yes; and Commissioner Kuhl – yes. The motion passed 4-0. 
 

2. Approval of a Resolution and Authorization to file the Abatement Certificate for Series 
2013A Bond 

Staff recommended that the Board approve a resolution and authorize staff to file the Abatement 
Certificate for Series 2013A Bond.  
 
Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to approve a resolution and to authorize staff to file the 
Abatement Certificate for Series 2013A Bond. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. 
Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows:  Commissioner Kuhl – yes; President Miller – yes; 
Commissioner McMahon – yes; and Commissioner Solon - yes. The motion passed 4-0.   
 

3. Approval Setting a Public Hearing on the Budget and Appropriations Ordinance for Fiscal 
Year Ended April 30, 2024  

Staff recommended the Board set a Public Hearing on the Amended Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance for Wednesday, March 8, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center to receive 
public comments.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to set a Public Hearing date for the Budget and 
Appropriations Ordinance for Wednesday, March 8, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting 
Center to receive public comments. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Kuhl. Upon roll 
call vote, the vote was as follows:  Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; 
President Miller – yes; and Commissioner Kuhl - yes. The motion passed 4-0.   



Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
Page 4 

Vice President Hays returned to the meeting at 8:38 p.m. 

4. Approval of Bids for Mowing Contracts
Staff recommended the Park Board approve authorizing several mowing agreements. 

Commissioner McMahon made a motion to approve authorizing the Executive Director to enter into 
the following agreements as well as proceeding to the next, lowest responsive bidder to enter a 
contractual arrangement for the remainder of the original contract, if the following contractors forfeit 
their contract prior to its completion: 

• A two-year + two optional years contract, beginning April 2023 through November 2024
with the low bidders (Dun Right Lawn Care in the amount of $3,945 per month for groups 1,
9 and 11, Bill’s Lawn Care in the amount of $900 per month for group 3, Scotty’s Lawn
Care in the amount of $950 per month for groups 2 and 5, and Miller Mowing Service in the
amount of $1,125 per month for group 7).

• A two-year + two optional years contract, beginning April 2023 through November 2024
with the second lowest bidders since the low bidder is not capable of meeting the
specifications required (Fresh Cut Lawn Care in the amount of $2,800 per month for groups
4, and 10, and Bill’s Lawn Care in the amount of $3,000 per month for groups 6 and 8,
since the low bidder is not capable of meeting the specifications required).

• A one-year + two optional years contract, beginning April 2023 through November 2023
with the low bidder (Bill’s Lawn Care in the amount of $1,300 for group 12).

• A one-year + two optional years contract, beginning April 2023 through November 2023
with the second lowest bidder since the low bidder is not capable of meeting the
specifications required. (Fresh Cut Lawn Care for $1,700 for group 13).

The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows:  
President Miller – yes; Vice President Hays – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; Commissioner Solon 
– yes; and Commissioner McMahon - yes. The motion passed 5-0.

5. Approval of Agreement with Developmental Services Center (DSC) for Park Walkers
Mr. Olson reported that the Park District enjoys a long-standing partnership with DSC to reduce 
litter in the parks and it is an effective partnership that staff would recommend continuing.  

Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve authorizing the Executive Director to enter an 
agreement with Developmental Services Center for an amount not to exceed $22,000 in 2023 and 
$23,500 in 2024. The motion was seconded by Commissioner McMahon. Upon roll call vote, the 
vote was as follows:  Commissioner Kuhl – yes; President Miller – yes; Commissioner McMahon – 
yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; and Vice President Hays - yes. The motion passed 5-0.   

6. Approval of Bid for Lindsay Garden Path Improvements
Mr. Olson presented the report. He reported that this project had been rebid because previous bids 
had exceeded budget. Four new bids were received after letting the bid for the second time. 

Discussion and clarifications ensued regarding the inception of this project, whether the pathway 
will be utilized, funding sources, donor family interest in the Lindsay Gardens, and how this project 
will impact the tennis courts and athletes. 

Commissioner Kuhl indicated she had visited the site of this proposed improvement and, while she 
supports improving the Lindsay Gardens, she is not in favor of adding a path in the back of the 
Gardens. 

Vice President Hays noted that he contracts with the low bidder for personal lawn care service and 
will recuse himself from voting on the matter. 



Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
Page 5 

Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve awarding of the contract to the lowest bidder that 
meets all required specifications, Merrill Landscape Services, Champaign, IL, at the bid amount of 
$31,545.84, and authorize the Executive Director to enter into a contract for the work. The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner McMahon. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows:  
Commissioner McMahon – yes; President Miller – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner 
Kuhl – no; and Vice President Hays - abstain. The motion passed 3-1.   

7. Approval of Updates to Full-Time Wages
Ms. Miller requested the Board consider competitively updating the Park District’s full-time staff 
wage program by a recommended five percent (5%) increase. 

Commissioner Kuhl asked whether staff were taking advantage of an internal program to train and 
educate current staff to fill open positions. Ms. Miller responded that a program is available to staff. 

Vice President Hays proposed an immediate two percent (2%) inflationary wage adjustment 
followed by a three and a half percent (3.5%) or four percent (4%) merit pool raise beginning in 
fiscal year 2024. This would develop a program that would possibly increase staff wages by 6.08% 
as of May 1, 2024. He also requested a programs and systems analysis report with 
recommendations to economize where prudent. 

Commissioner Kuhl requested more information regarding the impact of the recommended wage 
increase and full-time wage classification adjustments as well as a recommended allocation of the 
merit pool that matches previous wage increases. She requested this action item be tabled until 
the February 22, 2023 Special Board meeting. 

Discussion and clarifications ensued regarding the recommended inflationary adjustment. The 
Commissioners agreed the two percent (2%) inflationary adjustment would represent an immediate 
bonus rather than a wage increase should this recommended program proceed. 

The Commissioners requested wage comparatives with other local government entities and park 
districts.  

Commissioner Solon made a motion to table approval of updates to full-time wages. The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Kuhl. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as follows:  President Miller – 
yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and 
Vice President Hays - yes. The motion passed 5-0.   

8. Approval of Agreement with Visit Champaign County Foundation for Display of Sculpture
and Reimbursement

Staff recommended approval of the agreement with Visit Champaign County Foundation for 
display of sculpture and reimbursement for professional services for design work at Skelton Park 
for a total cost not to exceed $54,400 and authorize the Executive Director to enter into the 
agreement.  

Discussion and clarifications ensued regarding the management of the property and amenities. Ms. 
Sandquist responded that these details will be outlined in an intergovernmental agreement with the 
City. 

Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve an agreement with Visit Champaign County 
Foundation for display of sculpture and reimbursement for professional services for design work at 



Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
Page 6 

Skelton Park for a total cost not to exceed $54,400 and authorizes the Executive Director to enter 
into the agreement. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Kuhl. Upon roll call vote, the vote 
was as follows: Vice President Hays – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner McMahon – 
yes; President Miller – yes; and Commissioner Kuhl - yes. The motion passed 5-0.   

9. Approval of Health Insurance Rates for 2023-2024
Ms. Miller presented the report. She reported that health insurance will increase by the highest 
percentage in fourteen (14) years at sixteen percent (16%). Staff prepared several options for the 
Board to consider based on this increase and the City’s 1.7% administration fee for managing the 
program. Option one (1) requests the Board consider no change to HMO or three-tier POS health 
insurance premiums for individual employees with adjustments to all plan premiums that include 
spouses, children, and families. Total budget impact for option one (1) would be $101,228.52 per 
year. Option two (2) would obligate the individual employee to pay $114.92 for their HMO premium. 
If an employee choses the three-tier POS plan the Park District would cover 100% of the premium 
costs. The Park District would cover 40% of the premium expenses for all other HMO and three-tier 
POS plans as part of this option. Total budget impact for option two (2) would be $24,553.20 per 
year. Option three (3) would be the same as option two (2), but it also includes a one-time bonus 
of $500 for any employee that chooses to switch from the HMO plan to the three-tier POS plan 
during open enrollment to cover their $500 increase in deductible. 

Discussion and clarifications ensued regarding the differences between the two plans, budgetary 
impact, staff perceptions about option three (3) if approved, and whether employees will pay taxes 
on the bonus.  

Commissioner McMahon recommended approval of option three (3) for health insurance rates for 
2023/2024. The motion was seconded by Vice President Hays. Upon roll call vote, the vote was as 
follows:  President Miller – yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; 
Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and Vice President Hays - yes. The motion passed 5-0.   

Discussion Items 

1. FYE24 Annual Operating Budget
Ms. Sandquist highlighted the upcoming budget schedule. Department Heads will present a brief 
summary of their area’s budget at the February 22, 2023 Special Meeting. The public hearing for 
the budget and appropriation ordinance will be held during the March 8, 2023 Regular Meeting and 
staff will recommend the budget for approval at the March 22, 2023 Special Meeting. Ms. Wallace 
added that the current budget projects a surplus for FY24.  

Discussion and clarifications ensued about the process for submitting budgetary questions and 
comments and regarding the budget’s future presentation, including footnotes and summaries. 

2. Hedge Park Update
Ms. Sandquist presented the report. Commissioners and staff had previously met with the City’s 
planning team and Hitchcock Design to review the latest developments regarding the Garden Hills 
neighborhood water detention, safety, and neighborhood park project. Discussion ensued.  

The Commissioners requested earlier involvement in projects that involve partnering with the City. 

3. Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of Business of the Champaign Park
District

Mr. Scheunemann reported that updates had been made to Ordinance No. 624 pursuant to Board 
comment and staff review. He requested the Board review the updates and share any additional 
comments prior to the March 8, 2023 Regular Meeting. 



Minutes of the February 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
Page 7 

4. Employment Policies and Procedures Handbook
Ms. Miller shared the process and schedule for a comprehensive review of the Employment 
Policies and Procedures Handbook.   

Comments from Commissioners 
Commissioner Solon thanked staff for presenting the next fiscal year’s budget in a punctual 
manner. 

Executive Session  
Commissioner Kuhl moved pursuant to the basis set forth below to convene into Executive 
Session. The motion was seconded by Commissioner McMahon. Upon roll call, the vote was as 
follows: Commissioner Kuhl – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; Vice President Hays – yes; 
Commissioner McMahon – yes; and President Miller - yes. The motion passed 5-0. The Board 
convened into Executive Session under the Illinois Open Meetings Act, specifically 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(6) The setting of a price for sale of lease of property owned by the public body. 

Return to Regular Meeting  
Following the adjournment of the Executive Session, the Board reconvened in open meeting. 

Executive Session Action Item 

1. Approval of Resolution for the Sale of Bannon Park Property
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve a resolution authorizing the sale of less than three 
acres of land at Bannon Park, as it is no longer needed, necessary, or useful for the purposes of 
parks, and also recommend a petition be filed with the Circuit Court of Champaign County, Illinois 
seeking leave to sell and convey the lot on such terms and conditions as the Court may find proper 
for the benefit of the public interest served by the Park District. The motion was seconded by Vice 
President Hays. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner 
Kuhl – yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; President Miller – yes; and Vice President Hays – yes. 
The motion passed 5-0. 

Adjourn  
After the Executive Session, there being no further business to come before the Board, 
Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Vice 
President Hays. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Commissioner Solon – yes; Commissioner 
Kuhl – yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; President Miller – yes; and Vice President Hays - yes. 
The motion passed 5-0 and the meeting was adjourned at 8:58 p.m.  

Approved: 
_____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Kevin J. Miller, President Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING 
BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 

February 22, 2023 

The Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners held a Special Meeting on Wednesday, 
February 22, 2023 at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, 
Illinois, and online due to President Miller’s determination that an in-person meeting or a meeting 
conducted pursuant to the Open Meetings Act was not practical or prudent because of the COVID-
19 disaster. The Special Board Meeting occurred pursuant to published notice duly given. 
President Miller presided over the meeting. Citizens were given the opportunity to participate in the 
teleconference at the web address:  
 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85889942842?pwd=TWdrNXUxS3NpbURPdmgrd2xpMHBVUT09 or by 
calling 312-626-6799. Citizens were also offered the opportunity to submit comments or questions 
by email prior to the meeting. Those comments were to be announced by President Miller during 
the public comment portion of the meeting. Email submissions were solicited from the public 
through a notice of intent to speak or comment to be submitted by noon on Wednesday, February 
22, 2023 to the Executive Director of the Park District at: sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org. 
There were no email comments or questions submitted by citizens for consideration by the Board. 

Present in-person: President Kevin J. Miller, Commissioners Timothy P. McMahon and  
Jane L. Solon, Brenda Timmons, Treasurer, Attorney Guy C. Hall, Sarah Sandquist, Executive 
Director, and Jarrod Scheunemann, Director of Administrative Services / Secretary. 

Present electronically: Vice President Craig W. Hays and Commissioner Barbara J. Kuhl. 

Staff present in-person: Andrea Wallace, Director of Finance, Andrew Weiss, Director of Planning, 
Chelsea Norton, Director of Marketing and Development, Dan Olson, Director of Operations, 
Heather Miller, Director of Human Resources, Jimmy Gleason, Director of Revenue Facilities, 
Steven Bentz, Director of the Virginia Theatre, Todd Blazaitis, Budget Manager, Rachel Voss, 
Marketing Manager, Eddie Pfluger, Horticulture Worker I, and Ryan Musgrove, Grounds Worker. 

Other in-person attendees: Mike Somers. 

Staff present electronically: Bret Johnson, Assistant Director of Operations, Dylan Johnson, 
Grounds Specialist, Justice Miller, Sports Manager, Miguel Gaona, Grounds Arbor Specialist, Misty 
Stocking, Registration and Parks Reservations Manager, Pete Frieden, Maintenance Specialist – 
Electrical, Scott Pantier, Arborist II, Tommy Buhr, Grounds Supervisor, Will Schoell, Special Events 
Coordinator, and Zoe Southlynn-Savage, Special Events Manager. 

Call to Order 
President Miller called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

Comments from the Public 
None. 

New Business 

1. Appointment of Assistant Secretary
Commissioner McMahon made a motion that Sarah Sandquist be appointed as Assistant 
Secretary of the Champaign Park District. The motion was seconded by Vice President Hays. 
There were no other nominations. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Commissioner McMahon 

mailto:sarah.sandquist@champaignparks.org


Minutes of the February 22, 2023 Special Board Meeting | Page 2 

– yes; Vice President Hays – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and President Miller – yes. The
motion passed 4-0.

Attorney Hall then administered the Oath of Office to Assistant Secretary Sarah Sandquist. 

2. Approval of Bid for Parkland Way Improvements
Mr. Olson presented the report. He stated this project is an annual recurring capital improvement 
and was previously approved in the capital improvement plan.  

Commissioner McMahon asked whether the Park District had previously contracted with A&A 
Concrete. Mr. Olson responded that A&A Concrete had completed several projects for the Park 
District in the past. 

Commissioner McMahon made a motion to approve accepting the low, responsible base bid, 
rejecting the add alternate one (1) as well as authorize the Executive Director to enter into an 
agreement with A&A Concrete for a total of $64,928.14. The motion was seconded by Vice President 
Hays. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: President Miller – yes; Vice President Hays – yes; 
Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and Commissioner McMahon - yes. The motion passed 4-0. 

3. Approval of Bid for Douglass Park Basketball Court Improvements
Mr. Olson reported that the complete renovation of the basketball court will include ADA 
components. The standards, backboards, and goals were assessed and do not require 
replacement at this time.  

Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to accept the low, responsible base bid and authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into an agreement with A&A Concrete for a total of $128,410.00. The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner McMahon. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Vice 
President Hays – yes; President Miller – yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and Commissioner 
McMahon - yes. The motion passed 4-0.

4. Approval of Ameren Gas Utility Agreement at West Side Park
Mr. Weiss reported that Ameren requests an easement at West Side Park for a gas line upgrade 
for the downtown area including the Virginia Theatre. 

Vice President Hays made a motion to approve an easement with Ameren Gas Utility at West Side 
Park subject to Attorney review and approval. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
McMahon. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: President Miller – yes; Vice President Hays – 
yes; Commissioner Kuhl – yes; and Commissioner McMahon - yes. The motion passed 4-0.

5. Approval of Purchase of Sholem Aquatic Center Shades
Mr. Gleason presented a conceptual design for the installation of two new shade structures at 
Sholem Aquatic Center, which will utilize donations that were received in honor of the passing of 
Myron Sholem. 

Commissioner McMahon made a motion to approve awarding the contract to the lowest bidder that 
meets all required specifications, Mid Illinois Concrete and Excavation, Inc., at the total bid amount 
of $47,950, and authorize the Executive Director to enter into a contractual agreement for the work. 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Kuhl. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: 
Commissioner Kuhl– yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; Vice President Hays – yes; and 
President Miller - yes. The motion passed 4-0.

6. Approval of Updates to Full-Time Wages and Classifications
Ms. Miller presented the report, which included several full-time wage increase and classification 
adjustment options for the Board to consider. Discussion ensued. 



Minutes of the February 22, 2023 Special Board Meeting | Page 3 

Commissioner Kuhl indicated that in reviewing the proposed salaries as presented by staff, she 
noted that the full-time salaries from 2019 to the proposed salary for 2024 would indicate an 
increase in the vicinity of 23% which seemed high.  She requested clarification regarding the 
budgetary figures presented as well as in-depth impact on the budget prior to proceeding. 
Discussion ensued. 

President Miller shared his appreciation for the staff and his hope that the adjustments will continue 
to make the Park District an attractive place to work. 

Vice President Hays made a motion to approve a wage classification increase effective May 1, 
2023, which increases the midpoint of the classifications by 50 cents and establishes a $3 
separation between classifications including moving the following four positions to new 
classifications, Coordinator I to Coordinator II, Coordinator II to Coordinator III, Cultural Arts 
Coordinator to Classification III, and Sports Coordinator to Classification III, as well as approve a 
6% merit increase for full-time staff effective May 1, 2023. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner McMahon. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Vice President Hays – yes; 
Commissioner McMahon – yes; President Miller – yes; and Commissioner Kuhl – no. The motion 
passed 3-1. 

Commissioner Solon joined the meeting at 5:51 p.m. 

Discussion 

1. FY24 Annual Operating Budget
The highlights from the proposed budgets for Marketing, Administration, Human Resources, Risk, 
IT, Virginia Theatre, Operations, Planning, and Revenue Facilities were presented to the Board.  

Discussion and clarifications ensued about efforts to increase program and event participation and 
recreation center memberships, timely distribution of membership renewal materials, staff tracking 
return on investment for marketing efforts, restructuring of fund locations, appropriate subsidy 
levels for facilities, programs, and events, funding breakdown for large special events, evaluation 
of programs and events that are not recovering costs, seasonal staff recruitment, job fair success, 
and utilities expense increases. 

The Commissioners requested copies of the budget book to include a table of contents, executive 
summaries of each fund, and number of full-time staff for each fund. 

Comments from Commissioners 

Commissioners Solon and McMahon thanked staff for their efforts to produce a budget draft in a 
timely manner. 

Commissioner Solon commended staff for their landscaping work around the Bresnan Meeting 
Center and Operations buildings. 

Adjourn 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commissioner McMahon made a 
motion to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Vice President Hays. Upon roll call, 
the vote was as follows: Vice President Hays – yes; Commissioner McMahon – yes; President 
Miller – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes; and Commissioner Kuhl - yes. The motion passed 5-0 and 
the meeting was adjourned at 6:38 p.m.  



Minutes of the February 22, 2023 Special Board Meeting | Page 4 

Approved 

_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Kevin J. Miller, President Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 



����������	��
�����������	���������������������������������������� !"�#��$�� ��%�$�%�������&��������'���(�����	�����	�����)���������	)�	*��+,�+�,����-���

����./�0.���0��1.2�301.���4.056� 7���7	*8+���)�/(��+��'�������������1�/6� 5����9)�:;:9���7<3=/��6�.�8+��������+>������	����,�����	��������?,,�	����1������+	��,�@1�7����1��	�AB��CDEFGHIJKL�MNO�PQQRKIRS�THUS�VIJKERQ�WD�XUDUO�TGOKEYZ�[HI\RLOS�GHDKU�D[[QREDURIKS�]IH�̂JDQR]YRKG�IHGDKR_DURIKS�UI�D[[QY�]IH�D�\DHROUY�I]�GHDKU�I[URIKS�ODEN�YODH̀��MNO�VNDa[DRGK�bDHF�cRSUHREU�NDS�SJdaRUUOL�D�GHDKU�D[[QREDURIK�UI�UNO�PQQRKIRS�THUS�VIJKERQ�ODEN�YODH�UI�DSSRSU�RLOKUR]ROL�[HIGHDaS�RKEQJLRKG�dJU�KIU�QRaRUOL�UIe�fIJUN�MNODUHOg�cDKEO�THUS�bOH]IHaDKEOg�THU�hiNRdRURIK�XOHROSg�VNDa[DRGKjkHdDKD�cDYSg�lmnnop�qrs�tquvwx�yJKEN�VIKEOHU�XOHROS�DKL�zQDKKOQ�zOSÙ��PK�HOEOKU�YODHSg�UNO�VNDa[DRGK�bDHF�cRSUHREU�NDS�D[[QROL�DKL�dOOK�D{DHLOL�GHDKUS�RK�UNO�DaIJKUS�I]e�|}~g����]IH�zf}���|��g����RK�zf}���|}�g����RK�zf����|}�g����RK�zf�}��|}�g����RK�zf���DKL�|}�g����RK�zf��̀���HDKU�GJRLOQRKOS�]IH�UNO���X�W�OKOHDQ��[OHDURKG�XJ[[IHUZ�D[[QREDURIK�[HIEOSS�dOEDaO�D\DRQDdQO�IK�zOdHJDHY�}�g������DKL�NDS�D��DHEN�}�g������LODLQRKO�UI�D[[QỲ�T[[QREDURIKS�DHO�HO\RO{OL�dIUN�dY�PTV�SUD]]�DKL�GHDLOL�dY�DK�OiUOHKDQ�HO\RO{�[DKOQ�UI�LOUOHaRKO�UNO�DaIJKU�I]�UNO�D{DHL�]IH�ODEN�ĴDQR]YRKG�DGOKEY�UNDU�NDS�SJdaRUUOL�DK�D[[QREDURIK̀��CJLGOU�Pa[DEU�zJKLS�]HIa�UNO�D{DHLOL�GHDKU�[HI[ISDQ�{RQQ�DSSRSU�RK�EI\OHRKG�Oi[OKSOS�]IH�UNO�RLOKUR]ROL�[HIGHDaS�DKL�O\OKUS̀�����OEIaaOKLOL�TEURIK�XUD]]�HOEIaaOKLS�UNO�CIDHL�DJUNIHR_OS�UNO�hiOEJUR\O�cRHOEUIH�UI�SJdaRU�D���X�W�OKOHDQ��[OHDURKG�XJ[[IHUZ�GHDKU�D[[QREDURIK�UI�UNO�PQQRKIRS�THUS�VIJKERQ�UI�DSSRSU�{RUN�EJQUJHDQ�DHUS�[HIGHDaaRKG�DS�RLOKUR]ROL�RK�UNO�GHDKU�[HI[ISDQ̀����bHO[DHOL�dYe�� � � � � �O\RO{OL�dYe� � � �� ���DaOOQ��IKOSg�V�Xb� � � � XDHDN�XDKL̂JRSU�cRHOEUIH�I]��OEHODURIK� � � � hiOEJUR\O�cRHOEUIH�



����������	��
�����������	���������������������������������������� !"�#��$�� ��%�$�%�������&��������'���(�����	�����	�����)���������	)�	*��+,�+�,����-���

���./�0.���0��1.2�301.���4.056���������7���7	*8+���)�/(��+��'�������������1�/6� 5����9)�:;:9��7<3=/��6�����+	��>���,����	�5��?��������@ABCDEFGHI�JKL�MKANOAPDH�MFGHQR�MFNNGHPQR�MFASPQPFH�PT�ELUGLTQPHD�QKAQ�QKL�VAEC�WPTQEPBQ�ELHLX�YZ[\�NLN]LETKPO�XPQK�QKL�̂_LBGQP̀L�MFNNPQQLL�AQ�A�RLAESR�aLL�Fa�bcdeeef�VAEC�WPTQEPBQ�TQAaa�AEL�BGEELHQSR�TLÈPHD�AT�A�NLN]LE�Fa�QKL�̂_LBGQP̀L�MFNNPQQLLd�XKPBK�ELUGPELT�A�aLL�aEFN�OAEQPBPOAQPHD�ADLHBPLT�AHI�FEDAHPgAQPFHTf��JKL�ADLHBPLT�AHI�DEFGOT�BGEELHQSR�FH�QKL�̂_LBGQP̀L�MFNNPQQLL�AELd�]GQ�HFQ�SPNPQLI�QFd�QKL�hE]AHA�VAEC�WPTQEPBQd�MPQR�Fa�MKANOAPDHd�MPQR�Fa�hE]AHAd�MKANOAPDH�AHI�hE]AHA�iBKFFS�WPTQEPBQTd�Mh�VG]SPB�jLASQKd�kLDPFHAS�VSAHHPHD�MFNNPTTPFHd�jFGTPHD�lGQKFEPQR�Fa�MKANOAPDH�MFGHQRd�MKANOAPDH�MFGHQR�mLHQAS�jLASQKd�hHPQLI�nARd�VAECSAHI�MFSSLDLd�MPQR�Fa�kAHQFGSd�AHI�ASS�SFBAS�OFSPBL�ILOAEQNLHQTf��JEABR�VAETFHTd�KPELI�]R�QKL�MPQR�Fa�MKANOAPDHd�PT�QKL�BFNNGHPQR�ELSAQPFHT�NAHADLE�Fa�QKL�MKANOAPDH�MFNNGHPQR�MFASPQPFHf�mLN]LETKPO�aLLT�OAPI�]R�QKL�OAEQPBPOAQPHD�ADLHBPLT�AHI�FEDAHPgAQPFHT�AEL�GTLI�QF�BF̀LE�L_OLHTLT�ELSAQLI�QF�OEFDEAN�OEFNFQPFH�AHI�aABPSPQPAQPFHo�QF�ABBFNOSPTK�KLASQKd�XLSSHLTT�AHI�TAaLQR�PHPQPAQP̀LTo�AHI�PNOEF̀L�FGE�LH̀PEFHNLHQ�AHI�LBFHFNPB�BFHIPQPFHT�AT�A�BFNNGHPQRf������:;:9�7��������0?p����'���
�������������	�����+	��>���,����	��	�,+*�6��VFSPBL�q�MFNNGHPQR�kLSAQPFHT�r�VEFNFQL�AHI�BFFEIPHAQL�OFTPQP̀L�OFSPBLsBFNNGHPQR�LHDADLNLHQ�L̀LHQT�AHI�ABQP̀PQPLT�r� _̂OAHI�ELTFGEBLT�QF�TGOOFEQ�BFNNGHPQR�LHDADLNLHQ�ABQP̀PQPLT��MFNNGHPQR�̂HDADLNLHQ�r�tL̀LEADPHD�BFSSA]FEAQPFH�AHI�OAEQHLETKPO�QF�]GPSI�A�BFNOELKLHTP̀L�OG]SPB�KLASQK�AOOEFABK�QF�AIIELTT�BFNNGHPQR�HLLIT�r�uFBGT�FH�ASPDHPHDd�]SLHIPHDd�BFFEIPHAQPHD�AHI�SL̀LEADPHD�OG]SPB�ELTFGEBLT�QF�AIIELTT�IPTOEFOFEQPFHAQLSR�AaaLBQLI�OFOGSAQPFHT�AHI�HLPDK]FEKFFIT�r�vILHQPaR�AHI�BFFEIPHAQL�ABQP̀PQPLT�QKAQ�OEFNFQL�AHI�AIIELTT�BFNNGHPQR�PTTGLT�QF�PH̀LTQ�PH�KGNAH�BAOPQAS�AHI�HLLIT��wFGQK�WL̀LSFONLHQ�r�VEFNFQL�KLASQKR�RFGQK�AHI�aANPSR�PHPQAQP̀LT�QF�AIIELTT�OFTPQP̀L�FGQBFNLT�aFE�RFGQKdLIGBAQPFHd�ABKPL̀LNLHQd�TFBPAS�LNFQPFHAS�NLHQAS�KLASQK�AHI�ELTFGEBL�BFFEIPHAQPFH�r� ĤTGEL�RFGQK�AEL�BFHHLBQLI�QF�OFTPQP̀Ld�BAEPHD�AHI�ELSPA]SL�AIGSQT�r�vHBELATL�FOOFEQGHPQRd�L_OFTGELd�TGOOFEQd�ELTFGEBLT�AHI�BFFEIPHAQPFH�aFE�HFHsQEAIPQPFHAS�RFGQK�FE�QKFTL�RFGQK�KÀPHD�IPaaPBGSQPLT�AQ�KFNLd�PH�TBKFFS�AHI�PH�BFNNGHPQR��



����������	��
�����������	���������������������������������������� !"�#��$�� ��%�$�%�������&��������'���(�����	�����	�����)���������	)�	*��+,�+�,����-���

./0012345�63/78298�:�;</0/48�=3/78298�><8=8243/2�?@�?�A?5�/B�73B8�B/<�9/0012345�?2C�<8@3C824@�:�.//<C32?48�.D�E<8@F�G4?<4�H2343?43=8�:�D@8�C?4?�C<3=82�?>></?9F�4/�><3/<343I8�><8=8243/2�8BB/<4@�:�.//<C32?48�?2C�@1>>/<4�?943=3438@�4/�></0/48�>/@343=8�>/7398J9/0012345�<87?43/2@��K141?7�LC=/9?95�:�HC8243B5�4F/@8�?<8?@�4/�@1>>/<4�8M3@432N�></N<?0�@8<=398@�?2C�288C@�:�O87>�4/�P137C�9?>?9345�4/�78=8<?N8�@1>>/<4�?C�<8@/1<98@�B/<�9/0012345QP?@8C�/<N?23I?43/2@��R1CN84�H0>?94�SF8�?221?7�080P8<@F3>�3@�TUVWWWX�SF8@8�B12C@�A377�P8�32971C8C�32�4F8�EYZ[\�/>8<?432N�P1CN84X��]89/0082C8C�L943/2�G4?BB�<89/0082C@�̂__̀ab̂c�ad�̀efeghfi�jke�l̂ m̀�nhoj̀hpjqo�080P8<@F3>�A34F�4F8�ZM89143=8�./0034488�/B�4F8�.F?0>?3N2�./1245�./0012345�./?7343/2�?2C�>?532N�4F8�TUVWWW�080P8<@F3>�C18@�AF39F�A377�P8�C3<8948C�4/�@1>>/<4�></N<?0@�A34F32�4F8�.F?0>?3N2�9/0012345X�����;<8>?<8C�P5r� ]8=38A8C�P5r����s?0887�s/28@V�.;];� G?<?F�G?2Ct13@4V�.;]Z�u3<894/<�/B�]89<8?43/2����������������������������������������������������������������ZM89143=8�u3<894/<� �



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 

DATE: March 8, 2023 

SUBJECT: Technology Consultant Agreement Renewal 

Background 
The Champaign Park District held a month-to-month agreement with Micro Systems International, 
Inc. from July of 2012 until May of 2016.  The Board approved one-year agreements from 2016 until 
2020 when it approved a three-year agreement with its technology consultant. 

Previously, the Park District had a full time technology manager until 2014. After the technology 
manager accepted another position, the Park District eliminated the position and hired a part-time 
technology worker (evening and weekend work) and grew its relationship with Micro Systems staff.  

Micro Systems, led by Furat Ibrahim, has been instrumental in maintaining the Park District’s 
computers, servers, surveillance, cybersecurity, backup procedures, printers, and wireless network, 
both internal and guest. Its service includes around the clock and weekend assistance, which is 
essential to the Park District’s facilities and programs, which are open seven days per week at early 
morning and late-night hours. 

Upon advice from corporate counsel IT technology services are an exception to bidding 
requirements and may be awarded without bidding. Micro Systems and Mr. Ibrahim are familiar with 
the Park District network and have gained a high level of trust from staff. Additionally, Mr. Ibrahim 
has contracts with Mahomet Schools, Champaign County Forrest Preserve District and several 
attorney’s and accounting firms in the area.  

Consultant Year Monthly Total Annual Total Percentage 
Increase 

Micro Systems 2016 $2,500.00 $30,000.00 0% 
Micro Systems 2017 $2,500.00 $30,000.00 0% 
Micro Systems 2018 $2,500.00 $30,000.00 0% 
Micro Systems 2019 $2,500.00 $30,000.00 0% 
Micro Systems 2020 $2,562.50 $30,750.00 2.5% 
Micro Systems 2021 $2,562.50 $30,750.00 0% 
Micro Systems 2022 $2,613.75 $31,365.00 2% 
Micro Systems 2023 $3,200.00 $38,400.00 18.4% 
Micro Systems 2024 $3,200.00 $38,400.00 0% 

Prior Board Action 
April 8, 2020 Regular Board Meeting - the Board approved a three (3) year agreement for 
$2,562.50 per month, or a total of $30,750 for the first two (2) years. Year three (3) of the 
agreement increased to $2,613.75 per month for a total of $31,365 per year. 

Budget Impact 
Including the rate increase, the impact to the budget for FY24 will be $38,400.00. 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends approval of a two (2) year agreement between the Park District and Micro Systems 
International, Inc. at the rate of $3,200.00 per month beginning May 1, 2023 and ending April 30, 2025. 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
Jarrod Scheunemann Sarah Sandquist, CPRE 
Director of Administrative Services Executive Director    



AGREEMENT FOR 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR SERVICES 

This Agreement is made and entered into effective May 1, 2023 by and between 
the CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT, an Illinois municipal corporation, with the principal address of 
706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois 61821 (hereinafter referred to as "PARK DISTRICT") and 
MICRO SYSTEMS INTEGRATION, INC., doing business as, MICRO SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL, 
INC., a for profit corporation, whose principal address is 1201 S. Mattis Ave, Champaign, 
Illinois 61821 (hereinafter referred to as "MICRO SYSTEMS"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, PARK DISTRICT is a municipal corporation; 

WHEREAS, MICRO SYSTEMS is a company which the provides computer networking, data 
processing, software, service, repair, maintenance, technology consulting and other services and 
equipment related thereto; and 

WHEREAS, PARK DISTRICT and MICRO SYSTEMS desire to enter into an Agreement 
whereby MICRO SYSTEMS will provide services to PARK DISTRICT as an independent contractor for 
computer data processing, software, and network consulting and services at all Park District facilities 
and other venues as may from time to time be designated by PARK DISTRICT. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and 
agreements herein set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged, PARK DISTRICT and MICRO SYSTEMS agree as follows: 

1. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: MICRO SYSTEMS shall provide professional information
technology services and support including without limitation, consulting, data processing, software and 
hardware configuration and support for desktop and laptop computers, services, email, network 
appliances, internet connectivity, and other related services as may be directed from time to time by the 
Park District; provided that, with the exception of requiring services and purchase of equipment to be 
performed on or by certain dates and times, neither the PARK DISTRICT nor any of its employees shall 
have control over the manner or method by which MICRO SYSTEMS performs the services pursuant to 
this Agreement. The services to be provided by MICRO SYSTEMS shall include, without limitation, the 
following: 

a. Facilitating and coordinating the system network software and equipment throughout
the PARK DISTRICT;

b. Assisting the PARK DISTRICT with determining the cost of equipment and services
related to the technology utilized or considered for use by staff;

c. Delivering the services in a manner and method determined at the sole discretion of
MICRO SYSTEMS, whether via telephone, remotely by computer or by on site
attendance;

d. Consulting with the PARK DISTRICT about network planning, assessment, analysis,
forensics, troubleshooting, and optimization;

e. Performing network maintenance, monitoring, repair, and administration on all
servers and computers;

f .  Managing onsite and offsite computer and data backup procedures according to 
PARK DISTRICT policy; 

1 



g. Dealing at all times with clients, employees, volunteers, and patrons of the PARK
DISTRICT in a professional and courteous manner;

h. Being reasonably available to the PARK DISTRICT on twenty-four (24) hour or, in
the event of an emergency, earlier notice as needed, including after hours and
weekends;

i. Exercising appropriate good judgment in dealing with PARK DISTRICT safety
matters, including without limitation, the requirements referred to in Section 7; and

j. Advising and assisting the Park District's Director of Human Resources with procuring
price information and quotations for purchases acceptable to the PARK DISTRICT
for additional equipment it may need.

2. TIMING OF PERFORMANCE OF SERVICES. MICRO SYSTEMS shall perform the 
professional services identified herein upon request in  order to assure completion and operation of all 
events at the PARK DISTRICT in a professional manner. Such services may include working days and 
hours beyond a normal, recognized workweek. MICRO SYSTEMS shall be available to work according 
to the terms hereof on weekends, evenings, and holidays, as reasonably needed. 

3. CONTROL OF WORK. MICRO SYSTEMS shall at all times have sole control over the
manner, means, and methods of completing the work and services required and performed pursuant to 
this Agreement according to its independent judgment; provided that, the conduct of such work and 
services shall not be contrary to this Agreement, policies and procedures of PARK DISTRICT. 
Furthermore, MICRO SYSTEMS shall be solely responsible for the direction of its employees or agents. 
MICRO SYSTEMS acknowledges that it will devote sufficient time and effort as is necessary to perform 
the terms of this Agreement in a good, workmanlike, and professional manner in order to complete the 
tasks assigned in a timely manner. 

4. COMPENSATION. As consideration for the services rendered by MICRO SYSTEMS pursuant
to this Agreement, PARK DISTRICT shall pay MICRO SYSTEMS the sum of Three Thousand 
Two Hundred Dollars. ($3,200) per month commencing May 1, 2023 untiI April 30,2025.  The 
PARK DISTRICT shall not undertake any withholdings for taxes, social security benefits or any other 
obligations of any kind or character whatsoever, as the relationship between the Parties is one 
of independent contractors. MICRO SYSTEMS shall be responsible for all withholdings and reporting 
of wages and income to the federal and state authorities. MICRO SYSTEMS acknowledges and 
understands that neither it, nor any of its employees, is entitled to any compensation, benefits, or 
protections afforded to employees of PARK DISTRICT. MICRO SYSTEMS acknowledges that it will 
be responsible for paying any unemployment insurance and workers compensation insurance on 
behalf of any of its employees. MICRO SYSTEMS shall be solely responsible for any employees' or 
agents' actions in performing the work or services to be provided pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. MICRO SYSTEMS will provide PARK DISTRICT with Social Security Numbers, 
Federal Employer Identification Numbers, and other identifying information as needed to comply 
with law. PARK DISTRICT shall issue a form 1099 or other applicable documentation to MICRO 
SYSTEMS reflecting compensation paid pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

5. TERM AND TERMINATION. The term of this Agreement shall be from May 11 2023 to April
30, 2025, subject to the following termination provision. The PARK DISTRICT or MICROSYSTEMS 
may terminate this Agreement at any time upon thirty (30) days written notice without cause. If this 
Agreement is terminated by either party, MICRO SYSTEMS'S compensation will end and be prorated 
as of the termination date. 

2 



6. DEFAULT. In the event that either Party fails to comply with the terms of this Agreement,
and cure such default within seven (7) days after written notice from the other Party, then the non-
defaulting Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by further written notice. Any such
termination shall not terminate or affect the obligations or rights to enforce the same as they may have
accrued prior to such termination. The non-defaulting Party shall have the right to obtain all available
remedies occurring as a result of such default, whether in law, equity or both and shall be entitled to
reimbursement for its reasonable attorneys' fees and other costs incurred as a result of the default.

7. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS. RULES AND REGULATIONS. PARK
DISTRICT and MICRO SYSTEMS shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local and Park
District statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, licenses and policies regarding the performance and

carrying out the terms of this Agreement.

8. INSURANCE. MICRO SYSTEMS shall keep in full force and effect at all times during the
term of this Agreement the following insurance coverages: comprehensive general liability insurance,

including contractual liability coverage, with minimum limits of not less than Five Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($500,000.00) per occurrence, and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) annual aggregate;
property damage insurance; full worker's compensation insurance equal to' the statutory amount

required; and employers' liability insurance with limits of not less than Five Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($500,000.00). All insurance carriers providing the coverage set forth herein shall have a
rating of A as assigned byA.M. Best & Co. and satisfactory to PARK DISTRICT in its sole discretion.
All certificates of insurance in connection herewith shall be furnished to the PARK DISTRICT no
later than seven (7) days prior to the commencement date of this Agreement. All insurance
coverage provided by MICRO SYSTEMS shall be primary coverage as to PARK DISTRICT. Any
insurance or self-insurance maintained by PARK DISTRICT shall be in excess of MICRO
SYSTEMS'S insurance and shall not contribute with it. The PARK DISTRICT, its commissioners,
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers are to be covered and named as additional insured's

under the general liability coverage, which shall contain no special limitation on the scope of
protection afforded to' the additional insured's, and which shall contain express extensions or riders

confirming such coverage. The policy and/or coverage shall also contain a contractual liability

clause. Such insurance policies shall not be canceled or amended without thirty (30) days prior
written notice having been given to the PARK DISTRICT. Such cancellation shall be grounds for
the PARK DISTRICT to immediately cancel this Agreement.

9. INDEMNIFICATION. MICRO SYSTEMS shall indemnify, save, defend, and hold harmless
PARK DISTRICT, including its commissioners, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers
(hereinafter collectively referred to as "PARK DISTRICT") from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses (including reasonable
attorney and paralegal fees) for which PARK DISTRICT may become obligated by reason of any
accident, bodily injury or death of persons, civil or constitutional rights violation, or loss or damage
to tangible property, arising (1) as a result of MICRO SYSTEMS' failure to adhere to the terms,
conditions, and representations set forth in this Agreement, or (2) MICRO SYSTEMS negligence
in performing the services described in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, MICRO
SYSTEMS shall not be responsible for any liability or alleged liability that is the result of any
conduct of PARK DISTRICT employees that may perform the same or similar services for the PARK
DISTRICT.

10. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. MICRO SYSTEMS represents and warrants
that it has the skills and knowledge necessary to perform the terms of this Agreement in a safe, proper,
efficient, thorough, and satisfactory manner and understands that PARK DISTRICT is relying on such
representation in contracting with it.

11. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall not be assigned or delegated by either Party to any
subsidiary, successor, partner, employee, agent or affiliate without the prior written consent of the
other Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. If PARK DISTRICT permits the assignment of



the services provided for hereunder at any one or more times, such assignment shall not be deemed 
permission to assign the performance of this Agreement at any other time or times. 

12. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE. The Parties agree that the laws of the State of Illinois
shall govern the terms of this Agreement. In the event of any claim or lawsuit regarding this Agreement, 
Champaign County, Illinois, shall be the appropriate venue for such claim or suit. 

13. SEVERABILITY. In the event one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement
shall be determined by the Court of law having appropriate competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, 
or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be deemed severed from this Agreement and the 
validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement or any other application 
thereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby, and shall remain in effect. 

14. WAIVER. Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants, or
conditions of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that term, covenant, or condition, nor shall 
a failure to insist upon strict compliance with any right or power at any time or times be deemed a 
waiver or relinquishment of any such term, covenant, condition, right or power at any other time or 
times. 

15. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed to be an original. 

16. NOTICE. All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be
deemed to have been given on the date and at the time they are sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, to the respective Party at the addresses set forth below, or at such other place address as 
the parties shall provide to each other in writing. In addition, any such notice shall be sent by the first 
class regular U.S. Mail to: 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
Attention: Sarah Sandquist, Executive 
Director 706 Kenwood Road 
Champaign, IL61821 

MICRO SYSTEMS INTEGRATION, INC. 
d/b/a MICRO SYSTEMS NTERNATIONAL, INC, 
Attention: Furat Ibrahim, President 
1201 S. Mattis Avenue
Champaign, IL61821 

17. TIME OF THE ESSENCE. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. It shall be binding
upon the personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of the Parties hereto. 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Agreement and any terms or
specifications attached hereto or otherwise referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between 
the Parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersede(s) all prior or contemporaneous 
agreements and understandings either oral or written of the Parties in connection herewith. No 
modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing, signed by both Parties and 
dated after the date hereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the 
day and year first above written. 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 

4 

MICRO SYSTEMS INTEGRATION, INC. 
doing business as MICRO SYSTEMS 
INTERNATIONA�, INC. 

By: _____________________________
 Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director

By: _____________________________
Furat Ibrahim, President



Attest: Attest: 

5 

By: ______________________________
        Jarrod Scheunemann 
         Director of Administrative Services

By: _________________________



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 1  

 
ORDINANCE NO. 624 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE PRESCRIBING RULES FOR 
THE CONDUCT OF THE BUSINESS OF THE 
CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS OF THE CHAMPAIGN 

PARK DISTRICT THAT: 
 
Section 1.  Ordinance Number 316 entitled “An Ordinance Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of 
the Business of the Champaign Park District, adopted October 12, 1983, amended August 12, 
1998 by Ordinance No. 407, amended March 10, 2004 by Ordinance No. 473, amended June 10, 
2015 by Ordinance No. 597, amended August 24, 2017 by Ordinance No. 624, and all ordinances 
amendatory thereto, are hereby repealed effective as of the date of the adoption of this ordinance. 
 
Section 2.  In lieu of the rules and provisions provided in said repealed ordinance and 
amendments thereto, the following rules for the conduct of the business of the Champaign Park 
District are hereby established: 
 

ARTICLE 1 
ORGANIZATION 

 
Section 1.  Government: The government of the Champaign Park District (Park District) shall be 
vested in the duly elected Board of Commissioners (Board) as provided by law. 
 
Section 2. Board of Commissioners: Elected Commissioners serve as members of- the Board. 
Individual Commissioners do not have authority to act for the Board unless duly authorized to do 
so by the Board. Authority as a Commissioner is limited to participation in official meetings of the 
Board or official committees thereof and other actions which have been duly authorized by the 
Board, except for officers of the Board acting within the scope of their authority as such officers. 
 
Section 3.  Election of Officers: The President and Vice President of the Board of Commissioners- 
shall be elected by said Board at the annual meeting and the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and 
Treasurer thereof, shall be appointed by said Board at said annual meeting. Such officers shall 
hold office until the next annual meeting or until their successors shall have been elected or 
appointed and qualified. In case of the absence or inability to act of any officer, except the 
President, the Board may appoint a successor to act in his/hertheir stead during such absence or 
disability. 
 
Section 4.  President: The President is the chief legislative officer of the Park District. The 
president shall preside at all meetings; sign all contracts and other papers authorized by the 
Board; see that all ordinances of the Board are enforced, that all orders of the Board are faithfully 
executed, and oversee the execution of Board policies and the programs, business operations 
and property of the Park District, all subject to the direction, ratification and approval of the Board. 
 
Section 5:  Vice President: The Vice President, in the absence of the President or in the event of 
his/hertheir refusal or inability to act, shall be vested with the powers and perform the duties of 
the President. 
 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 2  

Section 6:  Secretary: The Secretary shall have the custody of the corporate seal and all books, 
records, minutes and papers pertaining to this office; shall attest and affix the corporate seal to 
all instruments requiring such action when authorized by ordinance or action of the Board; shall 
cause all ordinances, resolutions, reports and other actions of the Board requiring publication, to 
be duly published; and shall serve as the “local election official,.” and Freedom of Information Act 
Officer. (S)heThey shall attend all meetings of the Board and keep a full and true record of its 
proceedings. 
 
Section 7:  Assistant Secretary: The Assistant Secretary, in the absence of the Secretary or in the 
event of his/hertheir refusal or inability to act, shall be vested with the powers and perform the 
duties of the Secretary. 
 
Section 8:  Treasurer: The Treasurer shall act as overseer of the Director of Finance and 
Executive Director (Director) with respect to all monies belonging to the Park District and assure 
that all such monies are kept in a bank or banks authorized by statute and approved and 
designated by the Board, in the name of the Park District and disbursed only upon the authority 
of the Board; that Park District funds, subject to Board approval, are kept prudently invested 
according to the Park District’s Investment Policy and as authorized by law; that monthly reports 
to the Board of all receipts and disbursements are made; that financial reports, statements, and 
information are submitted to the Board from time to time on at least a quarterly basis as shall be 
required by the Board; and that all laws and statutes are complied with governing the duties and 
obligations as such Treasurer.  
 
Section 9.  Additional Duties of Officers: In addition to the duties hereinbefore specified, each 
officer shall perform such other duties as may be required of him/herthem by law or by the 
ordinances, resolutions or other actions of the Board. 
 
Section 10.  Consultants: The Board may appoint such additional attorneys, consultants, 
engineers, architects, accountants and other advisory personnel as it may determine. Such 
consultants shall have such powers and duties as may be vested in them by the Board. 
 
Section 11. Committees: The President shall appoint such committees and subcommittees of the 
Board as may be required, subject to the approval of the Board. Unless authorized by the Board 
to do so, committees may not act independently of the Board or bind the Park District, but shall 
report and make recommendations to the Board. 
 
Section 12.  Executive - Director: The Executive Director is the chief administrative -executive 
officer of the Park District and will execute policies, regulations and ordinances of the Park District 
as determined by the Board. The Board shall employ the Executive Director for the Park District. 
Subject to the control and direction of the Board, the Executive Director shall have the authority 
and responsibility for the administration and operation of the Park District, including control, 
supervision, termination, and authority over all employees. 
 

ARTICLE II 
MEETINGS 

 
Section 1.  Annual Meeting: The annual meeting of the Board of Commissioners shall be held in 
May immediately before and at the same place as the regular monthly meeting of the Board for 
the month of May in each year. 
 
Section 2.  Regular Meetings: Public notice shall be given to any news medium or interested party 
of the schedule of regular meetings at the beginning of the calendar or fiscal year and shall state 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 3  

the regular dates, times, and places of such meetings. An agenda listing all matters that will be 
acted upon for each regular meeting shall be posted at the location of the meeting, on the Park 
District website, and electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party at least 48 
hours in advance of the holding of the meeting and shall be mailed or personally delivered to each 
Commissioner. The Executive Director, in consultation with the President, shall be responsible 
for preparing the agenda. New matters, not on the agenda, may be considered; provided that they 
cannot be acted upon, in accordance with law.  
 
Section 3.  Special Meetings: Special mMeetings of said Board may be held at any time upon the 
call of the President or any two (2) Commissioners, upon giving not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours written notice of the time and place thereof, by mailing or personally delivering such notice 
to each Commissioner. If such notice of any meeting is waived by written waiver of notice, signed 
by all of the Commissioners prior to such meeting, such notice shall not be necessary. Attendance 
of a Commissioner at a special meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, unless 
the Commissioner attends for the express purpose of objecting to such meeting. An agenda listing 
all matters that will- shall (?) be address at each s-Special m-Meeting shall be posted at the 
location of the meeting, on the Park District website, and electronically delivered to any news 
medium or interested party at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of the meeting. The 
purpose of, or the business to be transacted at, a special -Special meeting -Meeting shall be 
specified in the notice of such meeting. 
 
Section 4. Study Sessions and Workshops: Study sessions and/or workshops of the Board may 
be held at any time upon the call of the President or of any two (2) Commissioners, upon giving 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours written notice of the time and place thereof, by mailing or 
personally delivering such notice to each Commissioner. An agenda, under the direction of the 
Executive - Director and with the advice of the President or in his/hertheir absence the Vice 
President and Board members, shall be prepared for the study session or workshop. An agenda 
listing all matters for each study session shall be posted at the location of the meeting, on the 
Park District website, and electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party at least 
48 hours in advance of the holding of the meeting. Board members-Commissioners may only  
make consensus determinations or provide direction of the Board at study sessions and/or 
workshops.  
 
Section 5. Executive Session Meetings: Executive sessions may be held during Regular, or 
Special Board – meetings-Meetings, or Study Sessions, or Emergency Meetings. The purpose 
for the session shall be identified in accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act. Final action 
shall not be taken by the Board on any matter discussed in an executive session until the matter 
is placed on the agenda of a public meeting.  
 
Section 6. Emergency Meetings: Emergency meetings -Meetings may be called without the 48-
hour notice. Notice of emergency meetings shall be given as soon as practicable, but in any event 
prior to the holding of such meeting. Emergency meetings -Meetings shall address emergencies 
involving injury or damage to person or property or the likelihood of such injury or damage, or 
when the Governor or the Illinois Public Health Department has issued a disaster declaration 
related to public health concerns as defined in Section 4 of the Illinois Emergency Management 
Agency Act, and all or part of the jurisdiction of the public body-Park District is covered by-included 
in the disaster area, when time requirements of a 48-hour notice would make notice impractical 
and increase the likelihood of such injury or damage. Emergency meetings -Meetings may be 
called by the Executive Director or the President with the consent of a majority of the Board -
members-Commissioners. An agenda listing all matters that will be acted upon for each e-
Emergency m-Meeting shall be posted at the location, on the Park District website and 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 4  

electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party as soon as practicable. The 
minutes of such meeting shall indicate the reason for the emergency. 
 
Section 7.  Place of Meeting: All regular - meetings of the Board shall be held at the Bresnan 
Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois; provided the Board may, from time to 
time, by giving at least 10 days’ notice of such change by publication in a newspaper of general 
circulation in Champaign, fix another place for a meeting to be held if, in its judgementjudgment, 
the interests of the Park District will be best served by doing so. 
 
Section 8.  Quorum: A majority, three (3) members-Commissioners, of the duly elected, qualified 
and acting Commissioners -Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; 
provided that, less than a quorum may meet and adjourn to a day certain, entered on the records 
of the Park District. 
 
Section 9.  Conduct of Meetings: The President shall preside at and preserve proper order in all 
meetings. In his/hertheir absence, the Vice President shall preside. In case of the absence of both 
the President and Vice President both-, the Commissioners present shall elect one of their 
members as Chairperson, who shall act as President Pro Tem and perform all of the duties of the 
President and Vice President. In the absence of the Secretary and Assistant Secretary, the 
Commissioners present may designate some other person to act as Secretary Pro Tem, and the 
Secretary Pro Tem shall have the same powers and duties at such meeting which the Secretary 
would have if present. 
 
Section 10.  Order of Business: The order of business at all regular meetings of the Board of 
Commissioners shall be as follows: 
 

A. Open MeetingCall to Order 
B. Champaign Park District (CPD) HighlightsPresentations (if needed) 
C. Comments from the Public 
D. Communications 
E. Treasurer’s Report  
F. Executive Director’s Report 
F.G. Committee Reports 
G.H. Reports of Officers 
H.I. Consent Agenda 
I. Committee Reports 
J. Old Business 
K. New Business 
K.L. Discussion Items 
L.M. Comments from Commissioners 
M.N. Executive Session (if needed) 
N.O. Adjournment 

 
Consent Agenda items shall have been fully considered by the Board or are considered to be 
routine and non-controversial and may be approved by one motion. Items on the Consent 
Agenda include, but are not limited to, minutes, resolutions and, ordinances, and policies 
discussed -addressed at a previous Board meeting or committee meetings, bid awards and 
previously authorized agreements. Any Board -Commissioner member - may remove any item 
from the Consent Agenda for separate consideration and action by request to the President 
during the meeting. 
 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 5  

Section 11.  Closed Session Minutes: The Board shall review-examine its closed or executive 
session minutes every six (6) months, or as soon thereafter as is practicable, taking into account 
the meeting schedule of the public body-twice annually review minutes of closed meetings or 
executive sessions and declare those which can be released for public inspection.  
 
Section 12. Rules of Order: For all points of order and parliamentary procedure not herein 
provided for, the then current Roberts Rules of Order are hereby adopted. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
FISCAL AFFAIRS 

 
Section 1.  Fiscal Year: The fiscal year of the Champaign Park District shall begin on the first day 
of May of each year and shall end on the thirtieth day of April in the succeeding year. 
 
Section 2.  Budget Preparation: Prior to June 30, each year the Executive Director shall prepare 
a budget for the new fiscal year setting forth estimated receipts and expenditures for such fiscal 
year and shall submit such budget to the Board of Commissioners for its consideration. Such 
budget shall be prepared and submitted as a part of the Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance pursuant to Article 4, Section 4-4 of the Park District Code and notice thereof shall be 
given and a public hearing thereon shall be held in the time and manner required by said Code. 
A certified copy of the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance shall be filed with the County Clerk 
within thirty (30) days of adoption. The final budget shall be adopted and filed no later than July 
31 of each year. 
 
An estimate, certified by the District’s chief fiscal officer of revenuesDirector of Finance, by 
source anticipated to be received for the next year is required to be filed with the County Clerk 
at the same time the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance is filed in accordance with law. 
 
Section 3.   Levy Ordinance:  At a regular meeting of the Board, a resolution estimating the 
amount of the tax for the ensuing year shall be adopted. If necessary, the Board shall provide 
for publication of Truth in the Taxation Notice. A certificate indicating compliance with or a 
certificate indicating the inapplicability of the Truth in Taxation Act shall be filed with the County 
Clerk. A certified copy of the Tax Levy Ordinance shall be adopted and filed, following the Truth 
in Taxation hearing (if necessary) with the County Clerk before the last Tuesday in December.  
 
Section 4.   Statement of Receipts and Disbursements:  The Treasurer in conjunction with the 
Director of Finance shall prepare an annual statement of receipts and disbursements, at the end 
of the fiscal year, file the statement with the County Clerk within six (6) months after the 
expiration of the fiscal year, and publish a notice of availability of its audit report and have the 
statement published in the local newspaper. 
 
Section 5.  Audit:  An independent audit shall be completed and the audit report and the State of 
Illinois Annual Report shall be filed with the County Clerk and the Illinois Comptroller within six 
(6) months after the close of the fiscal year. 
 
Section 6. Facility Fee Schedule and Comprehensive Revenue Policy: The Board shall maintain 
and annually approval a Facility Fee Schedule that recognizes the various costs related to the 
District’s facilities and programs, including without limitation facilities operational costs, facilities 
maintenance costs, and administrative costs. The Board shall also maintain a comprehensive 
revenue policy to recognize the various types of programs provided by the Park District and the 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 6  

scope of those programs. Program fees should-may be established and adjusted based both on 
costs and expenses and program type. 

ARTICLE IV 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 
Section 1.  Form of Seal: The corporate seal of the Park District shall be circular in form with the 
words “Champaign Park District, Champaign, Ill.” in the outer circle and in the interior of the center 
of the circle, in the words, “Official Seal” shall be engraved. 
 
Section 2. Use of Seal: The form of the seal described in the preceding section is hereby adopted 
as the corporate seal of the Park District and shall be used whenever any certificate, deed, bond 
or other instrument is required by law or general usage, to be executed under the corporate seal 
of the Park District. 
 
Section 3.  Custodian of Seal: The Secretary is hereby designated as custodian of the corporate 
seal and is charged with its proper use and safekeeping. Subject to the Secretary’s control, a 
duplicate seal may be kept and used by the Executive Director. 
 

ARTICLE V 
CONTRACTS AND AUTHORITY TO INCUR FINANCIAL LIABILITY 

 
Section 1. Contracts: No contract exceeding the sum of $20,000.00$25,000.00 for work, 
materials, supplies, services or improvements of any kind shall be awarded, except by the Board. 
The Board may, without bidding, enter into contracts exceeding one year, but not more than three 
years, for employment contracts such as a park director-Director, superintendentdepartment 
head, administrator, engineer, land planner, finance director, attorney or other officer who requires 
technical training or knowledge and outside professional consultants such as engineers, land 
planners, auditors, attorneys, or other professional consultants who require technical training or 
knowledge. All such contracts shall be in writing, shall be in the name of the Park District, and 
shall be signed by the President, Vice President, or Executive Director upon approval by the 
Board, attested by the Secretary or designee and the corporate seal affixed thereto. 
 
Section 2.  Incurring Financial Liability: No Commissioner, committee, officer or employee shall 
create any financial liability on behalf of the Park District unless it first shall be approved by the 
Board; provided that the Executive Director or his/hertheir designee (except as the Board may 
otherwise limit) may incur financial liability or indebtedness not to exceed $20,000.00$25,000.00 
in any one obligation without such Board approval.  
 

In addition, with Board approval, the Executive Director or his/hertheir designee may 
execute contracts, grant applications and other pertinent and related documents which have been 
approved or ratified by the Board of Commissioners- as may be necessary from time to time in 
order to carry out and effectuate the actions and decisions of the Board and the terms of those 
agreements and grant applications approved and/or ratified by the Board, as approved by a 
Resolution dated September 12, 2012. 
 
Section 3.  Payment of Claims: Except as hereinafter provided, no claim against the Park District 
shall be paid until the same has been approved by the Board; provided that claims for salaries 
and wages of Park District employees whose employment has been approved by the Board, rent, 
public utilities, freight, postage, payment of bands and performing artists on day of performance, 
payment for previously approved contractual services, conference registration fees for 
Commissioners and staff, reimbursements to Commissioners and staff, refunds due program 
participants, and payments to specific vendors, previously approved by the Board, which only- 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 7  

accept cash-, may be paid upon the authority granted to the Executive Director, if reported at the 
next regular meeting of the Board.  
 
Section 4. Execution of Checks: All checks for the payment of funds of the Park District shall be 
signed by the Treasurer, or if the Treasurer is unavailable, by a Commissioner or another officer 
of the Park District and countersigned by the Executive Director or other duly authorized officer 
or the Director of Finance. All checks, including payroll taxes and withholdings, and investment 
checks shall be signed by two of the following: Director of Finance, Executive Director, or 
Treasurer, or Secretary.  

 
 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
ORDINANCES 

 
[RESERVED] 

 
Section 1.  Prevailing Rate of Wages:  The Board shall determine the prevailing rate of wages 
for Champaign County and adopt an ordinance to that effect. Certified copies of that ordinance 
shall be filed with the Department of Labor of the State of Illinois by June 30 of each year. A 
copy of that ordinance or notice of its enactment shall also be published in a local newspaper, 
and the District shall publicly post or keep available for inspection said prevailing rates of wages 
as thus determined. 
.  
Section 12.  Annexations:  All territories being annexed to the Champaign Park District shall be 
annexed by ordinance adopted by the Board of Commissioners. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PARK NAMES 

 
Section 1.  Park Name:  The Board shall approve park names for all parks added towithin the 
Champaign - Park District pursuant to its Naming of Parks and Facilities Policy. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
WHEN ORDINANCE TAKES EFFECT – REPEAL OF PRIOR ORDINANCES 

 
Section 1. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict or inconsistent with any of the 
provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed and this ordinance shall be in force from and 
after its passage and approval. 
 
Passed and Adopted: _____ day of ________    _________. 
 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Kevin J. Miller, President 
 
 
      ATTEST: 
 
 



Ordinance No. 624: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 8  

      ________________________________ 
      Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 
 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 1  

 
ORDINANCE NO. 668 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE PRESCRIBING RULES FOR 
THE CONDUCT OF THE BUSINESS OF THE 
CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS OF THE CHAMPAIGN 

PARK DISTRICT THAT: 
 
Section 1.  Ordinance Number 316 entitled “An Ordinance Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of 
the Business of the Champaign Park District, adopted October 12, 1983, amended August 12, 
1998 by Ordinance No. 407, amended March 10, 2004 by Ordinance No. 473, amended June 10, 
2015 by Ordinance No. 597, amended August 24, 2017 by Ordinance No. 624, and all ordinances 
amendatory thereto, are hereby repealed effective as of the date of the adoption of this ordinance. 
 
Section 2.  In lieu of the rules and provisions provided in said repealed ordinance and 
amendments thereto, the following rules for the conduct of the business of the Champaign Park 
District are hereby established: 
 

ARTICLE 1 
ORGANIZATION 

 
Section 1.  Government: The government of the Champaign Park District (Park District) shall be 
vested in the duly elected Board of Commissioners (Board) as provided by law. 
 
Section 2. Board of Commissioners: Elected Commissioners serve as - the Board. Individual 
Commissioners do not have authority to act for the Board unless duly authorized to do so by the 
Board. Authority as a Commissioner is limited to participation in official meetings of the Board or 
official committees thereof and other actions which have been duly authorized by the Board, 
except for officers of the Board acting within the scope of their authority as such officers. 
 
Section 3.  Election of Officers: The President and Vice President of the Board - shall be elected 
by said Board at the annual meeting and the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer 
thereof, shall be appointed by said Board at said annual meeting. Such officers shall hold office 
until the next annual meeting or until their successors shall have been elected or appointed and 
qualified. In case of the absence or inability to act of any officer, except the President, the Board 
may appoint a successor to act in their stead during such absence or disability. 
 
Section 4.  President: The President is the chief legislative officer of the Park District. The 
president shall preside at all meetings; sign all contracts and other papers authorized by the 
Board; see that all ordinances of the Board are enforced, that all orders of the Board are faithfully 
executed, and oversee the execution of Board policies and the programs, business operations 
and property of the Park District, all subject to the direction, ratification and approval of the Board. 
 
Section 5:  Vice President: The Vice President, in the absence of the President or in the event of 
their refusal or inability to act, shall be vested with the powers and perform the duties of the 
President. 
 
Section 6:  Secretary: The Secretary shall have the custody of the corporate seal and all books, 
records, minutes and papers pertaining to this office; shall attest and affix the corporate seal to 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 2  

all instruments requiring such action when authorized by ordinance or action of the Board; shall 
cause all ordinances, resolutions, reports and other actions of the Board requiring publication, to 
be duly published; and shall serve as the “local election official,” and Freedom of Information Act 
Officer. They shall attend all meetings of the Board and keep a full and true record of its 
proceedings. 
 
Section 7:  Assistant Secretary: The Assistant Secretary, in the absence of the Secretary or in the 
event of their refusal or inability to act, shall be vested with the powers and perform the duties of 
the Secretary. 
 
Section 8:  Treasurer: The Treasurer shall act as overseer of the Director of Finance and 
Executive Director (Director) with respect to all monies belonging to the Park District and assure 
that all such monies are kept in a bank or banks authorized by statute and approved and 
designated by the Board, in the name of the Park District and disbursed only upon the authority 
of the Board; that Park District funds, subject to Board approval, are kept prudently invested 
according to the Park District’s Investment Policy and as authorized by law; that monthly reports 
to the Board of all receipts and disbursements are made; that financial reports, statements, and 
information are submitted to the Board from time to time on at least a quarterly basis as shall be 
required by the Board; and that all laws and statutes are complied with governing the duties and 
obligations as such Treasurer.  
 
Section 9.  Additional Duties of Officers: In addition to the duties hereinbefore specified, each 
officer shall perform such other duties as may be required of them by law or by the ordinances, 
resolutions or other actions of the Board. 
 
Section 10.  Consultants: The Board may appoint such additional attorneys, consultants, 
engineers, architects, accountants and other advisory personnel as it may determine. Such 
consultants shall have such powers and duties as may be vested in them by the Board. 
 
Section 11. Committees: The President shall appoint such committees and subcommittees of the 
Board as may be required, subject to the approval of the Board. Unless authorized by the Board 
to do so, committees may not act independently of the Board or bind the Park District, but shall 
report and make recommendations to the Board. 
 
Section 12.  - Director: The Director is the chief -executive officer of the Park District and will 
execute policies, regulations and ordinances of the Park District as determined by the Board. The 
Board shall employ the Director for the Park District. Subject to the control and direction of the 
Board, the Director shall have the authority and responsibility for the administration and operation 
of the Park District, including control, supervision, termination, and authority over all employees. 
 

ARTICLE II 
MEETINGS 

 
Section 1.  Annual Meeting: The annual meeting of the Board shall be held in May immediately 
before and at the same place as the regular monthly meeting of the Board for the month of May 
in each year. 
 
Section 2.  Regular Meetings: Public notice shall be given to any news medium or interested party 
of the schedule of regular meetings at the beginning of the calendar or fiscal year and shall state 
the regular dates, times, and places of such meetings. An agenda listing all matters that will be 
acted upon for each regular meeting shall be posted at the location of the meeting, on the Park 
District website, and electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party at least 48 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 3  

hours in advance of the holding of the meeting and shall be mailed or personally delivered to each 
Commissioner. The Director, in consultation with the President, shall be responsible for preparing 
the agenda. New matters, not on the agenda, may be considered; provided that they cannot be 
acted upon, in accordance with law.  
 
Section 3.  Special Meetings: Special Meetings of said Board may be held at any time upon the 
call of the President or any two (2) Commissioners, upon giving not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours written notice of the time and place thereof, by mailing or personally delivering such notice 
to each Commissioner. If such notice of any meeting is waived by written waiver of notice, signed 
by all of the Commissioners prior to such meeting, such notice shall not be necessary. Attendance 
of a Commissioner at a special meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, unless 
the Commissioner attends for the express purpose of objecting to such meeting. An agenda listing 
all matters that - shall (?) be address at each -Special -Meeting shall be posted at the location of 
the meeting, on the Park District website, and electronically delivered to any news medium or 
interested party at least 48 hours in advance of the holding of the meeting. The purpose of, or the 
business to be transacted at, a -Special -Meeting shall be specified in the notice of such meeting. 
 
Section 4. Study Sessions and Workshops: Study sessions and/or workshops of the Board may 
be held at any time upon the call of the President or of any two (2) Commissioners, upon giving 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours written notice of the time and place thereof, by mailing or 
personally delivering such notice to each Commissioner. An agenda, under the direction of the - 
Director and with the advice of the President or in their absence the Vice President and Board 
members, shall be prepared for the study session or workshop. An agenda listing all matters for 
each study session shall be posted at the location of the meeting, on the Park District website, 
and electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party at least 48 hours in advance 
of the holding of the meeting.   
 
Section 5. Executive Session Meetings: Executive sessions may be held during Regular, or 
Special – -Meetings, Study Sessions, or Emergency Meetings. The purpose for the session shall 
be identified in accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act. Final action shall not be taken by 
the Board on any matter discussed in an executive session until the matter is placed on the 
agenda of a public meeting.  
 
Section 6. Emergency Meetings: Emergency -Meetings may be called without the 48-hour notice. 
Notice of emergency meetings shall be given as soon as practicable, but in any event prior to the 
holding of such meeting. Emergency -Meetings shall address emergencies involving injury or 
damage to person or property or the likelihood of such injury or damage, or when the Governor 
or the Illinois Public Health Department has issued a disaster declaration related to public health 
concerns as defined in Section 4 of the Illinois Emergency Management Agency Act, and all or 
part of the jurisdiction of the -Park District is -included in the disaster area, when time requirements 
of a 48-hour notice would make notice impractical and increase the likelihood of such injury or 
damage. Emergency -Meetings may be called by the Director or the President with the consent 
of a majority of the --Commissioners. An agenda listing all matters that will be acted upon for each 
-Emergency -Meeting shall be posted at the location, on the Park District website and 
electronically delivered to any news medium or interested party as soon as practicable. The 
minutes of such meeting shall indicate the reason for the emergency. 
 
Section 7.  Place of Meeting: All - meetings of the Board shall be held at the Bresnan Meeting 
Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois; provided the Board may, from time to time, by 
giving at least 10 days’ notice of such change by publication in a newspaper of general circulation 
in Champaign, fix another place for a meeting to be held if, in its judgment, the interests of the 
Park District will be best served by doing so. 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 4  

 
Section 8.  Quorum: A majority, three (3) -Commissioners, of the duly elected, qualified and acting 
-Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided that, less than a quorum 
may meet and adjourn to a day certain, entered on the records of the Park District. 
 
Section 9.  Conduct of Meetings: The President shall preside at and preserve proper order in all 
meetings. In their absence, the Vice President shall preside. In case of the absence of both the 
President and Vice President -, the Commissioners present shall elect one of their members who 
shall act as President Pro Tem and perform all of the duties of the President. In the absence of 
the Secretary and Assistant Secretary, the Commissioners present may designate some other 
person to act as Secretary Pro Tem, and the Secretary Pro Tem shall have the same powers and 
duties at such meeting which the Secretary would have if present. 
 
Section 10.  Order of Business: The order of business at all regular meetings of the Board of 
Commissioners shall be as follows: 
 

A. Call to Order 
B. Presentations (if needed) 
C. Comments from the Public 
D. Communications 
E. Treasurer’s Report  
F. Executive Director’s Report 
G. Committee Reports 
H. Reports of Officers 
I. Consent Agenda 
J. Old Business 
K. New Business 
L. Discussion Items 
M. Comments from Commissioners 
N. Executive Session (if needed) 
O. Adjournment 

 
Consent Agenda items shall have been fully considered by the Board or are considered to be 
routine and non-controversial and may be approved by one motion. Items on the Consent 
Agenda include, but are not limited to, minutes, resolutions, ordinances, and policies -addressed 
at a previous Board meeting or committee meetings, bid awards and previously authorized 
agreements. Any -Commissioner - may remove any item from the Consent Agenda for separate 
consideration and action by request to the President during the meeting. 
 
Section 11.  Closed Session Minutes: The Board shall -examine its closed or executive session 
minutes every six (6) months, or as soon thereafter as is practicable, taking into account the 
meeting schedule - and declare those which can be released for public inspection.  
 
Section 12. Rules of Order: For all points of order and parliamentary procedure not herein 
provided for, the then current Roberts Rules of Order are hereby adopted. 
 

ARTICLE III 
FISCAL AFFAIRS 

 
Section 1.  Fiscal Year: The fiscal year of the Park District shall begin on the first day of May of 
each year and shall end on the thirtieth day of April in the succeeding year. 
 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 5  

Section 2.  Budget Preparation: Prior to June 30, each year the Director shall prepare a budget 
for the new fiscal year setting forth estimated receipts and expenditures for such fiscal year and 
shall submit such budget to the Board for its consideration. Such budget shall be prepared and 
submitted as a part of the Annual Budget and Appropriation Ordinance pursuant to Article 4, 
Section 4-4 of the Park District Code and notice thereof shall be given and a public hearing 
thereon shall be held in the time and manner required by said Code. A certified copy of the Budget 
and Appropriation Ordinance shall be filed with the County Clerk within thirty (30) days of 
adoption. The final budget shall be adopted and filed no later than July 31 of each year. 
 
An estimate, certified by the District’s Director of Finance, by source anticipated to be received 
for the next year is required to be filed with the County Clerk at the same time the Budget and 
Appropriation Ordinance is filed in accordance with law. 
 
Section 3.   Levy Ordinance:  At a regular meeting of the Board, a resolution estimating the 
amount of the tax for the ensuing year shall be adopted. If necessary, the Board shall provide 
for publication of Truth in the Taxation Notice. A certificate indicating compliance with or a 
certificate indicating the inapplicability of the Truth in Taxation Act shall be filed with the County 
Clerk. A certified copy of the Tax Levy Ordinance shall be adopted and filed, following the Truth 
in Taxation hearing (if necessary) with the County Clerk before the last Tuesday in December.  
 
Section 4.   Statement of Receipts and Disbursements:  The Treasurer in conjunction with the 
Director of Finance shall prepare an annual statement of receipts and disbursements, at the end 
of the fiscal year, file the statement with the County Clerk within six (6) months after the 
expiration of the fiscal year, and publish a notice of availability of its audit report and have the 
statement published in the local newspaper. 
 
Section 5.  Audit:  An independent audit shall be completed and the audit report and the State of 
Illinois Annual Report shall be filed with the County Clerk and the Illinois Comptroller within six 
(6) months after the close of the fiscal year. 
 
Section 6. Facility Fee Schedule and Comprehensive Revenue Policy: The Board shall maintain 
and annually approval a Facility Fee Schedule that recognizes the various costs related to the 
District’s facilities and programs, including without limitation facilities operational costs, facilities 
maintenance costs, and administrative costs. The Board shall also maintain a comprehensive 
revenue policy to recognize the various types of programs provided by the Park District and the 
scope of those programs. Program fees -may be established and adjusted based both on costs 
and expenses and program type. 

ARTICLE IV 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 
Section 1.  Form of Seal: The corporate seal of the Park District shall be circular in form with the 
words “Champaign Park District, Champaign, Ill.” in the outer circle and in the interior of the center 
of the circle, the words, “Official Seal” shall be engraved. 
 
Section 2. Use of Seal: The form of the seal described in the preceding section is hereby adopted 
as the corporate seal of the Park District and shall be used whenever any certificate, deed, bond 
or other instrument is required by law or general usage, to be executed under the corporate seal 
of the Park District. 
 
Section 3.  Custodian of Seal: The Secretary is hereby designated as custodian of the corporate 
seal and is charged with its proper use and safekeeping. Subject to the Secretary’s control, a 
duplicate seal may be kept and used by the Director. 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 6  

 
ARTICLE V 

CONTRACTS AND AUTHORITY TO INCUR FINANCIAL LIABILITY 
 
Section 1. Contracts: No contract exceeding the sum of $25,000.00 for work, materials, supplies, 
services or improvements of any kind shall be awarded, except by the Board. The Board may, 
without bidding, enter into contracts exceeding one year, but not more than three years, for 
employment contracts such as a -Director, department head, administrator, engineer, land 
planner, finance director, attorney or other officer who requires technical training or knowledge 
and outside professional consultants such as engineers, land planners, auditors, attorneys, or 
other professional consultants who require technical training or knowledge. All such contracts 
shall be in writing, shall be in the name of the Park District, and shall be signed by the President, 
Vice President, or Director upon approval by the Board, attested by the Secretary or designee 
and the corporate seal affixed thereto. 
 
Section 2.  Incurring Financial Liability: No Commissioner, committee, officer or employee shall 
create any financial liability on behalf of the Park District unless it first shall be approved by the 
Board; provided that the Director or their designee (except as the Board may otherwise limit) may 
incur financial liability or indebtedness not to exceed $25,000.00 in any one obligation without 
such Board approval.  
 

In addition, with Board approval, the Director or their designee may execute contracts, 
grant applications and other pertinent and related documents which have been approved or 
ratified by the Board - as may be necessary from time to time in order to carry out and effectuate 
the actions and decisions of the Board and the terms of those agreements and grant applications 
approved and/or ratified by the Board. 
 
Section 3.  Payment of Claims: Except as hereinafter provided, no claim against the Park District 
shall be paid until the same has been approved by the Board; provided that claims for salaries 
and wages of Park District employees whose employment has been approved by the Board, rent, 
public utilities, freight, postage, payment of bands and performing artists on day of performance, 
payment for previously approved contractual services, conference registration fees for 
Commissioners and staff, reimbursements to Commissioners and staff, refunds due program 
participants, and payments to specific vendors, previously approved by the Board, - -, may be 
paid upon the authority granted to the Director, if reported at the next regular meeting of the Board.  
 
Section 4. Execution of Checks: All checks for the payment of funds of the Park District shall be 
signed by the Treasurer, or if the Treasurer is unavailable, by a Commissioner or another officer 
of the Park District and countersigned by the Director or other duly authorized officer or the 
Director of Finance. All checks, including payroll taxes and withholdings, and investment checks 
shall be signed by two of the following: Director of Finance, Director, Treasurer, or Secretary.  
 

 
ARTICLE VI 

ORDINANCES 
 

[RESERVED] 
 

.  
Section 1.  Annexations:  All territories being annexed to the Park District shall be annexed by 
ordinance adopted by the Board. 
 



Ordinance No. 668: Prescribing Rules for the Conduct of the Business of the Champaign Park District 
 
 Page 7  

ARTICLE VII 
PARK NAMES 

 
Section 1.  Park Name:  The Board shall approve park names within the - Park District pursuant 
to its Naming of Parks and Facilities Policy. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
WHEN ORDINANCE TAKES EFFECT – REPEAL OF PRIOR ORDINANCES 

 
Section 1. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict or inconsistent with any of the 
provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed and this ordinance shall be in force from and 
after its passage and approval. 
 
Passed and Adopted: _____ day of ________    _________. 
 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Kevin J. Miller, President 
 
 
      ATTEST: 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 
 



��

����������	��
�����������	���������������������	�	������������	��������������
���
����������������� � !� "� #$ ���#��%"&�'�" $" %���#'�%#(�$)*�)"%*�%"��+�

���,-./,0�0/�.1,2�3/1,4��5,/67� 8%"%9�8%#(:)���'�-! $)��� �4�" $��"��410-7� 6%"$9�;'�;<;=��8>3?-@07�/"(�#%#$ �AAB�1## !�#C�0 ""���"D����@9%E�%�C#�.%"&�4���"�$���FGHIJKLMNOP�QRS�TUVW�LX�TRGYZGUJN�GNNS[SO�ZKLZSKVW�G\�OS\HKU]SO�UN�GVVGHRYSNV�̂_��QRS�̀aabcdbe�fghi�jbekhblk�mdno�pSHVULN�qrst�ZKLuUOS\P��vRSNSuSK�G�wGKI�xU\VKUHV�LZSKGVUNJ�yUVRUN�VSKKUVLKW�ZKSOLYUNGNVzW�UN�G�HUVW�LK�uUzzGJS�LK�VyL�LK�YLKS�HUVUS\�LK�uUzzGJS\�yLMzO�]SHLYS�HLVSKYUNLM\�LK�NSGKzW�HLVSKYUNLM\�yUVR�\MHR�HUVW�LK�uUzzGJS�LK�VyL�LK�YLKS�HUVUS\�LK�uUzzGJS\�MZLN�VRS�GNNS[GVULN�LX�VRS�GOOUVULNGz�VSKKUVLKW�yUVRUN�\MHR�YMNUHUZGzUVUS\�]MV�NLV�UNHLKZLKGVSO�yUVRUN�\MHR�G�wGKI�xU\VKUHV{�\MHR�wGKI�xU\VKUHV�YGW�GNNS[�\MHR�GOOUVULNGz�VSKKUVLKW�]W�VRS�ZG\\GJS�LX�GN�LKOUNGNHS�VL�VRGV�SXXSHV_��|cco}gkbdc�~hnbcgclo�����ZKSZGKSO�]W�VRS�wGKI�xU\VKUHV��VVLKNSW�YM\V�]S�\UJNSO{�HSKVUXUSO{�GNO�KSHLKOSO�yUVR�VRS�TLMNVW�UN�LKOSK�VL�]S�XLKYGzzW�UNHzMOSO�yUVRUN�VRS�]LMNOGKW�LX�VRS�TRGYZGUJN�wGKI�xU\VKUHV_��vRUzS�VRU\�ZSNOUNJ�GNNS[GVULN�OLS\�NLV�L]zUJGVS�VRS�TRGYZGUJN�wGKI�xU\VKUHV�VL�GHHSZV�zGNO�XLK�XMVMKS�ZGKI\�LK�VKGUz\{�UV�\�yLKVR�NLVUNJ�G��o�dhgcn���d���cnohekgcnbc���GVVGHRYSNV�q��U\�UN�SXXSHV�yUVR�VRS�HMKKSNV�zGNO�LyNSK\�UN�GHHLKOGNHS�yUVR�VRS�GKSG�JSNSKGz�ZzGN_���LySuSK{�G�XMVMKS�KSOSuSzLZYSNV�yUVR�SUVRSK�VRS�HMKKSNV�zGNO�LyNSK�LK�G�XMVMKS�OSuSzLZSK�yLMzO�ZKLuUOS�GN�LZZLKVMNUVW�VL�NSJLVUGVS�OUXXSKSNV�KS�MUKSYSNV\_���wKULK�FLGKO��HVULNP��L�ZKULK�FLGKO�GHVULN�KSJGKOUNJ�ZSNOUNJ��KOUNGNHS����_��QRS��o�dhgcn���d���cnohekgcnbc��yG\�GZZKLuSO�LN��GKHR�ss{�̂tt�_��FMOJSV��YZGHVP��LNS_���SHLYYSNOGVULNP�pVGXX�KSHLYYSNO\�\UJNUNJ�GNO�HSKVUXWUNJ�GVVGHRYSNV�s{�|cco}gkbdc�~hnbcgclo����{�GNO�KSHLKOUNJ�UV�yUVR�VRS�TRGYZGUJN�TLMNVW�TzSKI_��wKSZGKSO�]WP�� � � � � �SuUSySO�]WP����NOKSy�vSU\\�� � � � � pGKGR�pGNO�MU\V�xUKSHVLK�LX�wzGNNUNJ�� � � � �[SHMVUuS�xUKSHVLK�











 

1 

 

 
 

FROM: T.J. Blakeman, AICP, Senior Planner for Economic Development 

 

DATE: March 3, 2023 

 

SUBJECT:    REQUEST FOR LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR EXTENSION OF NORTH 

CAMPUSTOWN TAX INCREMENT FINANCE DISTRICT 

 

A.  Introduction: This memo aims to provide additional information to the Champaign Park 

District Board and seek their support for the Extension of the North Campsutown TIF District. 

 

E.  Background: 

 

1. North Campustown TIF.  The North Campustown TIF was established on February 5, 

2002, and will expire on its twenty-third anniversary in 2025.  The district is generally 

bounded by Clark Street, Fifth Street, Springfield Avenue, and First Street (including Scott 

Park).  One of the district's primary purposes was the issuance of more than $8 million in 

bonds, backed by the TIF, to raze the former Burnham City Hospital and remediate the site 

for private development.  The Burnham development was completed in 2008, and the 

increment from that development has been used to retire the demolition bonds recently.  

Since then, the district has achieved other program goals, including constructing the 

Boneyard Creek 2nd Street Basin and Scott Park improvements and overhauling the 

neighborhood's infrastructure to accommodate continued growth in private development.  

These improvements included the White Street portion of the multimodal construction as part 

of the MCORE project.  Today, the district continues to pay off stormwater debt related to 

the Boneyard project freeing up needed capacity in the Stormwater fund for other priority 

projects across the City, including the Garden Hills project.   

 

2. East University Avenue TIF District.  The East University Avenue TIF District was the 

City's oldest active TIF.  It was created in 1986 to assist with building renovations and capital 

infrastructure projects.  Accomplishments have included rebuilding the streetscape 

throughout the district, leveraging $556,000 in grants into more than $3,000,000 in private 

redevelopment through the Redevelopment Incentive Program, adding more than 20 new 

residential units to the district, rebuilding North First Street, and improving pedestrian and 

bicycle infrastructure.  In 2010, with the support of all the taxing district partners, City 

Council reduced the size of the East University Avenue TIF by nearly 50% and extended the 

TIF District for twelve years.  This district was formally retired on February 21, 2023. 

  

3. Amendment of the North Campustown TIF.  At February 21, 2023, meeting, City Council 

approved an amendment to the North Campustown TIF District.  This amendment expanded 



 

2 

 

the current boundaries of the North Campustown TIF to encompass the areas of the former 

East University Avenue TIF to preserve a critically important redevelopment tool in the 

Midtown area.  This action also allowed the release of the increment generated in the East 

University Avenue TIF to be returned as new growth to the taxing district rolls.   In addition 

to including the former East University Avenue TIF, the amended district was further 

expanded to encompass areas further north along First and Second Street to facilitate 

development associated with the final phases of the Boneyard Trail project, including 

Skelton Park.  The amended district has been expanded from 78 acres to 211 acres.  This 

amendment also allows for the completion of the South Downtown Sewer project, a critical 

project for expanding Downtown Champaign's sewer capacity for new development, which 

is currently near capacity.   

 

4. North Campustown TIF Extension.  For the past 1.5 years, staff has communicated with 

the Joint Review Board members to explain not only the proposed creation of the new 

Garden Hills TIF and Amendment of the North Campustown TIF but also the plans to seek 

an extension of the North Campustown expiration date.  City Council has also directed staff 

to execute this extension for an additional twelve years as permitted by state law.  This 

process involves asking our local legislators to introduce a bill before the General Assembly 

authorizing such an extension.  This bill will need a vote by both houses of the General 

Assembly and the Governor's signature.  As a policy, the legislature will not take up the issue 

without letters of support from the impacted taxing districts.  The staff has begun assembling 

those letters to introduce a bill in the Spring session.   

 

Taxing District Letter of Support Status 

Champaign Unit 4 Schools Complete 

Champaign County Complete 

Champaign-Urbana Mass Transit Complete 

Champaign Urbana Public Health Complete 

Champaign Forest Preserve Complete 

Parkland College Complete 

City of Champaign Township Complete 

Champaign Park District  Pending 

 

 

Following the approval of the General Assembly, Council will be asked to approve the 

extension that would take effect on February 5, 2025, and create a new termination date of 

February 5, 2037.  Legislative action is expected by the end of the spring session of the 

General Assembly in May 2023.  Council action on the extension is anticipated in mid-2023. 

 

5. Anticipated Impact of Extension.  The extension of the TIF District will allow many 

priority projects to proceed and new projects to be identified.  A preliminary list includes: 

• Completion of the South Downtown Sewer to create new sewer capacity for the 

Downtown area. 

• Completion of the next phase of the Boneyard Creek, including the reconstruction 

of the Washington Street Viaduct, reduction in flooding around Skelton Park and 



 

3 

 

North First Street, and creation of new basins and park space north of Washington 

Street. 

• University Avenue pedestrian improvements 

• Signalization of the First and Logan Street intersection 

• Development of additional public parking in the Midtown district to assist in 

filling vacant storefronts. 

• Redevelopment assistance for currently vacant properties or aging private 

building stock. 

• Continued encouragement of new redevelopment projects throughout the district 

that enhance property tax revenue. 

 

6. Request for Support.  The City of Champaign asks the Park District board to join with 

all other overlapping taxing districts to support the preservation of this critical economic 

development tool.  We request that you authorize your Executive Director to sign a letter 

in support of this TIF district extension. 

 

 

 

 

  



 

4 

 

Amended North Campustown TIF  

 

 
 

Downtown Fringe TIF - Blue 

North Campustown TIF - Purple 



 

 

 
March 8, 2023 
 
Representative Carol Ammons    Senator Paul Faraci 
300 South Broadway Avenue    45. E. University Suite 206    
Urbana, IL 61801      Champaign, IL 61820 
 
RE:  Letter of Support for 12-Year Extension of the North Campustown Tax Increment  
 
Dear Representative Ammons and Senator Faraci: 
 
The Champaign Park District expresses its support for the enabling legislation before the General 
Assembly regarding the North Campustown Tax Increment Finance District.   
 
The Champaign Park District and the City of Champaign work closely together on redevelopment area 
plans and projects to ensure that the District is not detrimentally affected.  We believe that the 
economic vitality of the North Campustown area is essential for improving the quality of life in our city’s 
core.  An extension of the current TIF District would serve as a critical tool to continue building on 
Champaign’s existing redevelopment momentum and grow equalized assessed valuation to a level 
that benefits us all in the end.  We would appreciate your consideration of this legislation.    
 
Please feel free to contact me should you have any questions regarding the Champaign Park District’s 
support for this proposed legislation. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
      
Kevin Miller 
Board President 



��

����������	��
�����������	���������������������	�	������������	��������������
���
����������������� � !� "� #$ ���#��%"&�'�" $" %���#'�%#(�$)*�)"%*�%"��+�

����,-./,0�0/�.1,2�3/1,4��5,/67� 8%"%9�8%#(:)���'�-! $)��� �4�" $��"��410-7� 6%"$9�;'�<=<;��8>3?-@07�1��"��%*��A�."�A ����#%*�8 "��$ ��1B"  C #��A�"�@�#��")$���#�1(C�#���"%���#��A�D"  #E *��3�& F%G�0"%�*�@�## $���#�."�H $���IJKLMNOPQR�SQ�TUVW�XJYNOQZ�[R\QY[][\R�Ŷ\�_N\\Q̀\aY�I[L\bJc�dNJ[a�R[ZKOQQ\KY�̀\Yb\\Q�eJP]fJQ�gJNL�JQR�h\N[YJM\�gJNL�̀\Q\JŶ�SijT�JZ�J�YOX�XN[ON[Yc�YO�JRRN\ZZk��laJNL�m[\Yn�oQM[Q\\N[QM�bJZ�̂[N\R�]ON�ZK̂\fJY[K�R\Z[MQp�R\Z[MQ�R\q\aOXf\QYp�JQR�KOQZYNPKY[OQ�ROKPf\QYZk��d̂\�gJNL�m[ZYN[KY�bJZ�JbJNR\R�J�I[L\�gJŶ�_NJQY�rIg_s�]NOf�Saa[QO[Z�m\XJNYf\QY�O]�tJYPNJa�u\ZOPNK\Z�rSmtus�JQR�\QY\N\R�[QYO�J�MNJQY�JMN\\f\QY�[Q�TUTUk��v]Y\N�fPaY[Xa\�R\Z[MQ�[Y\NJY[OQZ�JQR�Q\MOY[JY[OQ�b[Ŷ�Saa[QO[Z�m\XJNYf\QY�O]�dNJQZXONYJY[OQ�rSmwdsp�Saa[QO[Z�lOff\NK\�lOff[ZZ[OQ�rSllsp�JQR�lJQJR[JQ�tJY[OQJa�uJ[abJc�rlts�̀[R�RNJb[QMZ�b\N\�[ZZP\R�[Q�x\XY\f \̀N�TUTTk��d̂\�KOQZYNPKY[OQ�KOQYNJKY�bJZ�\y\KPY\R�[Q�zJQPJNc�TUT{k��d̂\�JYYJK̂\R�gNO]\ZZ[OQJa�x\Nq[K\Z�vMN\\f\QY�vf\QRf\QY�b[Ŷ�laJNL�m[\Yn�[Z�]ON�][QJa�X̂JZ\p�KOQZYNPKY[OQ�JRf[Q[ZYNJY[OQp�O]�Ŷ\�dNJ[a�lOQQ\KY[OQ�XNO|\KYk��gN[ON�IOJNR�vKY[OQ�}~������������������~����~���}�������vXXNOq\R�N\ZOaPY[OQ�YO�JXXac�]ON��TUUpUUU�I[KcKa\�gJŶ�_NJQY�ŶNOPM̂�Smtuk������~������������xX\K[Ja�IOJNR��\\Y[QM�vXXNOq\R���o�TUT{�lJX[YJa�IPRM\Y������������������������~����~���}�������vbJNR\R�mPK\�lOQZYNPKY[OQ��{��p {{�KOQZYNPKY[OQ�KOQYNJKYk��IPRM\Y�SfXJKY�IPRM\Y�]ON�gNO|\KY�tPf \̀N�V¡UUUW�[Z��j UpUUUk��¢��������gNO|\KY�KOfXa\Y[OQ�̀c�zPQ\�TUT{k��u\KOff\QRJY[OQ�xYJ]]�N\KOff\QRZ�JXXNOqJa�O]�gNO]\ZZ[OQJa�x\Nq[K\Z�vMN\\f\QY�b[Ŷ�laJNL�m[\Yn�oQM[Q\\NZ�]ON�KOQZYNPKY[OQ�fJQJM\f\QY�]ON�_N\\Q̀\aY�I[L\bJc�gNO|\KYk��gN\XJN\R�̀c£�� � � � � u\q[\b\R�̀c£���vQRN\b�¤\[ZZ�� � � � � xJNĴ�xJQR¥P[ZY�m[N\KYON�O]�gaJQQ[QM�� � � � oy\KPY[q\�m[N\KYON�



 1 January 2019 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

AMENDMENT NUMBER  1  
 

 
Project Name (“Project”) 
 
This Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement dated June 15, 2021, is by and between: 
 
Champaign Park District (“Client”) 
706 Kenwood Road 
Champaign, IL 61821 
 
and, 
 
Clark Dietz, Inc. (“Clark Dietz”) 
125 W. Church Street 
Champaign, IL 61820 
 
 
Who agree as follows: 
 
Whereas; Design phases of the project are completes and the Champaign Park District desires to proceed 
with part time construction observation activities. 
 
Now Therefore; this Amendment engages Clark Dietz to perform Services described in PART I – 
SERVICES BY CLARK DIETZ and Clark Dietz agrees to perform these Services for the compensation set 
forth in PART III - COMPENSATION. Clark Dietz shall be authorized to commence Services upon 
execution of this Amendment by both parties and receipt of written or verbal authorization to proceed from 
the Client. Client and Clark Dietz agree that this signature page, together with Parts I - III of this 
Amendment and the original Agreement, incorporated and made a part herewith, constitute the entire 
agreement between them relating to this project. 
 
 
Agreed to by Client 
 
 
By:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:   

Agreed to by Clark Dietz 
 
 
By:   
 
Title:   
 
Date:  

  



 2 January 2019 

PART I 
 SERVICES BY CLARK DIETZ 

A. Amendment Description 
The Champaign Park District would like to develop a new Greenbelt Bikeway Trail Connection 
between Kaufman Park and Heritage Park and to replace the deficient tunnel connection under 
Interstate 72. Since 2016, the Champaign Park District and Clark Dietz have completed an 
exhaustive study of feasible alternatives, facilitated numerous project stakeholder engagements, 
and secured funding via an IDNR Bicycle Path Grant. The result of these efforts has yielded a 
proposed trail connection located along the east side of the CN Railroad (CNRR) and within the 
anticipated CNRR lease agreement. To maintain the required railroad clearance the pathway is 
proposed to pass in between the existing I-72 overpass pier and bridge abutment. This 
amendment will be to provide bidding and observation services for construction of the bridge 
cone slope wall, retaining wall, and sidewalk to accommodate the pathway. 

B. Scope 
Professional Services are proposed for Construction Administration and Observation as follows: 
1. Bid opening coordination 
2. Part time construction observation 
3. PCC strength testing 
4. Progress meetings & site visits 
5. Shop drawing review 
6. Pay estimates prepared and submitted to Client for contactor payments 
7. Change Order review 
8. Substantial completion, punch list, and final inspection 
9. Record drawing plan preparation 
10. Project Close-Out (prepare and transit final documentation to CPD) 

C. Schedule 
1. Construction observation services are assumed to last 10 weeks and estimated to be 

completed May 5th of 2023. 

D. Assumptions/Conditions (If applicable) 
 This Amendment is subject to the following assumptions/conditions: 

1. Observation hours are based on 4 hours per day for 10 weeks (200 hours). 
2. Administration hours, consisting of bid opening, project setup, and project closeout are 

based on 2 weeks of project setup and 1 week of project closeout (120 hours). 
3. Concrete testing is limited to 4 strength tests. 



 3 January 2019 

PART II 
CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
 
Client shall, at its expense, do the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the Amended services: 

A. Information/Reports 
1. No Changes 

B. Representative 
1. No Changes 

C. Decisions 
1. No Changes 

D. Other 
1. No Changes 

 



 4 January 2019 

PART III 
COMPENSATION 

A. Compensation 
1. Compensation to Clark Dietz for services rendered by employees working on the Project 

in accordance with PART I, SERVICES of this Amendment will be at the hourly billing 
rates shown in the attachment, “Schedule of General Billing Rates”. The total 
compensation authorized by this Amendment will not exceed $54,000.00 and increases the 
total compensation authorized to $103,590. It shall include the following: 
a. Payment for outside consulting and/or professional services performed by a 

subconsultant will be at actual invoice cost to Clark Dietz plus ten percent for 
administrative costs. Clark Dietz will obtain written Client approval before authorizing 
these services.  

b. Payment for expenses incurred directly on behalf of the Project at actual cost to Clark 
Dietz plus ten percent for administrative costs. Direct project expenses will be as 
defined in the attachment, “Schedule of Project Related Expenses”. 

B. Billing and Payment – No Change 
 
 



SCHEDULE OF GENERAL BILLING RATES 
 

CLARK DIETZ, INC. 
 

January 1, 2023 
 
TITLE HOURLY RATE 
 
Principal $255.00 

Engineer 8 240.00 

Engineer 7 230.00 

Engineer 6 220.00 

Engineer 5 200.00 

Engineer 4 170.00 

Engineer 3 155.00 

Engineer 2 140.00 

Engineer 1 125.00 

Technician 5 170.00 

Technician 4 155.00 

Technician 3 140.00 

Technician 2 125.00 

Technician 1 105.00 

Intern 100.00 

Clerical 90.00 

 
 
Notes: 
 
The rates in this schedule will be reviewed and adjusted as necessary but not sooner than six months after the 
date listed above. Rates include actual salaries or wages paid to employees of Clark Dietz plus payroll taxes, 
FICA, Worker’s Compensation insurance, other customary and mandatory benefits, and overhead and profit. All 
project related expenses and subconsultants will be billed at 110% of actual cost to cover handling and 
administrative expenses. 
 





















����������	��
�����������	���������������������������������������� !"�#��$�� ��%�$�%�������&��������'���(�����	�����	�����)���������	)�	*��+,�+�,����-���

���� ./�0.���0��1.2�301.���4.056� 7���7	*8+���)�/(��+��'�������������1�/6� �5����9)�:;:<���7=3>/��6��?�	��,���	������3�*���@ABCDEFGHI�JKLM�LM�A�NLI�OF�AIIEPMM�BFHBEPOP�IPQLBLPHBLPM�AHI�QALRGEPM�AO�SAELFGM�RFBAOLFHM�OKEFGDKFGO�OKP�TAEC�ULMOELBOV��WLOPM�LHBRGIPI�LH�OKLM�NLI�AEP�AM�QFRRFXMY�WGHMPO�ZLIDP�TAEC[�\]�RAHIMBÂP�NPI�BGENLHD�_̀abcd�UFIIM�TAEC[�eFECPEbf�ghijklmn�\]�BGENLHD�_opqbrd�JFARMFH�OEALR[�̂AHPR�EP̂RABPsPHOM�_tcd�uPMMPR�TAEC[�\]�QRFXPE�NPI�BGENM�_We�v�Ww�BFEHPEMd�xyob�OFOARcd�zAOOLM�TAEC[�sPsFELAR�DAEIPH�y]�BGENLHD�{oopbrd�@FGRXAEP�OEALR[�̂AHPR�EP̂RABPsPHOM�_̀cV������@LI�ZPMGROM�|H�LHSLOAOLFH�OF�NLI�XAM�̂GNRLMKPI�LH�JKP�}PXM[~A�POOPV�JKP�NLIM�XPEP�F̂PHPI�AHI�EPAI�ARFGI�FH��JKGEMIA�d��PNEGAE��atd�a�atV�JKP�EPMGROM�AEP�AM�QFRRFXMY��� 3�**��� ���,�3�*�1��+	��|vZ�zPBKAHLBAR�WPESLBPM� ���dt��V���zLI��RRLHFLM��FHBEPOP�v�w�BASAOLFH�� ��td�a�V���UGBP��FHMOEGBOLFH��Fs ÂH��� ���d���V���|�v�|��FHBEPOP� ��ad���V̀t��PGO���FHOEABOFEM� ��̀dt��V����TELFE�@FAEI�|BOLFH�JKP�TAEC�@FAEI�Â ÊFSPI�OKP���aa�at��ÂLOAR�NGIDPO�AO�OKP��PNEGAE��atd�a�aa�ŴPBLAR�@FAEI�sPPOLHDV�����@GIDPO��s ÂBO����d����XAM�NGIDPOPI�LH�OKP���aa�at��ÂLOAR�NGIDPO�QFE�DPHPEAR�BFHBEPOP�XFECV��WASLHDM�QEFs�OKP���a�aa[at�WPAR��FAOLHD�NGIDPO�XLRR�NP�GMPI�QFE�OKP�FSPEADP�AHI��a�d����XLRR�MOLRR�EPsALH�LH�OKAO�NGIDPOV���ZPBFssPHIPI�|BOLFH�WOAQQ�EPBFssPHIM�AXAEILHD�OKLM�NLI�OF�OKP�RFXPMO�NLIIPE�OKAO�sPPOM�ARR�EP�GLEPI�M̂PBLQLBAOLFHMd�|vZ�zPBKAHLBAR�WPESLBPMd�AO�OKP�OFOAR�NLI�AsFGHO�FQ����dt���AHI�EP�GPMOM�OKP�@FAEI�AGOKFEL�P�OKP�w�PBGOLSP�ULEPBOFE�OF�PHOPE�LHOF�A�BFHOEABOGAR�ADEPPsPHO�QFE�OKLM�XFECV��TEP̂AEPI�N�Y�� � � � � ZPSLPXPI�N�Y�� � � ��� ��@EPO��FKHMFH��������������������������� � � UAH��RMFH� � � � � �|MMLMOAHO�ULEPBOFE�FQ��̂ PEAOLFHM���������������� ������������ULEPBOFE�FQ��̂ PEAOLFHM� � �





For the Year Ended April 30, 2024
CONTENTS

PAGE

Section 1:  Introduction and Overview 3

Financial Structure, Policy and Process................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................10

Budget Policies and Procedures................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................10

Fund Descriptions and Department Relationships................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................14

Organizational Chart................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................18

Combined Fund Analysis................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................19

Budget Summary - All Funds Combined................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................29

Detailed Line Item Budget - Combined Funds................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................31

Budget Summary by Fund 40

General Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................40

Recreation Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................44

Museum Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................47

Liability Insurance Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................51

IMRF FUND................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................54

Audit Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................55

Special Donations Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................57

Social Security Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................59

Special Recreation Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................60

Police Protection Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................63

Section 4 Capital and Debt 65

Paving and Lighting Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................65

Capital Improvement Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................72

Bond Amortization Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................72

Bond Proceeds Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................78

Land Acquisition Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................83

Park Development Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................85

Trails and Pathways Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................87

Martens Center Capital Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................89

Budget Summary by Department

       General Fund:  Administration 91

General Fund:  Marketing & Communications 95

General Fund:  Operations 98

General Fund:  Douglass Branch Library 101

General Fund: Other Programs 102

General Fund:  Planning 104

Recreation Fund:  Administration 106

Recreation Fund:  Facilities 109

1



For the Year Ended April 30, 2024
CONTENTS

PAGE

Recreation Fund:  Sports Programs 112

Recreation Fund:  Youth Programs (Afterschool and Summer Programs) 115

Recreation Fund:  Other Programs 118

Recreation Fund:  Teen Programs 121

Recreation Fund:  Concessions 123

Recreation Fund:  Aquatics 126

MuseumFund:  Administration 129

MuseumFund:  Cultural Arts 132

MuseumFund:  Special Events 135

MuseumFund:  Facilities (excludes Virginia Theatre) 138

MuseumFund:  Virginia Theatre 141

MuseumFund:  Youth Programs 144

STATISTICAL SECTION 146

Supplemental Information................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................146

Assessed Valuation Comparisons................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................149

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................150

Budget and Appropirations Totals by Fund................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................151

Ordinance No. 667................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................153

Certificate of Estimated Revenue................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................163

Glossary................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................164

Acronyms................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................171

2



BUDGET NAVIGATION GUIDE
Budget Navigation Guide

To assist in the navigation of the budget document, the following guidelines will provide some useful
information. 

1. The table of contents starting on page 1 will provide the page references throughout the document. If
you are using the electronic version, these will be hyper-linked for easy navigation. 

2. The introduction and overview beginning on page 4 provides a high level introduction into the Park
District, the overall budget process, and budget highlights for the upcoming budget year.

3. The Financial Structure Policy and Process section provides the reader with the basis of accounting
and budgeting, policies and assumptions, along with fund descriptions and a matrix to show the relationship
between the funds and departments. There is also a high level organization chart for full-time employees.

4. The Financial Summaries section continues with the high level overview of all the funds combined and
with descriptions of the major revenues and expenditures presented throughout the document. 

5. The Summary by Fund section expands on the combined summaries and provide the reader with a
high level overview at the fund level. 

6. The Capital and Debt section provides summary of revenues and expenditures by each capital and
debt fund, including a listing of projects budgeted for in the upcoming year. Normally, this section follows with
the current six-year capital improvement plan, and the impact of the capital projects on the operating budgets
moving forward; however a full capital improvement plan document was not prepared for 2023-2028, only a
listing of the projects. 

7. The Departmental information further expands on the summary by fund and provides an overview by
each major department within each fund. The information is presented for the major funds: General,
Recreation and Museum Funds.

8. The Statistical section is the last area and includes the budget and appropriations ordinance, historical
tax rates, equalized assessed values, glossary and a listing of acronyms.

For a link to prior year budget documents you may visit https://champaignparks.com/about-us/open-
government/

3



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               Board of Commissioners and Administrative Staff
Board of Commissioners

Craig W. Hays

Barbara J. Kuhl

Timothy P. McMahon

Kevin J. Miller

Jane L. Solon

Officers

Sarah Sandquist, Assistant Secretary

Guy C. Hall, Attorney

Brenda Timmons, Treasurer

Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary

Administrative Staff

Executive Director: Sarah Sandquist, CPRE

Director of Administrative Services:  Jarrod Scheunemann

Director of Finance:  Andrea N. Wallace, CPA, CPRP

Director of Human Resources: Heather Miller, MHRIR

Director of Marketing & Communications:  Chelsea Norton

Director of Operations:  Dan Olson

Director of Planning:  Andrew Weiss

Director of Recreation: Jameel Jones, CGSP, CPI, CPRP

Director of Revenue Facilities: Jimmy Gleason

Director of Virginia Theatre: Steven Bentz

706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, IL 61821
t 217-398-2550 f 217-355-8421

www.champaignparks.com

4



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               BUDGET OVERVIEW
Transmittal Letter and Budget Overview

TO: Board of Commissioners and Officers

FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year Ended (FYE) 2024 Annual Budget

DATE: February 22, 2023

Staff is pleased to present to you the proposed Annual Budget of the Champaign Park District
for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2023 and ending April 30, 2024. The document reflects the
vision, mission, culture and values of the Park District in our efforts to be responsive to the
recreation needs of the residents and to do so in a fiscally and environmentally responsible
manner.

To meet the Park District’s commitment of transparency and to satisfy the legal requirements,
the Budget and Appropriations Ordinance will be made available for public inspection for at least
thirty (30) days before it is considered for approval. The Budget and Appropriations Ordinance
will be made available to the public following the Regular Board Meeting on February 22nd at the
Bresnan Meeting Center, and officially considered for approval at the April 12, 2023 Regular
Board Meeting. March 8, 2023 is the date set for the public hearing for comments on Ordinance
No. 667 Budget and Appropriations Ordinance for FYE2024. This should be read in conjunction
with the combined financial summary section which addresses changes in the revenues and
expenditures for the upcoming fiscal year.

After a solid, almost back to normal, year in FYE2023, the District is planning for a full year of
normal operation.  With that focus, the FYE2024 budget is geared for full programming and
staffing. The long-term effects of the pandemic are primarily reflected in the inflation that
resulted from the recovery. The proposed budget reflects dramatically higher costs in virtually all
categories of expenditures, (food, fuel, utilities, salaries, benefits) and the related increase in
interest rates the District earns on its invested surplus. Additionally, the large decline in
workforce participation does seem to be easing.  Although it continues to be challenging, we are
filling positions that have been open for some time and expect that trend to continue. There
remains a vast amount of full-time job openings throughout the country as employees adjust to
a return from the remote workplace environment . We must continue to be innovative in our
outreach for employees and nimble with our compensation plan.

As previously mentioned, the Federal Reserve is fighting inflation with increases in the
Federal Funds rate.  That rate has increased from near 0% in February of 2022, to 4.57% as
of February of 2023.  Additional small increases are expected until the inflation rate is at or
below 2%. This is good news for interest earnings on excess funds.  Fortunately, the Park
District is financially strong and has built up reserves both prior and during the pandemic and
has sufficient cash reserves on hand to meet the possibility of a recession. 

The following pages outline the plan for the Park District and the FYE2024 budget plan. Staff are
pleased to present to you the FYE2024 budget with anticipated revenues of $25,393,043 and
expenditures of $20,958,807, leaving a net surplus for the year of $4,434,236.

5



TENTATIVE BUDGET SCHEDULE
May 1, 2023

Start of Fiscal Year.

July 31, 2023

Latest date to file a certified copy of the Budget and Appropriations Ordinance and the Certification of
Estimated Revenue with the Champaign County Clerk's Office.

August 8, 2023

BOARD ACTION: Discussion on setting the fees for FYE2025

September 13, 2023

BOARD ACTION:: Adopt a Resolution of Intent to issue General Obligation Bonds and set the date for the
Public Hearing on the proposed bond issue.

BOARD ACTION: Approval of fee increases.

September 14, 2023

Staff begin working on the operating budget for FYE2025 (to be presented at the February 14, 2024 Regular
Board meeting.

Staff begin review of the 2024-2033 capital plan, update and obtain cost estimates in preparation for
FYE2025.

October  4, 2023

Notice of Public Hearing on the intent to issue General Obligation Bonds is published in the newspaper (at
least one week prior to the date of the public hearing).

October  11, 2023

BOARD ACTION: Adopt Resolution of Estimate of Taxes to be Levied for FYE2025 and set the date for the
public hearing. 

BOARD ACTION:  Public Hearing is held on the proposed bond issue.

BOARD ACTION: Approval to solicit bids for the issuance of General Obligation Bonds.

October 16, 2023

Due date for Staff budgets to be entered into BS&A Accounting software.

Budget Manager to schedule individuals meetings with each department head and executive director to review
data. All meetings will be completed by mid-December.

October 30, 2023

Annual Audit, Treasurer's and State Comptroller's Reports are filed with the Champaign county Clerk's Office
and the State of Illinois.
November 1, 2023

The Notice of  Public Hearing on the proposed Tax Levy and Truth in Taxation information is published in the
newspaper (at least one week prior to the  date of the public hearing). The notice is also placed on the Park
District website at www.champaignparks.com.

6



November 8, 2023

 BOARD ACTION: Hold Public Hearing on proposed Tax Levy and Adopt Tax Levy Ordinance for FYE2025.

BOARD ACTION: Approve general obligation bond bid and adopt the bond Ordinance.

Present the Capital Improvement Plan for 2025-2034 for discussion.

November 30, 2023

Pay off the 2022 general obligation bond issue.

December 13, 2023

BOARD ACTION: Capital items and the 2025-2034 Capital Improvement Plan are presented for approval by
the Board and incorporated into the FYE2025 budget document.

Make annual principal and interest payment on Alternate Revenue Bonds.

Staff file the property tax levy Ordinance with the Champaign County Clerk's office (due no later than the last
Tuesday in December).

January 10, 2024

Present the proposed part-time, seasonal rates for 2024-2025 and the proposed merit increase for full-time
staff for discussion. 

February 14, 2024

BOARD ACTION: The date for the Public Hearing is set on the proposed Budget and Appropriations
Ordinance. The Ordinance is prepared and made available to the public for inspection at the Bresnan Meeting
Center.

BOARD ACTION: Staff present and Board of Commissioners approve the annual tax abatement resolution in
relation to the Alternate Revenue Bonds and authorizes Staff to file the Resolution with the Champaign County
Clerk's Office.

BOARD ACTION: Approval of the part-time, seasonal rates effective January 1, 2024 and the merit increase
for full-time staff effective May 1, 2024.

March 6, 2024

Notice of Public Hearing on the Budget and Appropriations Ordinance is published in the newspaper (at least
one week prior to date of public hearing).

March 13, 2024

BOARD ACTION: Public Hearing on the Budget and Appropriations Ordinance is held.

April 10, 2024

BOARD ACTION: Approval of Budget and Appropriations Ordinance for the year beginning May 1 2024 and
ending April 30, 2025.

April 12, 2024

The Park District receives the new property tax extension from the Champaign County Clerk's Office for the
new fiscal year. Staff reviews the calculation and estimated tax rate compared to the Ordinance filed in
December. If the new tax rate exceeds the rate set by the Board through the Ordinance, then Staff submit
revised allocation reductions to the County.

File Budget and Appropriations Ordinance with the Champaign County Clerk's office (due no later than the
July 31, 2024.

7



8



�

Mission Statement

7KH�PLVVLRQ�RI�WKH�&KDPSDLJQ�3DUN�'LVWULFW�LV�WR�HQKDQFH�RXU�FRPPXQLW\¶V�TXDOLW\�RI�OLIH�WKURXJK�SRVLWLYH�
H[SHULHQFHV�LQ�SDUNV��UHFUHDWLRQ��DQG�FXOWXUDO�DUWV�

Vision Statement

7KH�&KDPSDLJQ�3DUN�'LVWULFW�VWULYHV�WR�EH�WKH�OHDGHU�LQ�SDUNV��UHFUHDWLRQ��DQG�FXOWXUDO�DUWV�E\�SURYLGLQJ�DQG�
SURPRWLQJ�VDIH�DQG�RXWVWDQGLQJ�H[SHULHQFHV�DQG�IDFLOLWLHV��JHQHUDWLQJ�RXWVWDQGLQJ�YDOXH�IRU�DOO�UHVLGHQWV�

Strategic Priorities & Goals

Customer & 
Community 
Focus

Financial 
Strength

Organizational 
Excellence

Staff 
Excellence

Quality 
Infrastructure 
Management

Engage the 
community

Efficiently align 
resources

Evaluate current
partnerships and 
develop new 
partnerships

Attract and 
retain quality 
staff

Update and 
maintain our 
maintenance
standards

Develop diverse 
programs for all 
residents

Maximize 
funding 
opportunities

Further develop 
a culture that 
helps employees 
excel

Lead, develop, 
and offer training 
to staff

Evaluate and 
develop future 
projects

Encourage 
customer loyalty

Ensure financial 
stewardship

Continue to 
strive to be 
innovative and 
creative

Create a 
welcoming and 
inclusive 
environment

Be a leader in 
sustainability

Ensure 
participant/user 
safety

Enhance the 
Parks 
Foundation

Board and staff 
working 
effectively and 
efficiently

Create a 
responsive 
staffing plan

Leverage 
technology

Improve Trail 
System 

9



FINANCIAL STRUCTURE, POLICY AND PROCESS
Budget Policies and Procedures
Overview

The Park District's annual budget for FYE2024 outlines the District’s commitment and plan to provide
service to its residents. Meeting the park, recreational and cultural needs of 89,114 residents with very
diverse needs requires long-range planning, maximum efficiency and use of every dollar.

The annual budget is prepared to allocate available funds and to implement Park District policies. The
budget is the Park District’s plan for distribution of available funds and explains the procedures,
assumptions and organizational structure used in its preparation. The Budget Policies and Procedures
outline the budget detail and provide background information to assist in its review.

This document contains a description of each major fund, goals, objectives, and issues for the coming
year. These goals and objectives, along with strategic and capital improvement plans, set forth the work
program for this fiscal year. Department heads, Commissioners and staff created these plans, goals and
objectives to enhance the Park District’s parks, recreational and cultural arts services to our residents
while maintaining current infrastructure.

The budget coincides with the strategic plan updated in 2022, which can be located at
https://champaignparks.com/about-us/evaluation-planning/ .

Basis of Accounting & Budgeting

The Park District uses a detailed line item budget for accounting, financial statements, and review
purposes. The Park District prepares a detailed budget by month, based on the program expenditure line.
The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for the Park District’s annual audited financial
statements. The budget is prepared on the modified accrual basis, however property tax accruals and
deferred revenues are not recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when received in cash, except
for those revenues that can be accrued, which are recognized as receivable when they become
measurable, and are recognized as revenue when they become available to pay current liabilities.
Expenditures are recorded when the liability is incurred, except for principal and interest due on long-term
debt, which is recognized when due or when sufficient funds are on hand to pay the current year’s
obligation. The accrual basis records revenues when earned, and expenses when the goods or services
are received.

Accounting oversight and control is continually provided to adequately safeguard assets and to provide
reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.

Budget Timeline and Format

The budget timeline includes the planning time that goes into the budget process, including meetings with
the staff and Board. In February, a proposed budget is submitted by the staff to the Board of
Commissioners for discussion purposes. This budget includes proposed expenditures and the means for
financing them for the fiscal year that begins May 1. A public hearing is held in March, after the budget
has been available to the public for 30 days, to allow Park District residents to make comments on the
proposed budget. In March or April, the budget is legally enacted through passage of the Budget and
Appropriation Ordinance with a final legal deadline of July. The budget format includes a financial
summary section that summarizes the entire Park District budget. Charts and graphs are used to show
budget history, revenue, and expenditure trends. These were the basis for determining which services
and operations are to be provided for the coming year.

Budget Implementation, Review and Amendment

The process continues with the implementation of policies determined during budget development.

10



Budget policies are implemented in a timely manner. Policies such as fee increases are set at the
beginning of a season or program. Registration and program fees are reviewed on a regular basis, and
program reviews are done on a seasonal basis.

Budgetary control is maintained throughout the year via an internal reporting process. Management
receives monthly reports detailing budget status on a monthly and year-to-date basis to monitor policy
implementation. Major expenditures are verified to budgeted and appropriated amounts prior to the actual
purchase. The Board of Commissioners reviews and approves all Park District expenditures on a monthly
basis.

Policies and Assumptions

Budget policies are designed to establish a framework for providing quality services in an efficient and
effective manner, while maintaining long-term financial stability within the established limitations. These
policies are reviewed, modified as appropriate, and adopted annually.

The Park District is committed to maintaining a stable tax rate. Increases to the current rate when levying
funds only occur when absolutely necessary. RY2022 EAV growth of 10.19% could result in an increase
to the overall tax rate, however the Board of Commissioners plans to not increase the rate for RY2022
from the current rate of 0.7259 per $100/EAV.

Typically, when preparing the budget, the Park District utilizes a conservative fiscal policy. Staff are
instructed to begin with the projected expenditures from the prior year and allow for an applicable increase
based on the type of account and any modifications previously approved by the Board for merit increases
and benefit changes. When in doubt staff should use a conservative approach for revenues and budget
only anticipated increases/decreases based on history or known fluctuations. Expenditures should be
estimated and budgeted for fluctuations that may or may not be known, possibly overstating those line
items. In the past, this concept was very evident in budgeting for seasonal staff, maintenance and program
supplies. Managers plan for a full staff for the full season with no missing days and extra supplies for full
programs. For current year assumptions please see budget overview.

Generally, the Park District prepares a balanced budget in all of the main operating funds, any deviations
from it have been noted in the Budget Message in the previous "Introduction & Overview Section". A
balanced budget is a budget where operating revenues meet or exceed operating expenditures, and
reserve or carryover balances are not considered a revenue source unless specifically noted. This occurs
when the Board has authorized spending of any surplus funds or has to set aside additional surplus funds
for current or future capital projects. However, capital fund budgets may not always be balanced as multi-
year projects may have carryover balances when projects extend between years, and the balance is
expended as the projects are completed. As a financial planning tool by the Park District and Board of
Commissioners, excess fund balances may be used through Board approval to finance a significant
capital project rather than to borrow funds.

The Park District maintains a detailed Investment Policy which meets the legal requirements of the State
of Illinois statutes. The policy emphasizes safety of principal, authorized investments and collateralization.
Cash idle during the year is invested in insured or collateralized Certificates of Deposit, State of Illinois
Treasurer’s Funds, the Illinois Park District Liquid Asset Fund and Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund.

Department heads are responsible for purchases with final approval of the Executive Director. The Park
District’s purchasing policy details what may be purchased and at what levels. Purchases of non-budgeted
or over-budgeted line items must be offset by additional revenue sources or savings in a different budget
line item area before the purchase can be made. Contracts $25,000 and over, or in excess of one year
must be Board-approved prior to execution.

The Park District is committed to complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) through
property taxes set aside within the Special Recreation fund. Improvements are made not only for facilities
and programs but continual staff training as well. A significant portion of the special recreation budget is
allocated to making Park District parks and facilities ADA-accessible on an annual basis. Occasionally,
ADA-accessible requests from the public are granted as well.

The Park District is committed to offering and maintaining safe programs, events and facilities. The Park

11



District has a risk management program and employs a half-time Risk Manager to oversee it. The
program is evaluated every three years by the Park District’s insurance carrier, the Park District Risk
Management Agency (PDRMA). In 2017, the Park District again attained the highest accreditation score
for its ongoing risk management program. 

The Park District offers a scholarship program to reduce program fees for some residents who are unable
to participate in programs due to economic hardships. This is funded by public donations to the Parks
Foundation. In addition, for each program registration fee collected, $1 is applied to the youth scholarship
fund.

The Park District levies and collects property taxes in the following funds: General Corporate, Recreation,
Museum, IMRF, Social Security, Police, Audit, Liability Insurance, Paving and Lighting, Special Recreation
and Bond Amortization. By Park District Code statutes, these must be accounted for in separate funds.

In 1997, voters approved a property tax cap for the Park District. This action limits the increase in the
aggregate extension of the tax levy for the Park District to the lesser of 5% or the increase in the
Consumer Price Index plus any new property added to the Park District during the past year. This year’s
increase in the index is set at 5.0%, however as this cannot exceed PTELL rules, the cap will be set at
5.0%. Also, the act limits the amount of non-referendum debt payment the Park District can make each
year. The Park District’s limit is currently set at $1,342,850. 

Debt Policy

The Park District issues debt to provide financing and pay the cost associated with the acquisition and
improvement of long-term assets and/or to make the annual debt payment on the Alternate Revenue
Bonds. These funds are not used to finance regular operations. The Park District’s primary objective in
debt management is to keep the level of indebtedness within available resources and within the total debt
and payment limits established by state statutes and tax cap legislation.

The legal debt limit for the Park District is 2.875% ($61,769,727) of assessed valuation for total debt
issued and .575% ($12,353,945) for non-referendum General Obligation Bonds. Currently, the Park
District has $1,255,000 of non-referendum General Obligation Bonded debt outstanding which will mature
in November 2023 and $1,040,000 of Alternate Revenue Bonds with the final payment due December 15,
2024.

The Park District is scheduled to issue approximately $1,342,850 of one-year General Obligation Limited
Bonds in November 2023. Approximately $546,200 will be used to make principal and interest payments
on the outstanding Alternate Revenue Bonds. The remaining proceeds will be used for capital projects as
detailed in the Capital and Debt section.

12



Fund Balance

Fund balances are classified as follows:

 Non-spendable amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in a spendable form

or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

 Restricted-amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of the Park District

charter, state or federal laws, or externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors.

 Committed-amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal

resolution of the Park District Board of Commissioners.

 Assigned-amounts that are constrained by the Board of Commissioners’ intent to be used for

specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed.

 Unassigned-all amounts not included in other spendable classifications. The general fund is the

only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance amount.

Personnel

Salaries and wages for all staff are based on set ranges. An annual merit pool is reviewed and approved
by the Board of Commissioners for full-time staff. Any new full-time positions or current positions hired
outside of the set salary range must be approved by the Board of Commissioners, as well as any
increase in full-time positions. The total number of full time employees remains unchanged for fiscal year
2024 at 84.

Capital Program

The Park District constantly reviews and re-prioritizes the capital program and budget to meet the Park
District’s maintenance, development and land acquisition goals and standards. The Park District
maintains replacement schedules and strives to follow them. The Park District realizes the capital
program budget must keep pace with Park District growth and new services requested by residents;
however, the operating budget may be restricted or cut back in order to make this possible. Budgets for
the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) are based on planned revenue for the fiscal year, plus any projects
set to carryover from the prior fiscal year. The Board of Commissioners may approve the use of excess
reserve funds to cover scheduled future projects to limit the amount of borrowed funds and to be fiscally
responsible.

13



FUND DESCRIPTIONS

The�Park�District�appropriates� expenditures� annually� to� the�funds� listed�below.�The� Park�District�

can� levy�property� taxes� in�the� following� funds:�General,� Bond�Amortization, Illinois�Municipal�

Retirement�Fund�(IMRF),�Police,�Audit,� Liability� Insurance,�Social�Security,�Museum,�Recreation,�

Paving�and�Lighting�and�Special�Recreation.�There� is�no�maximum� rate�for� the� IMRF,�Social�

Security�� and�Liability� Insurance�Funds.� 3OHDVH� UHIHU� WR� WKH� VWDWLVWLFDO� VHFWLRQ� IRU� WKH� KLVWRULFDO�

WD[� UDWH� LQIRUPDWLRQ�ZLWK� WKH� FDSSHG� UDWHV� QRWHG� E\� IXQG� LI� DSSOLFDEOH��Proceeds� from� the� levies�

can�only�be�used�for�specific�purposes.

Park�District�funds�and�their� relationships� are�as�follows.

Other Funds

Special Donations
Activity 

(Fiduciary Fund)

Working Cash 

(Permanent FundͿ

Capital & Debt Funds

Paving & 
Lighting

Bond 

Amortization 

Debt Service

Bond 
Proceeds

Capital 
Improvements

Land 
Acquisition

Park 
Develop-

ment

Trails & 
Pathways

Martens 
Center

Special Revenue Funds

Liability 
Insurance

IMRF
Social 

Security
Audit

Police 
Protection

Major Funds (Operating)

General Fund Recreation Fund Museum Fund
Special Recreation 

Fund

14



Major Funds (Operating)
�� GENERAL FUND ± 7KH�*HQHUDO�)XQG�LV

WKH�JHQHUDO�RSHUDWLQJ�IXQG�RI�WKH�3DUN
'LVWULFW��$OO�GROODUV�WKDW��E\�ODZ�RU�IRU

DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�FRQWURO��DUH�QRW�LQ�VHSDUDWH
IXQGV�DUH�GHSRVLWHG�DQG�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�LQ�WKH
*HQHUDO�)XQG��7KLV�IXQG�LV�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW

IRU�WKH�JHQHUDO�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�FRVWV��SDUN
DQG�IDFLOLW\�RSHUDWLRQ�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH

FRVWV��)XQGLQJ�LV�PDLQO\�SURYLGHG�E\
SURSHUW\�WD[HV��7KLV IXQG�LV�EURNHQ�GRZQ

LQWR�IRXU�GHSDUWPHQWV��$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�
0DUNHWLQJ��2SHUDWLRQV��DQG�3ODQQLQJ�

�� RECREATION FUND ± 7KH�5HFUHDWLRQ

)XQG�LV�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�UHFUHDWLRQ

SURJUDPV��3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�LQ�WKLV
IXQG�WR�SD\�WKH�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�FRVWV�RI�WKH
SURJUDPV�SURYLGHG�WR�WKH�SXEOLF��7KH�3DUN

'LVWULFW�DWWHPSWV�WR�VHW�SURJUDP�DQG
DGPLVVLRQ�IHHV�DW�OHYHOV�WKDW�ZLOO�FRYHU�WKH

SURJUDPV¶�GLUHFW�FRVWV��7KLV�IXQG�LQFOXGHV
WKH�IROORZLQJ�QLQH�GHSDUWPHQWV�
$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ��)DFLOLWLHV��6SRUWV�3URJUDPV�

$IWHUVFKRRO�6XPPHU�<RXWK 3URJUDPV��7HHQ
3URJUDPV��$TXDWLFV��&RQFHVVLRQV��6SHFLDO

(YHQWV� 'RXJODVV�&RPPXQLW\�&HQWHU�DQG
2WKHU�3URJUDPV�

�� MUSEUM FUND ± 7KH�0XVHXP�)XQG

DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH�FXOWXUDO�DUWV�DQG�\RXWK

WKHDWHU SURJUDPV��VSHFLDO�HYHQWV�DQG
VHUYLFHV�VXFK�DV�QHLJKERUKRRG�EORFN

SDUWLHV��VXPPHU�FRQFHUWV�LQ�WKH�SDUN��DV�ZHOO
DV�GDQFH�DQG�VSHFLDO�LQWHUHVW�FODVVHV
SURYLGHG�WR�WKH�SXEOLF��7KH�6SULQJHU�&XOWXUDO

&HQWHU��WKH�9LUJLQLD�7KHDWUH�DQG�3UDLULH
)DUP�DUH�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�LQ�WKLV�IXQG�

3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�WR�SD\
DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�FRVWV�DQG�WR�KHOS�RIIVHW�WKH

RWKHU�FRVWV�RI�WKH�SURJUDPV��FRQFHUWV�DQG

VSHFLDO�HYHQWV�

�� SPECIAL RECREATION FUND ± 3URSHUW\

WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�IRU�WKLV�IXQG�WKDW�DFFRXQWV

IRU�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&�8�6SHFLDO
5HFUHDWLRQ�SURJUDP��&865���D�MRLQW
SURJUDP�RI�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�DQG�8UEDQD

3DUN�'LVWULFW��83'���7KH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�LV�WKH
DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�GLVWULFW�IRU�&865��83'�DOVR

OHYLHV�D�WD[�IRU�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�SURJUDP
DQG�$'$�SURMHFWV��ZKLFK�DUH�LQFOXGHG�DV

UHYHQXH�LQ�WKH�RYHUDOO�EXGJHW��7KH�3DUN�

'LVWULFW�SROLFLHV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV�DUH�IROORZHG�
IRU�WKLV�VSHFLILF�IXQG�

Special Revenue Funds

�� LIABILITY INSURANCE FUND ± 7KH

/LDELOLW\�,QVXUDQFH�)XQG�DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH

3DUN�'LVWULFW¶V�LQVXUDQFH�DQG�ULVN
PDQDJHPHQW�SURJUDP�DFWLYLW\��3URSHUW\

WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�WR SD\�IRU�LQVXUDQFH
FRYHUDJH�IRU�JHQHUDO�OLDELOLW\��SURSHUW\�
YHKLFOH��ZRUNHUV¶�FRPSHQVDWLRQ��SXEOLF

RIILFLDOV¶�OLDELOLW\��HPSOR\PHQW�SUDFWLFHV�

SROOXWLRQ�DQG�VWDWH�XQHPSOR\PHQW�VHUYLFHV

DQG�FKDUJHV��7D[HV�DUH�DOVR�OHYLHG�WR�SD\
IRU�DQG�DGPLQLVWHU�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW¶V�ULVN
PDQDJHPHQW�SURJUDP�

�� ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT

FUND (IMRF) ± 7KH�,05)�DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH

DFWLYLWLHV�UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW¶V
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ�LQ�WKH�,OOLQRLV�0XQLFLSDO

5HWLUHPHQW�)XQG��7R�EH�HOLJLEOH�WR
SDUWLFLSDWH��DQ�HPSOR\HH�PXVW�ZRUN������

KRXUV�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU�IRU�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�
7KH�HPSOR\HH�PXVW�FRQWULEXWH������RI

HOLJLEOH�VDODU\�ZKLOH�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�PXVW
FRQWULEXWH�DQ�DGGLWLRQDO�SHUFHQWDJH�DV
GHWDLOHG�LQ�WKH�)XQG�6XPPDU\�VHFWLRQ�

3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�WR�SD\�WKH�3DUN
'LVWULFW¶V�SRUWLRQ�

�� SOCIAL SECURITY FUND ± 7KH�),&$

)XQG�DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW¶V

FRQWULEXWLRQ�WR�6RFLDO�6HFXULW\�DQG�0HGLFDUH�
3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�WR�SD\�WKH�3DUN

'LVWULFW¶V�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�6RFLDO�6HFXULW\�DQG
0HGLFDUH�WD[�RQ�DOO�ZDJHV�SDLG�E\�WKH�3DUN

'LVWULFW�

�� AUDIT FUND ± 7KH�$XGLW�)XQG�DFFRXQWV�IRU

WKH�H[SHQGLWXUHV�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�3DUN
'LVWULFW¶V�DQQXDO�ILQDQFLDO�DXGLW��ZKLFK�LV

PDQGDWHG�E\�VWDWH�ODZ��DV�ZHOO�DV�JUDQW
DXGLWV�UHTXLUHG�XQGHU�WKH�YDULRXV�FDSLWDO
SURMHFWV�WKURXJK�WKH�6WDWH RI�,OOLQRLV�

3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�WR�SURYLGH
UHVRXUFHV�IRU�WKLV�H[SHQGLWXUH�

15



�� POLICE FUND ± 3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG

LQ�WKLV�IXQG�WR�FRQWUDFW�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\�RI

&KDPSDLJQ�IRU�XVH�RI�SROLFH�RIILFHUV�ZKHQ
DYDLODEOH��7KH�RIILFHUV�DUH�RQ�VLWH�DW�WKH

SRROV��SDUNV��IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�HYHQWV�GXULQJ�WKH
\HDU�DW�WKH�9LUJLQLD�7KHDWUH�WR�KHOS�VWDII

PDLQWDLQ�VDIH�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�HYHQWV��7KH�3DUN

'LVWULFW�DOVR�FRQWUDFWV�ZLWK�IRUPHU�SROLFH
RIILFHUV�WR�DVVLVW�LQ�PRQLWRULQJ�RI�SDUNV�DQG

IDFLOLWLHV�DV�3DUN�$PEDVVDGRUV�
Capital & Debt Funds

�� PAVING�AND LIGHTING FUND�±�3URSHUW\�

WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�IRU�WKLV�IXQG�WR�EH�XVHG�IRU�
WKH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ��PDLQWHQDQFH�DQG�OLJKWLQJ�RI�

VWUHHWV��URDGZD\V��ELNH�SDWKV��VLGHZDONV�DQG�

SDUNLQJ�ORWV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�SDUNV�DQG�IDFLOLWLHV�
PDLQWDLQHG�E\�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�

�� BOND AMORTIZATION FUND�±�3URSHUW\�

WD[HV�DUH�OHYLHG�LQ�WKLV�IXQG�WR�SD\�WKH�

SULQFLSDO��LQWHUHVW��DQG�RWKHU�SURIHVVLRQDO�

IHHV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�ERQGV�WKDW�KDYH�

EHHQ�LVVXHG�IRU�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�

�� BOND PROCEED FUNDS ��7KLV�IXQG�
DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH�DFWLYLW\�RI�WKH�ERQG�

SURFHHGV�WKDW�KDYH�EHHQ�LVVXHG�DQG�
UHFHLYHG��%RQG�SURFHHGV�DUH�UHVWULFWHG�WR��

DQG�XVHG�E\�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�IRU�WKH�

SXUFKDVH��GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�UHQRYDWLRQ�RI�

SDUN�ODQGV��EXLOGLQJV��IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�

HTXLSPHQW�DQG�DQ\�IHHV�FRQQHFWHG�ZLWK�WKH�
LVVXDQFH�RI�WKH�ERQGV��3URFHHGV�FDQ�DOVR�EH�

XVHG�WR�SD\�RII�WKH�GHEW�RQ�$OWHUQDWH�
5HYHQXH�%RQGV�

�� CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND�±�7KH�

&DSLWDO�,PSURYHPHQWV�)XQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�

DV�D�IXQGLQJ�SURJUDP�IRU�FDSLWDO�

LPSURYHPHQWV�DQG�UHSDLU�SURMHFWV�QRW�IXQGHG�
E\�RWKHU�IXQGV��0RQH\�LV�DFFXPXODWHG�LQ�D�

YDULHW\�RI�ZD\V��LQFOXGLQJ�SD\PHQW�LQ�OLHX�RI�

WD[HV��FRUSRUDWH�UHSODFHPHQW�WD[HV��VWDWH�
DQG�IHGHUDO�JUDQW�SURJUDPV��DQG�WUDQVIHUV�RI�

XQDOORFDWHG�UHVHUYH�EDODQFHV�IURP�RWKHU�

3DUN�'LVWULFW�IXQGV�

�� LAND ACQUISITION FUND�±�7KH�/DQG�

$FTXLVLWLRQ�)XQG�FDQ�RQO\�EH�XVHG�IRU�WKH

FRVWV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�DFTXLULQJ�ODQG�IRU�WKH�
3DUN�'LVWULFW�

�� PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND�±�7KH�3DUN�

'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�LQ�0D\�

�����E\�%RDUG�DFWLRQ�WR�FRPPLW�IXQGV�IRU�

IXWXUH�GHYHORSPHQWV�LQ�WKH�SDUNV�

�� TRAILS AND PATHWAYS FUND�±�7KH�

7UDLOV�DQG�3DWKZD\V�)XQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�

LQ�0D\������E\�%RDUG�DFWLRQ�WR�FRPPLW�

IXQGV�IRU�WUDLOV�DQG�SDWKZD\V�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�

3DUN�'LVWULFW�

�� MARTENS CENTER CAPITAL FUND –

7KLV�IXQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�LQ�'HFHPEHU�

�����WR�FRQWDLQ�WKH�QHZ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�

0DUWHQV�&HQWHU�IDFLOLW\�DQG�H[WHULRU�
LPSURYHPHQWV�SURSRVHG�DW�+XPDQ�.LQHWLFV�

3DUN��WKURXJK�GRQDWLRQV�DQG�IXQGUDLVLQJ�

HIIRUWV��7KH�SURMHFW�ZDV�FRPSOHWHG�LQ�

6HSWHPEHU�������EXW�UHPDLQV�DFWLYH�XQWLO�DOO�

IXQGV�UHFHLYHG�

Other Funds

�� ACTIVITY FUND ± 7KLV�IXQG�DFFRXQWV�IRU

VSHFLDO�PRQLHV�IURP�$GRSW�$�3DUN
SURJUDPV� 7KH�3DUN�'LVWULFW�DGPLQLVWHUV�WKH

DFFRXQWV��DQG�WKH\�DUH�DXGLWHG�ZLWK�WKH
RWKHU�3DUN�'LVWULFW�IXQGV��(DFK�JURXS�LV
UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�LWV�RZQ�EXGJHW��EXW�WKH

DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�DFFRXQWV�LV�GRQH�E\
3DUN�'LVWULFW�VWDII�

�� SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND ± 7KH

6SHFLDO�'RQDWLRQV�)XQG�LV�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW

IRU�GRQDWLRQV�DQG�JLIWV�WKDW�DUH�JLYHQ
VSHFLILFDOO\�WR�WKH�3DUN�'LVWULFW��DQG�WR�NHHS

WUDFN�RI�VFKRODUVKLS�UHYHQXH�DQG
H[SHQGLWXUHV��$V�RI�WKH�HQG�RI�WKH�)<�����

D�PDMRULW\�RI�WKH�GROODUV�LQ�WKLV�IXQG�ZHUH

WUDQVIHUUHG�RYHU�WR�WKH�3DUNV�)RXQGDWLRQ�

�� WORKING CASH FUND ± 7KH�:RUNLQJ

&DVK�)XQG�FDQ�RQO\�EH�XVHG�IRU�WHPSRUDU\

ORDQV�WR�RWKHU�IXQGV��7KH�EDODQFH�LQ�WKLV
IXQG�LV�PDLQWDLQHG DW����������ZLWK�DQ\
H[FHVV�IURP�LQWHUHVW�HDUQHG�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU

FUHGLWHG�WR�WKH�*HQHUDO�)XQG��1R EXGJHW�LV

QHHGHG�IRU�WKLV�IXQG�

16



���������� ���� ������������

������� 

���� 

�������

���������� 

���� �������

������ 

���� 

�������

�������
���������� 

���� 

�������

������� 

������� 

�����

������� 

� ���� 

�����

����� 
����

����� 
�����

� � � � � � �

� � �

�

� �

�

� � � �

�

�

� � �

�

� � �

� �

� �

�

���� ���� ��������� �� ��� ����� ����� �� ������� ������ ���� ���� ������� ������������ ����� 
����������� ��� ��������� �� ��� ������������ ����������� ������� �� ��� ������ ��������� ��� ��� 
������������ �� ���� �� ����� ������

�������� ����

����������

���������

����������

����������

��������������

����������� � 
������ ����� 
��������

��������

�����������

����� 
��������

��������

������� ������

�������� 
�������

���� ��������

������

17



Organizational Chart FYE2024

84 Full-Time Authorized Positions

18



FINANCIAL SUMMARIES
Combined Fund Analysis
Budget Analysis

The Park District has prepared a budget for FYE2024 that shows a surplus operating budget, and a deficit
capital budget as excess funds are used from prior years to complete projects. A balanced budget is a budget
where operating revenues meet or exceed operating expenditures. Reserve balances are not considered an
operating revenue source, but have been utilized in the Champaign-Urbana Special Recreation fund to
continue to meet ADA improvements throughout the Park District as well as the Capital Improvement Fund for
capital projects. The priorities for the year involve addressing the needs of the Park District by being more
effective and efficient in daily operations and in the pursuit of excellence. The budget reflects the priorities set
by the Park Board of focusing on using current resources only for operations while planning for larger capital
projects in the future such as improvements for trails and pathways throughout the Park District, Martens
Center and saving for future land acquisition. Staff continue to follow the high standards and best practices
implemented by the Park District over the years to provide and maintain our current level of services.

Carryover/Reserve Balance

Since the 120-day reserve requirement was established in 2008, the Park District continues to exceed the
minimum 120-day operating reserves in each of the main operating funds specifically: General Recreation and
Museum Funds. The Board continues to set aside funds annually for land acquisition, park development and
trails/pathways. Excess funds are carried over from the prior year and/or assigned to capital development in
FYE2024 for the following projects totalling $1,347,500:

 Dodds Tennis Center Roof Replacement $450,000

 Greenbelt Bikeway Connection $400,000 (reduction from prior years as some items were excluded.)

from the project thereby lowering the cost.

 Douglass Outdoor Basketball Courts $110,000

 Parkland Way Replacement Section $100,000

 Davidson Park Playground Replacement $75,000

 Porter Park Electric Power $33,000

 Mower Replacement $30,000

 West Side Park Bandshell Renovation $26,000

 Hays Center HVAC Replacement $25,000

 Carle @ the Fields Trail Nodes $25,000

 Website Updgrades $25,000

 Operations "Shop" Gutters $18,000

 Lindsay Garden Renovation $12,500

 Dog Park Agility Stations $12,000

 Springer Center Drainage Study & Plan $6,000

Revenues:

REAL ESTATE TAXES

Historically, real estate taxes average 70% of the Park District's total revenues excluding transfers. The
current year portion is 69.4%, which is slightly lower than past years due to anticipaton of additional
programming fees and interest income. Tax revenues are budgeted at $15,655,189, or 7.10% more than the
prior year actual receipts. In calendar year 2022, also referred to as revenue year (RY), the assessed
valuation of the Park District increased 6.5% from the previous year as a result of new construction and
annexation of new properties into the City boundaries. It is anticipated that the property taxes will increase
approximately 5.0% in calendar year 2023 which is the maximum amount allowed under PTELL, compared to
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) of 4.7% as of December 2021. The CPI was 8.0% as of December 2022 and
will impact RY2024 in FYE2025.

19



REPLACEMENT TAXES (PPRT) 

Due to the volatility of this revenue source in the last few years, and no current projections for FYE2024
revenue by the Illinois Department of Revenue, funding levels were reduced from current year projections for
budget purposes. All receipts for this line item are credited to the Capital Improvements Fund.

NON-TAX REVENUE SOURCES

Non-tax revenues are not derived from property or replacement taxes. The Park District’s goal is to strive to
have the non-tax revenues be at least 25% of the total revenue source. Actual non-tax revenues for the prior
fiscal year ended at 32.01%. These non-tax revenues include interest income, program income (charges for
services), sponsorships, concessions, special receipts, grants and others with further detailed information
below. Current year budgeted figures indicate non-tax revenue will be 30.9% of total revenue.

INTEREST INCOME

The Federal Reserve has been regularly increasing interest rates, with their most recent 0.25% increase
on February 1, 2023.  We are now at 4.58% reflecting an increase from 0.10% at February 1, 2022. The
rapid rise in rates is intended to slow the economy to bring inflation to 2% or lower.  The increases are
having a very positive impact on the revenue in the upcoming budget year. Interest Income is projected to
be just over $1 million in FYE2023, and is increasing by almost 25%, to $1,245,594 in FYE2024. The
Park District invests reserves in a variety of financial institutions concisting of a few long-term CD's with
local banks, funds with the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund (IMET), the IPDLAF+ Fund which is
specifically for park, conservation districts and forest preserves, and Illinois Funds, an investment pool of
funds from government agencies accross the state for municpalites and other taxing bodies.

20



Reinvestments of those funds will likely be at4% or higher throughout FYE2024.

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 

Program income generally is derived from a variety of sources – summer youth and sport camps;
preschool and after school programs; adult and youth sport leagues; tennis programs; facility programs
such as fitness, dance and birthday programs; movies and events at the Virginia Theatre; special
recreation programs and activities, pool passes and memberships. Program income is projected to
increase by $613,083 or 25.71%. This primarily results from increases in program participation and
upward adjustment of fee schedules in several programs; particularly Sholem Pool, Leonhard Recreation
Center and Martens Center.

CONTRIBUTIONS/SPONSORSHIPS

This line item typically includes sponsorship money for various special events and programming. In
addition, this is where Scholarship funds are received from program fees along with the fundraisers. Most
contributions/donations/sponsorships come through the Parks Foundatiion, a 501(c)3
organization.related to the District. Such contributions include the budgeted $300,000 for improvements
at the Douglass Park baseball fields, and $250,000 for the Virginia Theatre restoration fund. In addition,
scholarship funds are raised by the Parks Foundation, and forwarded to the Park District to use towards
various program fees. Combined contributions/sponsorship revenues are budgeted to increase 135.0%
from FYE2023 including the $550,000 from the Foundation above.

MERCHANDISE/CONCESSIONS

This line item includes sales of merchandise and concessions throughout the Park District at the pool,
sports programs, tournaments, events, and performances at the Virginia Theatre. Combined
merchandise/concessions revenue is projected to increase by 14.8% driven by both increased volume
and increases in the price of merchandise and concession items. The concessions for the Dodds Soccer
Complex continues to be vending machine sales only.

GRANTS

Capital grant revenues increased $1,262,565 for grant projects completed at the end of FYE2022 and will
be submitted for reimbursement in FYE2023 to the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR)
public museum grant program for Virginia Theatre HVAC $750,000; IDNR OSLAD grant for Spalding
Park improvements $173,500; balance of Human Kinetics Park OSLAD $200,000 and IDNR Illinois
Bicycle Path grant to improve the Greenbelt bikeway extension for $200,000. The revenue on those
projects is not  reflected in the fund revenues unless the reimbursement is received within sixty-days of
the fiscal year end. As such, expect to see all of the previous payments in FYE2024 with the exception of
the Greenbelt bikeway grant.

The Park District has applied for an Illinois Arts Council grant for Museum Fund programs for September
to August 2022 which has not been determined by the State. These grants are recorded based on

21



expenditures incurred and will not agree to the budgeted grant award for current fiscal year due to the
overlap of the grant years and fiscal years.

SPECIAL RECEIPTS AND OTHER REIMBURSEMENTS

Special receipts include money received from the City of Champaign in lieu of property taxes on the Kraft
property, easement fees collected during the year, rental income and reimbursements. The Martens
Center includes a rental component with the Don Moyer Boys and Girls Club for the first full year. These
receipts increased by $62,241 or 20.0% for FYE2024.

22



INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Schedule of Interfund Transfers

Source Fund Receiving Fund

Amount of 

Transfer

Recurring / Non-

Recurring Purpose

General Capital Improvements $0 Non-Recurring Capital

General Land Acquisition 100,000 Recurring

Capital - Future Land 
Acquisition

General Park Development 100,000 Recurring

Capital - Future Park 
Development

General Trails and Pathways 100,000 Recurring

Capital - Future Trails 
and Pathways

Recreation Capital Improvements 0 Non-Recurring Capital

Bond Amortization Bond Proceeds 1,319,500 Recurring

Debt Service Payment 
2020 GO Bond

Total Transfers $1,619,500

Summary Schedule of Effect of Interfund Transfers Per Fund

Fund Amount Received

Amount 

Provided Net Effect Non-Recurring Amount

General $0 $300,000 ($300,000) $0

Recreation 0 0 0 0

Bond Amortization 1,319,500 0 1,319,500 0

Bond Proceeds 0 1,319,500 (1,319,500) 0

Land Acquisition 100,000 0 100,000 0

Park Development 100,000 0 100,000 0

Trails and Pathways 100,000 0 100,000 0

Total Net Effect $0 $0

Transfers allow the Park District to utilize accumulated savings to fund a significant amount of capital projects 

in the upcoming years. Those details are provided below.

23



CHAMPAIGN PARKS FOUNDATION

The Parks Foundation was created in 2005. The mission of the Parks Foundation is to provide
philanthropic support for the Park District. Tax dollars are limited and do not provide enough funds for
projects, scholarships, land acquisition and development, park and playground equipment, or facility
renovation. The Parks Foundation keeps parks and recreation resources available for years to come.

Expenditures:

SALARIES AND WAGES

FYE2024 includes 84 full-time positions with 5 of those open, but expected to be filled in the next few
months. Typically in May, the Park District employs roughly 400 employees, including the full-time staff.
This year, the Park District has 386 staff as of December 2022 but there will be a surge of seasonal
additons nearer spring. Overall salaries and wages are projected to increase 17.8% over the prior year
actual. Typically, the Board approves a merit pool for eligible full-time staff in April. The board updated the
wage classification schedule to better align with the increase in minimum wage and competitive forces for
labor. Those classifications were approved at the December 2022 board meeting and are in effect from
December 1, 2022 through April 30, 2024.

FRINGE BENEFITS

This includes social security taxes, IMRF, allowances for cell phones/vehicles, health, dental, life, vision
insurance, as well as taxable fringe benefits selected by staff. Examples of Park District taxable fringe
benefits defined by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) include pool passes, Leonhard recreation
membership passes, fitness reimbursements, and value of life insurance over $50,000 as deemed by the
IRS calculations. The number of employees enrolled in IMRF increased from 89 to 97 since April 2022 as
employees continue to work within their scheduled hours and staff are monitoring other employees that
may be nearing the 1,000 hour eligibility factor for enrollment. While the number of eligible IMRF
participants decrease in Tier 1 it is projected there will be a reduction in employer expenditures as the
overall employer contribution rate continues to decrease annually; however this is purely based on the
actuarial valuation methods used by IMRF and the overall market earnings, which can unexpectedly
change. The rate for January 2023 is 2.3%, down from the 5.46% rate in 2022. Staff anticipate the rate
for calendar year 2024 will be higher than 2023 as there were a couple of retirements of long-term
employees, coupled with the market performance not meeting expectations. The Park District budgets
health insurance as though everyone eligible will elect coverage. Other benefits, such as IMRF and social
security are calculated on wages as defined by the applicable legislative body, therefore as personnel
numbers increase a similar increase is reflected in benefits.

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

Contractual services include any type of professional service or contract that the Park District has entered
into. These expenditures are 22.5% higher than the prior year. This includes but is not limited to,
professional fees, architects and engineering services, audit services, legal services, mowing contracts,
credit card fees for processing program fees collected, sales tax fees paid on concessions, annual
maintenance fees associated with software, licenses, dues and memberships, equipment rentals,
conference and travel, contractual entertainment, and actuarial services required under the accounting
standard related to other post-employment benefits. Limited printing of the program guide kept the
increase in printing expense minimal. Personnel expenditures increase as more employees are added,
resulting in additional background checks, drug tests, payroll fees, and any other training expenditures.

COMMODITIES AND SUPPLIES

An 11.5% increase is projected for FYE2024. Basic line items such as office supplies, building
maintenance, landscape supplies, cleaning, janitorial supplies,and repair parts increased just above the
rate of inflation. While Park District facilities, equipment and programs continue to grow and age. Summer
Youth Programming and preschool is planned to operate at full capacity as are many other programs
including the Virginia Theatre. 

UTILITIES

Utilities are projected to increase 7.6%. The Park District is part of an electric and gas cooperative which

24



helps to reduce costs.  The electric cooperative renewed in FYE2022 with a substantial rate increase.
The full year operation of the Martens Center has also added costs, as planned.

INSURANCE

Insurance expenditures increased 80.5% over the prior year. (This is misleading becuase the projected
figure in the budget is only 1/2 the premium.) The Park District benefits from participating in the insurance
risk pool with PDRMA. The most significant benefit is sharing the risk with a larger group of employers
thereby reducing the impact of large premium increases. As payroll expenditures fluctuate, so does the
amount of workers compensation premiums. There is a two year lag between the actual expenditures and
when that impacts the future rates. The Park District falls into two categories, administration and
maintenance, with maintenance carrying a higher cost/unit for coverage.

ROUTINE/PERIODIC MAINTENANCE

Routine and periodic maintenance and repairs are segregated from the capital budgets and a separate
budget line is utilized to better track the annual and periodic expenditures to maintain or replace existing
infrastructure or equipment under the capitalization thresholds. This mostly consists of general concrete,
park amenities, roadway repairs, fibar for playgrounds, sports field mix for the ball fields, along with
periodic carpet replacement, painting, HVAC repairs, etc. The following is a listing of the items included in
the FYE2024 budget for this category.

25



��������� ���� ��������
���� ���� ����� ��� ����

������� �� �������� ��� ������ ���� �� ��������

������� �������� �����

������� � �������� �����������

������  ��� ��������� ���������

������  ������� �������� ���������

������  ������� �������� ���������

������  ������� ������� ���������

������  ������� ������� ����� ��������

������  ���� ��������� ���������

������  ������� �������� ���������

������  ���������� ��������� ������� ���������

������  ����������� ��� ���� �������� ���������

������  ���������� ����������

������� ����������� ����������

������  �������� �������� ������ �������� ����� ��� ���� �������� ���

������  ������� ���� ���� ���� ��������� ���

������  ������� ������ ���������� ��������� ���

������  ������� ������� ��� � ���� ���������

������  �������� ����� ���� ����������� ���������

������  ������ ���� ����� ������ ���������

�������� ����������� ���������

����� ������� � �������� ����������� ����������

��� � ����� ���� ���� ����� ������ �������

26



CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Park District has $4,937,882 budgeted for capital expenditures. More detail on the capital programs
and project schedule is available in the Capital and Debt section of this document. Capital expenditures
related specifically to the Special Recreation capital/ADA projects for both the Park District and Urbana
Park District total $3,262.

DEBT SERVICE

Total debt service for principal and interest in FYE2024 is 2.6% more than the prior year. As the principal
payment increases annually, the interest expenditure is reduced, however not at a proportionate level.
The amount paid is set by the bond amortization schedule in the loan documents, and further outlined in
the “Capital and Debt” section for the bond amortization fund. The debt service interest expenditure
includes the annual interest due on the limited general obligation bonds. 

Overall, the financial condition of the Park District is excellent. Targeted operating reserve balances have
not only been reached, but maintained for over twelve years and budgeted to be maintained in the future.
Operating budgets are balanced. Overall fund balances are projected to end FYE2024 at $38,898,697 on
a modified accrual basis of accounting, which far exceeds the 120-day reserve requirement for the three
main operating funds by $23,276,918.

The data expressed in the “Expenditures per Capita” subsequent chart represents how the Park District is
utilizing its resources based on the total estimated population within the Park District. The census
estimate used for FYE2021 through FYE2022 calculation is 88,909. The census estimate as utilized for
FYE2023 and FYE2024 is 89,114. Based on this formula, the annual cost to each resident within the Park
District’s taxing and  FYE2024 is $235.19 which breaks down to 76.4% operating and 23.6% capital. This
benchmark is a useful measurement tool to compare the Park District to other park districts throughout
the State. What is not reflected here, is that some of the excess funds accumulated in prior years are
being utilized in FYE2024 to pay for various expenditures, mainly capital projects in the current year.

27



28



BUDGET SUMMARY ALL FUNDS COMBINED

FYE2021
Actual

FYE2022
Actual

FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Proposed

%
Change
from PY

Estimated Revenues
Property Tax Revenue $13,385,617 $13,955,388 $14,612,674 $15,655,189 %7.1

Personal Property Replacement
Taxes 370,019 806,545 900,000 850,000 %(5.6)

Charge for Service Revenue 595,335 1,999,631 2,384,557 2,997,641 %25.7

Contributions/Sponsorships 2,507,829 3,738,094 465,463 1,094,060 %135.0

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 4,974 111,722 227,526 261,108 %14.8

Operating Grants - - 1,250 - %(100.0)

Grants 697,348 471,669 34,501 1,297,066 %3,659.5

Special Receipts 357,203 258,930 310,644 372,885 %20.0

Interest Income 106,895 49,990 1,003,074 1,245,594 %24.2

Transfers from Other Funds 2,239,379 4,346,748 2,875,963 1,619,500 %(43.7)

Total Estimated Revenues 20,264,599 25,738,717 22,815,652 25,393,043 %11.3

Appropriations
Salaries and Wages

Full-Time Salaries & Wages 3,636,714 3,976,899 3,904,263 4,653,118 %19.2

Part-Time and Seasonal Wages 570,047 1,551,335 2,062,380 2,375,115 %15.2

Subtotal: Salaries and Wages 4,206,761 5,528,234 5,966,643 7,028,233 %17.8

Fringe Benefits 1,229,561 1,370,205 1,432,713 1,584,800 %10.6

Contractual 1,169,146 1,657,688 2,086,422 2,555,710 %22.5

Commodities/Supplies 436,376 781,212 991,206 1,105,125 %11.5

Utilities 465,920 601,041 769,104 827,907 %7.6

Insurance 239,631 210,871 150,252 271,150 %80.5

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 215,511 175,753 215,886 468,600 %117.1

Capital Outlay 4,861,588 11,323,709 3,433,417 4,937,882 %43.8

Debt Service - Principal 460,000 480,000 495,000 515,000 %4.0

Debt Service - Interest/Fees 84,998 64,801 51,000 45,000 %(11.8)

Transfers to Other Funds 2,239,379 4,346,748 2,875,963 1,619,500 %(43.7)

Total Appropriations 15,608,871 26,540,262 18,467,606 20,958,907 %10.8

Net Revenues Over (Under)
Appropriations 4,655,728 (801,545) 4,348,046 4,434,136 %2.0

Beginning Fund Balance-All Funds

Subtotal: Beginning Fund Balance-All
Funds 26,262,332 30,918,060 30,116,515 34,464,561 %14.4

Ending Fund Balance-All Funds $30,918,060 $30,116,515 $34,464,561 $38,898,697 %12.9

29



Fund Balance Summary

Projected
Balance 5/1

Budgeted
Revenues /
Transfers

Budgeted
Expd /

Transfers

Net
Revenues

Over
(Under)
Expd

Projected
Balance

4/30
120-Day
Reserve

Excess
Funds over

120-Day
Reserve

General $12,267,592 $ 7,810,759 $ (5,758,098) $ 2,052,661 $14,320,253 $1,794,443 $12,525,810

Recreation 4,566,258 5,029,637 (3,957,968) 1,071,669 5,637,927 1,301,250 4,336,677

Museum 5,979,518 3,581,419 (2,367,989) 1,213,430 7,192,948 778,517 6,414,431

Special Recreation 2,835,759 1,387,787 (1,332,747) 55,040 2,890,799 - -

Total Operating Funds $25,649,127 $17,809,602 $(13,416,802) $ 4,392,800 $30,041,927 $3,874,210 $23,276,918

Liability Insurance 682,485 424,183 (504,990) (80,807) 601,678 - -

IMRF 513,828 242,257 (263,520) (21,263) 492,565 - -

Social Security 174,867 532,364 (470,000) 62,364 237,231 - -

Audit 9,424 36,000 (34,500) 1,500 10,924 - -

Police 54,827 44,349 (40,000) 4,349 59,176 - -

Total Other Special
Revenue Funds $ 1,435,431 $ 1,279,153 $ (1,313,010) $ (33,857) $ 1,401,574 $ - $ -

Bond Amortization 21,564 1,319,500 (1,319,500) - 21,564

Bond Proceeds 67,059 1,371,115 (1,905,500) (534,385) (467,326)

Paving and Lighting 448,133 127,215 (191,100) (63,885) 384,248

Capital Improvement 4,062,822 2,518,819 (2,611,095) (92,276) 3,970,546

Land Acquisition 1,376,903 141,539 - 141,539 1,518,442

Park Development 882,334 278,525 (66,900) 211,625 1,093,959

Trails and Pathways 618,195 125,568 - 125,568 743,763

Martens Center (471,459) 378,072 - 378,072 (93,387)

Total Capital Funds $ 7,005,551 $ 6,260,353 $ (6,094,095) $ 166,258 $ 7,171,809

Special Donations 145,303 43,935 (135,000) (91,065) 54,238

Activity (20,851) - - - (20,851)

Total Other Funds $ 374,452 $ 43,935 $ (135,000) $ (91,065) $ 283,387

Total All Funds
Combined $34,464,561 $25,393,043 $(20,958,907) $ 4,434,136 $38,898,697 $3,874,210 $23,276,918

30



Champaign Park District SUMMARY
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

     REVENUES

R01.41010  Property Taxes (13,044,842) (13,600,108 ) (14,244,046 ) (15,259,664)

R01.41011  Property Taxes - CPD-IMRF/FICA (15,111) (15,754) (16,346) (21,900)

R01.41015  Property Taxes - CPD ADA (325,664) (339,526 ) (352,282 ) (373,625 )

     PROPERTY TAXES (13,385,617) (13,955,388 ) (14,612,674 ) (15,655,189)

R100.41020  Replacement Taxes (370,019) (806,545 ) (900,000 ) (850,000 )

     REPLACEMENT TAXES (370,019) (806,545 ) (900,000 ) (850,000 )

R02.42100  Season Ticket Sales 0 (84,069) (127,008 ) (158,100 )

R02.42105  Daily Admission Sales 0 (243,654 ) 0 (252,122 )

R02.48110  Ball Machine Usage (1,142) (2,078 ) (2,100 ) (2,100)

R02.48111  Random Court Time (49,434) (107,031 ) (103,000 ) (104,000 )

R02.48112  Private Lessons (53,958) (46,597) (15,000) (22,000)

R02.48115  Racquet Stringing (1,826) (2,557 ) (1,500 ) (1,500)

R02.48120  Vending Machine Sales 0 0 (3,500 ) (3,500)

R02.49115  Program Fees (440,795) (1,969,080) (2,708,899) (2,972,692)

R02.49116  Vendor Portion Of Income 7,520 539,364 689,905 665,098

R02.49175  Special Events (50) (595 ) (955 ) (750)

R02.49260  Membership Fees (55,468) (83,565) (112,500 ) (145,975 )

R02.47111  Restoration Fee (182) 0 0 0

     CHARGES FOR SERVICES (595,335) (1,999,862) (2,384,557) (2,997,641)

R03.47100  Sponsorships (1,815) (25,946) (42,700) (51,610)

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 1

31



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-1
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

R03.47105  Donations (2,222,384) (3,430,278) (148,495 ) (773,300 )

R03.47106  Contributions-UPD CUSR Operating (118,827) (112,652 ) (117,199 ) (111,000 )

R03.47107  Contributions_UPD CUSR Op IMRF/FICA (15,175) (22,728) (22,782) (21,900)

R03.47108  Contributions-UPD CUSR ADA Portion (104,228) (105,300 ) (108,868 ) (103,000 )

R03.47115  Scholarship Donations (44,105) (36,233) (19,000) (25,000)

R03.47116  CUSR Scholarship Donations (328) (1,237 ) (4,169 ) (6,000)

R03.47258  Donations (967) (3,720 ) (2,250 ) (2,250)

     CONTRIBUTIONS/SPONSORSHIPS (2,507,829) (3,738,094) (465,463 ) (1,094,060)

R04.48100  Concession Revenue (3,125) (102,273 ) (213,001 ) (246,108 )

R04.48105  Merchandise For Resale (1,849) (5,690 ) (6,000 ) (6,000)

R04.48239  Merchandise For Resale 0 (3,759) (8,525 ) (9,000)

     MERCHANDISE/CONCESSION REVENUE (4,974) (111,722 ) (227,526 ) (261,108 )

R06.47201  Grant Proceeds - Federal Capital 2,500 0 0 0

R06.47200  Grant Proceeds - Operating Local (34,825) (6,325 ) (6,250 ) (6,250)

R06.47203  Grant Proceeds - Operatng State (11,700) (5,100 ) (6,000 ) (5,750)

R06.47205  Grant Proceeds - Local (5,197) 0 (23,501) (20,500)

R06.47202  Grant Proceeds - State Capital (648,126) (460,244 ) 0 (1,264,566)

     GRANTS (697,348) (471,669 ) (35,751) (1,297,066)

R08.43030  Interest Income (106,895) (49,990) (1,003,074) (1,245,594)

     INTEREST INCOME (106,895) (49,990) (1,003,074) (1,245,594)

R09.44100  Facility Rental (42,871) (142,636 ) (153,031 ) (204,561 )

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 2

32



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-2
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

R09.46150  Special Receipts (224,997) (107,033 ) (143,051 ) (152,474 )

R09.46160  Other Reimbursements (89,335) (9,261 ) (14,562) (15,850)

     SPECIAL RECEIPTS (357,203) (258,930 ) (310,644 ) (372,885 )

RT1.46500  Transfer In from Other Funds (2,239,379) (4,346,748) (2,875,963) (1,619,500)

     TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS (2,239,379) (4,346,748) (2,875,963) (1,619,500)

     TOTAL REVENUES (20,264,599) (25,738,948 ) (22,815,652 ) (25,393,043)

     APPROPRIATIONS

     SALARIES AND WAGES

S11.70201  Full-Time Salaries and Wages 3,636,714 3,976,899 3,904,263 4,653,118

     FULL-TIME SALARIES AND WAGES 3,636,714 3,976,899 3,904,263 4,653,118

S12.70202  Part-Time Seasonal Wages 570,047 1,551,335 2,062,380 2,375,115

     PART-TIME SEASONAL WAGES 570,047 1,551,335 2,062,380 2,375,115

     TOTAL SALARIES AND WAGES 4,206,761 5,528,234 5,966,643 7,028,233

S02.53132  Dental Insurance 19,477 20,539 22,259 24,000

S02.53133  Medical Health Insurance 593,243 613,618 591,622 686,300

S02.53134  Life Insurance 6,679 8,036 13,538 14,200

S02.53135  IMRF Expenditures 218,166 244,024 254,954 277,020

S02.53136  Fica Payments 316,978 418,063 474,000 495,000

S02.53137  Employee Assistance Program 2,496 2,536 3,000 3,000

S02.83003  Allowances/Reimbursements 72,522 63,389 73,340 85,280

     FRINGE BENEFITS 1,229,561 1,370,205 1,432,713 1,584,800

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 3

33



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-3
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

S03.54201  Postage And Mailing Expense 3,649 8,055 8,761 9,830

S03.54202  Printing And Duplication 8,001 16,969 23,504 25,533

S03.54204  Staff Meetings 63 662 1,610 2,120

S03.54205  Legal Publications/Notices 4,288 1,971 2,227 4,164

S03.54206  Advertising/Publicity 18,795 65,329 79,181 97,429

S03.54207  Staff Training 8,325 25,519 33,795 46,778

S03.54208  Memberships, Dues And Fees 27,758 35,252 32,287 45,885

S03.54209  Conference And Travel 4,388 16,916 49,155 76,517

S03.54210  Board Expense 518 1,548 4,000 5,000

S03.54212  Attorney Fees 148,809 130,832 125,000 150,000

S03.54214  Architect And Engineering Fees 74,938 36,552 35,600 45,000

S03.54215  Professional Services 264,231 241,686 75,928 94,300

S03.54217  Audit Expenditures 23,780 29,920 30,000 34,500

S03.54234  Landfill Fees 32,871 33,609 40,800 44,845

S03.54236  Auto Allowance 415 279 125 325

S03.54240  Office Equipment Repairs 0 0 0 200

S03.54241  Vehicle Repair 9,014 15,566 16,525 17,000

S03.54242  Equipment Repair 10,762 28,151 58,450 73,452

S03.54245  Building Repair 13,069 39,005 45,850 70,850

S03.54250  Rental Equipment 15,802 41,324 90,360 70,701

S03.54251  Rental Facilities 18,714 24,250 35,224 45,760

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 4

34



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-4
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

S03.54253  Pest Control 5,255 6,376 5,636 7,395

S03.54254  Service Contracts 60,424 60,670 58,636 81,149

S03.54255  License And Fees 43,807 38,202 59,045 61,930

S03.54260  Service Contracts-Facilities 71,455 88,944 113,220 121,096

S03.54261  Service Contracts-Grounds 28,764 31,267 82,000 63,000

S03.54263  Contractual Mowing 153,308 166,834 188,000 200,000

S03.54264  Cell Phone Expense 8,911 9,616 6,500 6,978

S03.54265  Subscriptions 1,161 887 1,904 1,781

S03.54270  Personnel Costs 17,269 87,763 145,850 160,700

S03.54271  Petty Cash 100 50 700 700

S03.54275  Health And Wellness 1,410 1,660 2,500 4,500

S03.54280  Other Contractual Services 8,360 41,683 92,523 142,501

S03.54281  Contractual Personnel 27,711 75,775 100,501 108,089

S03.54282  Intern Stipends 1,200 200 2,900 4,800

S03.54285  Contractual Entertainment 7,100 113,006 242,173 273,430

S03.54291  Park And Recreation Excellence 3,239 1,437 1,500 3,000

S03.54292  Scholarships 8,284 51,002 65,000 65,000

S03.54299  Field/Special Trips (50) 6,933 16,548 95,403

S03.59412  Property/Sales Tax 6,346 11,029 20,804 22,819

S03.59414  Credit Card Fees 21,706 72,522 85,100 101,250

S03.59415  Transfer To Parks Foundation-Restricted 5,196 6,114 7,000 70,000

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 5

35



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-5
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

S03.90000  Extraordinary Loss-Investment 0 (7,677) 0 0

     CONTRACTUAL 1,169,146 1,657,688 2,086,422 2,555,710

S04.55301  Office Supplies 10,402 18,632 15,720 21,795

S04.55302  Envelopes And Stationary 771 1,056 1,560 1,680

S04.55303  Duplicating Supplies 1,043 2,756 3,700 5,680

S04.55304  Checks And Bank Supplies 1,425 951 1,000 1,200

S04.55305  Photographic Supplies 0 61 700 800

S04.55306  CPR Books And Supplies (Tort Fund) 4,596 2,498 4,600 4,600

S04.55307  Books And Manuscripts 780 1,208 903 1,330

S04.55308  First Aid/Medical Supplies-Pool Specific 433 13,293 4,600 8,380

S04.55309  Safety Supplies 10,176 6,732 6,000 8,500

S04.55315  Staff Uniforms 11,592 24,170 37,418 42,138

S04.55316  Participant Uniforms 3,421 19,163 20,920 21,201

S04.55320  Building Maintenance Supplies 49,795 73,155 66,600 72,265

S04.55321  Landscape Supplies 23,870 37,276 49,900 46,500

S04.55322  Janitorial Supplies 14,821 29,973 34,850 40,356

S04.55323  Playground Maintenance Supplies 5,262 2,380 5,000 6,000

S04.55324  Prescribed Burn Supplies 0 643 750 1,000

S04.55325  Equipment And Tools 8,530 18,377 15,900 31,000

S04.55326  Shop Equipment And Supplies 5,882 5,440 6,000 7,000

S04.55327  Vehicle/Equipment Repair Parts 38,495 31,446 34,200 34,000

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 6

36



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-6
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

S04.55328  Amenity Maintenance Supplies 8,356 12,218 10,000 10,000

S04.55329  Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 6,643 1,385 8,790 13,300

S04.55330  Gas,Fuel,Grease And Oil 42,039 75,565 113,000 120,100

S04.55331  Chemicals 20,726 73,283 80,650 88,000

S04.55332  Paints 2,456 10,841 21,300 21,550

S04.55333  Plant Materials 110,465 121,938 140,800 126,000

S04.55348  Flowers And Gifts 1,080 664 1,650 2,350

S04.55349  Plaques,Awards,Prizes 3,497 14,314 20,130 28,115

S04.55350  Recreation/Program Supplies 43,946 95,154 132,895 154,765

S04.55351  Animal Supplies 0 797 1,000 1,500

S04.55352  Fish Restocking 1,528 0 3,000 3,000

S04.55354  Food Supplies 1,371 30,166 61,170 85,080

S04.55355  Animal Feed 121 1,626 1,500 2,000

S04.55360  Merchandise For Resale 2,854 54,051 84,500 91,940

     COMMODITIES/SUPPLIES 436,376 781,212 990,706 1,103,125

S05.56230  Sanitary Fees And Charges 15,127 21,584 17,660 23,320

S05.56231  Gas And Electricity 243,189 343,762 477,651 514,447

S05.56232  Water 141,387 166,628 198,349 209,964

S05.56233  Telecomm Expenditures 66,217 69,067 75,444 80,176

     UTILITIES 465,920 601,041 769,104 827,907

S06.57131  Workers Compensation 89,982 71,119 1,000 95,000

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 7

37



SUMMARY-7

Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

10,558 10,739 752 2,500

41,614 39,920 47,000 56,700

17,972 15,220 14,000 16,450

79,505 73,873 87,500 100,500

239,631 210,871 150,252 271,150

36,317 13,101 68,098 91,500

155,062 143,987 122,788 352,100

24,132 18,665 25,000 25,000

215,511 175,753 215,886 468,600

460,000 480,000 495,000 515,000

460,000 480,000 495,000 515,000

84,998 64,801 51,000 45,000

84,998 64,801 51,000 45,000

144,727 10,845 256,500 370,000

4,629,245 11,139,695 3,106,917 4,071,620

23,188 142,390 0 306,262

64,428 30,779 70,000 190,000

4,861,588 11,323,709 3,433,417 4,937,882

Champaign Park District
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account

S06.57137  Unemployment Premium

S06.57220  Liability Insurance

S06.57222  Employment Practices

S06.57224  Property Insurance

     INSURANCE

S07.58001  Periodic Maintenance

S07.58002  Routine Maintenance

S07.58003  ADA Non-Capital Expenditures

     ROUTINE/PERIODIC MAINTENANCE

S08.59405  Bond Redemption

     DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL

S09.59407  Interest Expense

     DEBT SERVICE INTEREST/FEES

S15.61504  Vehicles / Equipment

S15.61508  Park Construction/ImSrovements

S15.61509  UPD Capital ADA

S15.61515  Repair Projects And Equipment

     CAPITAL OUTLAY

S10.59409  Transfers To Other Funds 2,239,379 4,346,748 2,875,963 1,619,500

     TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS 2,239,379 4,346,748 2,875,963 1,619,500

     TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 15,608,871 26,540,262 18,467,106 20,956,907

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 8

38



Champaign Park District SUMMARY-8
Year End: April 30, 2023

TB Budget Grouping with Account Totals - All Funds

Budget Group/Account Rep 04/21 Rep 04/22 Projected 04/23 Proposed 04/24

     NET REVENUE (OVER) UNDER APPROPRIATIONS (4,655,728) 801,314 (4,348,046) (4,434,136)

2/18/2023

2:31 PM Page 9

39



General Fund
Principal Responsibilities
The General Fund is the Park District's major operating fund and accounts for all revenues and expenditures
that by law, or for administrative control, are not accounted for in separate funds. This fund is used to account
for the Park District's general administrative costs, park and facility operations, maintenance, and planning.
The General Fund is divided into four departments - Administration, Marketing, Operations, and Planning. The
Operations Department is further divided into the following divisions - Horticulture, Grounds, and Maintenance.

Revenues are budgeted at $7,810,759, an increase from prior year projected of $375,275 or 5.05%.
Property tax revenues increased 4.16% which offsets some of the inflationary increases in operating
costs. Charges for services revenues remained unchanged from prior year. Interest Income increased
$80,000 or 28.41% as a result of increasing rates and balances. 

Expenditures, including transfers, are budgeted at $5,758,098, which represents an overall  increase of
$252,254 from prior year projected, or 4.58%. The only recurring transfers include $100,000 each for land
acquisition, trails and pathways, and park development as it has been and continues to be a Board
priority.

40



General Fund

Fund 01 - GENERAL

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 6,330,861 $ 6,674,067 $ 6,995,336 $ 7,286,000

Charge for Service Revenue 113,173 122,383 141,819 146,510

Capital Grants 30,000 - - -

Special Receipts 15,273 7,327 16,780 16,700

Interest Income 54,238 24,257 281,549 361,549

Total Estimated Revenues $ 6,543,545 $ 6,828,034 $ 7,435,484 $ 7,810,759

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 2,315,013 $ 2,448,967 $ 2,479,282 $ 2,962,062

Fringe Benefits 399,220 376,815 380,603 441,820

Contractual 607,494 679,202 849,231 1,066,772

Commodities/Supplies 296,304 362,825 441,200 462,600

Utilities 140,894 153,806 194,420 208,344

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 154,700 101,550 111,108 316,500

Transfers to Other Funds 300,000 1,300,000 1,050,000 300,000

Total Appropriations 4,213,625 5,423,165 5,505,844 5,758,098

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations 2,329,920 1,404,869 1,929,640 2,052,661

Beginning Fund Balance 6,603,163 8,933,083 10,337,952 12,267,592

Ending Fund Balance $ 8,933,083 $10,337,952 $12,267,592 $14,320,253

41



General Fund

Excluding transfers, total expenditures are budgeted to increase 22.49%.

Salaries and wages increased 19.47%. This results from budgeting all full-time positions and a majority of the
part-time/seasonal positions filled as well. Also, an increase in part-time/seasonal workers' hourly rate, and the
projected 5% partial merit increase to qualified full-time salaries.

Fringe benefits increased 16.08% partially due to the filling of vacant positions across the District, plus an
increase in health insurance premiums anticipated to be 16% for the March 2023 renewal. Also, projected
increases in other insurance product premiums. 

Contractual expenditures increased 25.62%;.due to an increase in the number conferences and the number
attending each.  Attorney and Professional services increased 18.75% reflecting anticipated use and general
inflationary rate increases.  A marketing contract for videographry services at $750/mo. to capture video
footage for promotional work surrounding programming. Contractual expenditures also include personnel
costs for recruiting and onboarding employees, paycom payroll fees, staff training; a salary survey; and license
fees for the ever-expanding universe of software needs.

Commodities/Supplies increased 4.85% reflecting price increases from historically high inflation and increated
participation in programming.

Utilities are projected to increase 7.16%, reflecting increased rates that went into effect during the prior fiscal
year and not necessarily additional use. 

Periodic and Routine maintenance costs are projected to increase 184.86%, to $468,600; however it should
be noted these expenditures are approved as part of the capital plan, and may come in under budget or less
than planned for various reasons. This line includes: $6,000 for Springer Cultural Center's drainage study and
plan, $18,000 for gutters for the back (West) side of shop, $12,500 for Lindsay Garden renovation, $10,000 for
Springer drain line exploration, $20,000 for Sholem body slide reseal, $25,000 for website upgrades, $11,000
for Shop Flooring, $125,000 for technology, $30,000 for general painting, $35,000 for general fencing, $25,000
for park amenities and $35,000 for playground resurfacing (FIBAR), $40,000 for general concrete, $6,000 for
general roadway patch, and $45,100 for seal coating and line striping.. 

The General Fund has continued to exceed $1,794,443, the targeted 120 day reserve balance of operating
expenditures, and is projected to have a reserve balance in excess of the target for the next fiscal year ending
FYE2024 of $12,525,810.

42



General Fund

43



Recreation Fund
Principal Responsibilities
The Recreation Fund is established to provide for the planning, establishing and maintaining of recreation and
leisure activities for the residents of the Park District. Real estate taxes are levied in this fund to pay the
administrative costs of the recreation programs provided to the public. The Park District's goal is service to the
citizens of Champaign.  If feasible, program and admission fees are set at levels that will cover the direct costs
of the programs being offered.  However, this not possible in all programs.

The Recreation Fund is divided into the following divisions – see “Departmental Information” section for further
information.

ADMINISTRATION – established to account for the administrative expenses of the recreation programs,
facilities and departments and recreation special events.

FACILITIES/BALL FIELDS – accounts for programs and activities at the newly-opened Martens Center, Hays
Recreation Center, Douglass Community Center, Douglass Annex, Douglass Library, Leonhard Recreation
Center, Kaufmann Lake, Dodds Tennis Center and recreation/cultural activities at Springer Cultural Center;
and accounts for expenditures to maintain Park District ball fields. Martens Center programming is budgeted
for the first first full year in FYE2024.

SPORTS – This covers the various adult and youth sports programs offered by the Park District, including
youth and adult softball, sports camps, soccer, developmental sports, basketball, tennis, pickleball, volleyball
and senior fitness opportunities including chair exercises. 

YOUTH PROGRAMS – accounts for summer youth, afterschool, school out days and the year-round
preschool programs run by the Park District. 

CONCESSIONS – This covers the concession operations at Dodds Park and Sholem Aquatic Center. 

AQUATICS – This division accounts for the activities at Sholem Aquatic Center. 

44



Recreation Fund

Fund 02 - RECREATION

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 2,266,600 $ 2,310,705 $ 2,556,560 $ 2,854,000

Charge for Service Revenue 373,431 1,210,132 1,108,394 1,577,928

Contributions/Sponsorships - 4,490 4,108 3,650

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 2,719 82,421 114,100 142,600

Capital Grants 7,297 - 23,501 20,500

Special Receipts 51,568 174,804 179,945 247,151

Interest Income 9,703 5,022 140,375 183,808

Total Estimated Revenues $ 2,711,318 $ 3,787,574 $ 4,126,983 $ 5,029,637

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 1,063,388 $ 1,787,979 $ 2,070,836 $ 2,432,109

Fringe Benefits 161,791 161,916 152,321 175,040

Contractual 116,581 258,002 315,277 461,766

Commodities/Supplies 95,127 299,660 375,142 415,061

Utilities 225,029 319,232 414,143 453,992

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 25,547 29,906 14,000 20,000

Transfers to Other Funds 334,200 1,859,548 590,000 -

Total Appropriations 2,021,663 4,716,243 3,931,719 3,957,968

45



Recreation Fund
Fund 02 - RECREATION

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations 689,655 (928,669) 195,264 1,071,669
Beginning Fund Balance 4,610,008 5,299,663 4,370,994 4,566,258

Ending Fund Balance $ 5,299,663 $ 4,370,994 $ 4,566,258 $ 5,637,927

Exlcuding transfers total expenditures are estimated to increase 18,44% from the prior year projected.  This
reflects inflation, a contiinued increase in programming and participation from FYE2023, and Sholem Pool is
expected to continue to see its usage increase.  Kid, Teen and Senior programs are planning trips again.  Staff
are anticipating a return to normal operation for the fiscal year ending 4/30/2024..  

Salaries and wages increased 17.45%. In addition to anticipating near full staffing in the District, Martens
Center is operating for a full year in FYE2024. Fringe benefits increased 14.92% to account reflecting the
inflationary premium increases and higher participation. 

Contractual expenditures increased 46.46% specific to the restart of programming, such as field trips,
contracted sports officials, and credit card fees associated with online sales. 

Commodities/Supplies increased 10.64%, specific to the restart of programming of summer youth programs,
sports camps, chemicals for the pool, staff and participant uniforms, etc.U

Utilities are projected to increase 9.62% with planned rate increases expected for electric and water.
Routine and periodic maintenance are projected to increase 42.86% as approved by the board in the capital
improvement plan for 2024-2033.

Transfers to other funds decreased 100.00% With Martens Center complete, no transfers out to other funds
are anticipated in Fund 02 in FYE2024. 

The Recreation Fund has exceeded $1,301,250, the targeted 120 day reserve balance of  operating
expenditures, and is projected to have a reserve balance in excess of the target for the next fiscal year ending
FYE2024 of $4,336,677.

46



Museum Fund
Principal Responsibilities
The Museum Fund accounts for special events plus cultural arts programs and services the Park District
provides in the community. Real estate taxes are levied to pay the administrative costs and to help offset
operating costs at the Springer Cultural Center, the Virginia Theatre, Prairie Farm and various concerts and
special events the Park District puts on throughout the year.

The Museum Fund is divided into the following divisions – see “Departmental Information” section for further
information.

ADMINISTRATION – This was established to account for the administrative costs of the fund.

CULTURAL ARTS – Accounts for many of the cultural arts programs and activities of the Park District
including the Park District’s leading role in the local cultural consortium, pottery classes, youth theatre, dance
and ballet programs located at Springer Cultural Center. 

FACILITIES – Covers the programs and activities at the Springer Cultural Center and Prairie Farm.

SPECIAL ACTIVITIES/EVENTS – Accounts for the special activities and events the Park District provides
throughout the year. Major events in this division include Neighborhood block parties, summer concerts and
artistic-themed summer day camps and preschool classes.

VIRGINIA THEATRE – covers all the activities at the historic Virginia Theatre. Events there range from
national touring acts, both musical and comedy, as well as, local productions, films, national productions, and
the internationally-recognized Roger Ebert film festival.

The Museum Fund has maintained $778,517,the targeted 120 day reserve balance of operating
expenditures, and is projected to have a reserve balance in excess of the target for the next fiscal year
ending FYE2024 of $6,414,431.

47



Museum Fund

48



Museum Fund
Fund 03 - MUSEUM

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 1,713,908 $ 1,792,681 $ 1,874,149 $ 2,033,000

Charge for Service Revenue 94,433 589,604 1,034,544 1,088,811

Contributions/Sponsorships 1,967 23,010 42,570 51,610

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 2,255 29,301 113,366 118,508

Operating Grants - - 1,250 -

Grants 14,425 11,425 11,000 12,000

Special Receipts 6,699 14,226 38,344 33,459

Interest Income 10,192 5,403 210,000 244,031

Total Estimated Revenues $ 1,843,879 $ 2,465,650 $ 3,325,223 $ 3,581,419

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 600,436 $ 921,716 $ 1,107,506 $ 1,180,835

Fringe Benefits 88,117 101,756 118,695 135,080

Contractual 88,716 361,042 681,030 725,757

Commodities/Supplies 27,104 91,546 130,638 166,726

Utilities 99,997 108,776 140,641 143,591

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 8,500 2,000 42,778 16,000

Transfers to Other Funds 358,800 - - -

Total Appropriations 1,271,670 1,586,836 2,221,288 2,367,989

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations 572,209 878,814 1,103,935 1,213,430

Beginning Fund Balance 3,424,560 3,996,769 4,875,583 5,979,518

Ending Fund Balance $ 3,996,769 $ 4,875,583 $ 5,979,518 $ 7,192,948

Salaries and wages increased 6.6% due to the adjustments to hourly wages and a 5% anticipated increase in
full-time salaries.

Fringe benefits increased 13.8% from prior year. This reflects greater staffing and premium increases in
benefit products..

Contractual expenditures increased 6.6% for inflationary increases throughout programs.

Routine and periodic maintenance will decrease 62.6% as projects in prior year were completed and less is
anticipated in FYE2024.

Commodities/Supplies increased 27.6% to fund the events previously mentioned. 

Utilities are projected to increase 2.1% as programs occur in existing facilties where there is much history for

49



Museum Fund
projecting cooling and heating costs. 

Total expenditures are planned to increase 6.60%. FYE2023 had the return of live entertainment throughout
the Virginia Theatre and special events.  The post-pandemic surge experienced in FYE2023 marks the new
normal. Therefore, for FYE2024 both revenues and expenditures only increased at near the level of inflation
(8%). Events such as: Neighborhood block parties, CU Days, summer concerts in the park, Virginia Theatre
live shows, Prairie Farm, and other in-person classes are expected to continue with full participation..

50



Liability Insurance Fund
Principal Responsibilities
The Liability Insurance Fund covers the costs of insurance and the risk management program. Real estate
taxes are levied in this fund to pay for and administer the Park District's required insurance coverage. The
insurance coverage includes public officials' liability, general liability, property, workers' compensation,
unemployment insurance, employment practices, pollution and other coverage. The Park District employs a
50% Risk Manager with that portion of his salary charged to this fund. He is also 50% Assistant Director of
Administrative Services. This position administers and trains staff on the Park District's safety and risk
policies and procedures. The Park District is a member of the Park District Risk Management Agency
(PDRMA), a self-insurance pool for park districts and municipalities in Illinois. Currently there are more than
160 districts and municipalities participating in the pool.

Performance Indicators

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Operating Expenditures Per Capita $ 3.41 $ 2.64 $ 2.18 $ 3.53

51



Liability Insurance Fund

Fund 04 - LIABILITY INSURANCE

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 357,302 $ 349,220 $ 366,369 $ 394,000

Special Receipts - 1,500 1,500 1,500

Interest Income 1,363 1,067 20,000 28,683

Total Estimated Revenues $ 358,665 $ 351,787 $ 387,869 $ 424,183

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 54,606 $ 49,778 $ 35,000 $ 33,600

Fringe Benefits 13,992 14,124 13,667 15,640

Contractual 110 221 3,300 4,500

Commodities/Supplies 6,002 2,814 5,850 6,600

Capital Outlay 64,087 30,779 70,000 190,000

Insurance 228,353 201,749 136,252 254,650

Total Appropriations 367,150 299,465 264,069 504,990

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations (8,485) 52,322 123,800 (80,807)
Beginning Fund Balance 514,848 506,363 558,685 682,485

Ending Fund Balance $ 506,363 $ 558,685 $ 682,485 $ 601,678

Revenues are budgeted at $424,183, an increase from prior year projected of $36,314 or 9.4%. Property tax
revenues increased increased 7.5%.  Expenditures are budgeted at $504,990 which represents a $240,921

52



Liability Insurance Fund
increase from prior year projected, or 91.2%. These expenditure changes are a result of several items:

Fringe benefits increased 14.4% reflecting the anticipated 16% increase in health insurance costs and lesser
increases in other benefits. 

Contractual expenditures increased $1,200 or 36.4%, reflecting staff attending more conferences, additonal
staff training and personel expenses such as Paycom payroll fees. 

Commodities/Supplies increased 12.8% reflecting anticipated replacement of small office equipment.

Insurance increased 86.9%  based on actual salary and wage expenditures as well as experience ratings and
the overall risk pool. These premiums are based on calendar year 2021 data and updated property values
through PDRMA.

Capital outlay is projected to increase $120,000 or 171.43%%. This includes $125,000 for risk management
and safety equipment and $65,000 for installation and implementation of the S2 lock systems at Douglass
Community Center and Springer Cultural Center.

53



IMRF FUND
Principal Responsibilities
The IMRF Fund accounts for the expenditures related to the Park District's portion of the pension contribution
paid for eligible Park District employees. To be eligible to participate in the plan, an employee must work 1,000
hours during the year in one or multiple positions. As set by statute, eligible Regular Plan members are
required to contribute 4.5% of their IMRF reportable earnings. The employer annual required contribution rate
for calendar year 2023 is 5.46% and for calendar year 2024 is 2.08%, for a blended fiscal year rate of 4.34%.
The employer also contributes for disability benefits, death benefits, and supplemental retirement benefits, all
of which are pooled at the IMRF level. Contribution rates for disability and death benefits are set by the IMRF
Board of Trustees while the supplemental retirement benefits rate is set by statute.

Revenues, from Property Taxes and Interest Income only, are budgeted to increase $16,953 or a 7.52%.
Expenditures are budgeted at $263,520 which represents a $19,566 or 8.02% increase prior year projected.

There were two Park District employees that retired in the past year. There are twelve employees with more
than twenty years, including three over thirty years, of service that are eligible to retire. IMRF’s actuarial
calculation does take this into consideration when determining the IMRF employer contribution rate, therefore
the Park District should only see minor adjustments, if there are any retirements in future years.

Fund 06 - IMRF FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 275,422 $ 298,785 $ 201,304 $ 217,000

Interest Income 870 574 24,000 25,257

Total Estimated Revenues $ 276,292 $ 299,359 $ 225,304 $ 242,257

Appropriations

Fringe Benefits $ 213,540 $ 231,880 $ 243,954 $ 263,520

Total Appropriations 213,540 231,880 243,954 263,520

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations 62,752 67,479 (18,650) (21,263)
Beginning Fund Balance 402,247 464,999 532,478 513,828

Ending Fund Balance $ 464,999 $ 532,478 $ 513,828 $ 492,565

54



AUDIT FUND
Principal Responsibilities
The Audit Fund accounts for auditing expenditures related to the Park District’s annual financial audit, which is
mandated by state statute (50 ILCS 310/9), as well as grant audits as required by the written grant agreement.
Property taxes are levied to provide resources for this annual expenditure, plus interest income.

Goals and Accomplishments
 Awarded the Government Finance Officers Association for the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

(ACFR) Award for FYE April 30, 2022.

 Received an unmodified (clean) audit opinion on the annual financial audit for FYE2022.

 Projected fund balance at April 30, 2023 is $9,424 or 31.4% of actual expenditures, target is 25%.

 Obtained updated actuarial calculation for other post-employment benefits required under GASB

Statement No.75.

 Complete financial audit and file all annual reports as required before deadlines.

 Obtain actuarial calculation for other post-employment benefits required under GASB Statement No.75..

Revenues are budgeted at $36,000 an increase from prior year projected of $7,062 or 24.4% from last year.
Property tax revenues increased 24.2% and Interest Income increasing $250 or 33.33%. Expenditures are
budgeted at $34,500, up $4,500 or 15.0% reflecting increasing rates and procedures from audit firm. 

Performance Indicators

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Target
FYE2024

Received GFOA award for ACFR

Unmodified Opinion Received

Fund 08 - AUDIT FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

55



AUDIT FUND
Fund 08 - AUDIT FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Property Tax Revenue $ 24,188 $ 25,217 $ 28,188 $ 35,000

Interest Income 33 13 750 1,000

Total Estimated Revenues $ 24,221 $ 25,230 $ 28,938 $ 36,000

Appropriations

Contractual $ 23,780 $ 29,920 $ 30,000 $ 34,500

Total Appropriations 23,780 29,920 30,000 34,500

Net of Revenues Over (Under)
Appropriations 441 (4,690) (1,062) 1,500

Beginning Fund Balance 14,735 15,176 10,486 9,424

Ending Fund Balance $ 15,176 $ 10,486 $ 9,424 $ 10,924

56



SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND
Principal Responsibilities

The Special Donations Fund is used to track available resources for scholarships towards Park
District programming. Those eligible for scholarships must complete an application and funds are
distributed based on several criteria as well as available funding. There are no budgeted staff for this
fund. If revenues are below projected, then less scholarships would be awarded unless there is an
accumulated balance from the prior years, which is the case in the next budget year. The process
for awarding scholarships allows the recipient of funds to decide whether to use 100% of their
allotment at once, or allocate the scholarship funds evenly over selected programs providing more
flexibility. 

The total scholarship funds available at April 30, 2023 for the next fiscal year are comprised as
follows: 

Champaign-Urbana Special Recreation – 4%

Douglass Daycamp and Swim Lessons – 0.5% 

General Scholarships – 92.5%

Shadowwood residents for Martens Center 2.5% 

 Teens In Action – .5%

Fund 12 - SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Contributions/Sponsorships $ 48,304 $ 44,578 $ 29,303 $ 36,900

Interest Income 305 162 4,000 7,035

Total Estimated Revenues $ 48,609 $ 44,740 $ 33,303 $ 43,935

Appropriations

Contractual $ 13,480 $ 57,116 $ 72,000 $ 135,000

Total Appropriations 13,480 57,116 72,000 135,000

57



SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND
Fund 12 - SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations 35,129 (12,376) (38,697) (91,065)
Beginning Fund Balance 161,247 196,376 184,000 145,303

Ending Fund Balance $ 196,376 $ 184,000 $ 145,303 $ 54,238

58



SOCIAL SECURITY FUND
Principal Responsibilities
The Social Security Fund accounts for the employer portion of expenditures for FICA and Medicare payroll
taxes on eligible taxable wages paid to employees. The current rates are 6.20% for FICA and 1.45% for
Medicare. Champaign-Urbana Special Recreation’s (CUSR) portion of expenditures are paid out of the CUSR
fund using the separate property tax dollars. The remaining expenditures are paid with real estate taxes that
are levied specifically for this fund. Revenue is derived from property taxes and interest income. 

Fund 14 - SOCIAL SECURITY FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 390,793 $ 397,729 $ 416,695 $ 522,000

Interest Income 321 312 8,500 10,364

Total Estimated Revenues $ 391,114 $ 398,041 $ 425,195 $ 532,364

Appropriations

Fringe Benefits $ 310,081 $ 393,139 $ 450,000 $ 470,000

Total Appropriations 310,081 393,139 450,000 470,000

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations 81,033 4,902 (24,805) 62,364
Beginning Fund Balance 113,737 194,770 199,672 174,867

Ending Fund Balance $ 194,770 $ 199,672 $ 174,867 $ 237,231

59



SPECIAL RECREATION FUND
Principal Responsibilities
The Special Recreation Fund is used to account for the joint program between the Champaign Park
District and the Urbana Park District (UPD) through an intergovernmental agreement. Real estate taxes
are levied for this fund to help provide for the operational activities. Monies from UPD's real estate tax
levy are also placed in this fund and recorded as contribution revenue. The Park District is the
administrative agency for the program. Both Park Districts set aside .0175 of the .04 tax rate for ADA
expenditures, whereas the remaining .0225 is used for operating activities. Both Districts levy at a
maximum tax rate of .04.

Champaign-Urbana Special Recreation (CUSR) serves people of varying ages and abilities by providing
recreational programs and inclusion services, which enhance the quality of life for both Urbana and
Champaign participants and residents.  CUSR has an administrative four-member board composed of
Champaign Park District and Urbana Park District staff with input from the Special Recreation Advisory
Committee, however all activities must be approved by both Park District's Board of Commissioners.

Program areas promote the acquisition of skills, awareness of resources, and appreciation of recreational
programs, time management and planning, and normalized age-appropriate development of benefits to
enhance each participant’s quality of life. The program advocates for and assists with full accessibility and
inclusion of people of all ages and abilities into community opportunities.

Responsibilities include afterschool programs, basic living skills, education programs, creative classes,
dances, specialized transitional, inclusion services (UPD/CPD), special events, Special Olympics
(bowling, basketball, volleyball, bocce, softball, track and field, and power lifting), sports, summer camps,
trips and theatre classes. 

Organizational chart for the next budget year includes 5 full-time employees and 57 part-time seasonal
employees.

60



SPECIAL RECREATION FUND

The following table displays the ending fund balance by fiscal year between the two Park Districts.

Fund 15 - SPECIAL RECREATION FUND
Fund Balance Components

Fund Balance,
Ending
Consists of:

FYE2021
Actual

FYE2022
Actual

FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating $ 1,083,061 $ 1,245,481 $ 1,546,966 $ 1,780,268

Restricted Fund Balance - CPD ADA 609,974 836,632 1,079,914 1,104,914

Restricted Fund Balance - UPD ADA 137,101 100,011 208,879 5,617

Fund Balance,
Ending $ 1,830,136 $ 2,182,124 $ 2,835,759 $ 2,890,799

Fund 15 - SPECIAL RECREATION FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 744,375 $ 776,059 $ 805,217 $ 858,189

Charge for Service Revenue 14,298 77,512 99,800 184,392

Contributions/Sponsorships 244,045 242,846 249,482 236,900

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue - - 60 -

Special Receipts 10,093 1,900 2,000 2,000

Interest Income 6,769 3,773 76,000 106,306

Total Estimated Revenues $ 1,019,580 $ 1,102,090 $ 1,232,559 $ 1,387,787

Appropriations

61



SPECIAL RECREATION FUND
Fund 15 - SPECIAL RECREATION FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Salaries and Wages $ 173,318 $ 319,794 $ 274,019 $ 419,627

Fringe Benefits 42,820 90,575 73,473 83,700

Contractual 27,329 31,759 50,156 81,915

Commodities/Supplies 11,769 24,367 38,376 54,138

Utilities - 19,227 19,900 21,980

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 24,132 18,665 25,000 25,000

Capital Outlay 924,390 236,593 84,000 629,887

Insurance 11,278 9,122 14,000 16,500

Total Appropriations 1,215,036 750,102 578,924 1,332,747

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations (195,456) 351,988 653,635 55,040
Beginning Fund Balance 2,025,592 1,830,136 2,182,124 2,835,759

Ending Fund Balance $ 1,830,136 $ 2,182,124 $ 2,835,759 $ 2,890,799

Overall expenditures increased 130.2% from projected. Of the total expenditures, $306,262 is specific to
UPD’s ADA fund balance that the Park District administers as requested. Other budgetary differences include:

 Fringe benefits increased 13.9% as insurance rates are anticipated to increase significantly.

 Contractual increased 63.3% as programming fully resumed after a year of alternative programming

and no travel or fieldtrips.

 Commodities increased 41.1% to accommodate the restart of some programming and increased cost

from inflation..

 Utilities increased 10.5% due to projected increases in water as well as electricity rates.

 PDRMA Insurance premiums are anticipated to increase 17.9%

62



POLICE PROTECTION
Principal Responsibilities
The Police Protection Fund allows the Park District to levy taxes specifically to contract or hire licensed
police officers for security purposes. The District contracts directly with the City of Champaign for the use of
City police officers, when available, at various Park District facilities and special events, or to contract with
retired police officers. The officers are on site at the Park District’s pool, parks, facilities and special events
during the year to help maintain safety at various facilities and events as needed. Reserves not specifically
allocated can, by state statute, be transferred to the Long-Term Capital Improvement Fund; however this
has not occurred at the Park District.

Revenues increased in FYE2023 to cover the anticipated expenditures with contracted retired police
officers to be park ambassadors for West Side Park, Hessel Park, Sholem and other areas as needed.
The park ambassadors are present multiple times per week throughout the summer through Labor Day
providing education and awareness to the visitors of the park.

63



POLICE PROTECTION
Fund 19 - POLICE PROTECTION Performance Indicators

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Target
FYE2024

Operating Expenditures Per Capita $ 0.17 $ 0.49 $ 0.45 $ 0.45

Fund 19 - POLICE PROTECTION

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 14,885 $ 25,217 $ 38,241 $ 42,000

Interest Income 156 56 2,000 2,349

Total Estimated Revenues $ 15,041 $ 25,273 $ 40,241 $ 44,349

Appropriations

Contractual 15,508 43,962 40,000 40,000

Total Appropriations 15,508 43,962 40,000 40,000

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations (467) (18,689) 241 4,349
Beginning Fund Balance 73,742 73,275 54,586 54,827

Ending Fund Balance $ 73,275 $ 54,586 $ 54,827 $ 59,176

The Park Ambassadors have proven to be a great benefit to the Park District through providing a security
presence and distributing information. The Park Ambassadors have also been utilized by the Virginia
Theatre for additional security at events. All the Virginia Theatre expenditures are included in Fund 03
Museum and are charged back to the promoter for the event. Staff utilized a portion of excess funds in
the prior fiscal year to cover these expenditures, while still maintaining a healthy reserve balance within
the fund.

64



PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Paving and Lighting Fund levies real estate taxes as its funding source to be used for the
construction, maintenance and lighting of streets, roadways, sidewalks and parking lots within the
parks and facilities maintained by the Park District. The primary source of revenue is property tax
revenues, with some additional revenue received through interest income, and occasionally
transfers from other funds.

2023-2024 Goals
 Maintain quality of existing facilities, parks and trails.

 Utilize a portion of accumulated funds to pay for replacement of pavement sections at Parkland

Way over the next several years.

65



PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND CONTINUED

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 09 - PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Property Tax Revenue $ 93,043 $ 97,004 $ 100,652 $ 108,000
Interest Income 426 350 13,500 19,215

Total Estimated Revenues $ 93,469 $ 97,354 $ 114,152 $ 127,215

Appropriations
Routine/Periodic Maintenance $ 2,632 $ 23,632 $ 23,000 $ 91,100
Capital Outlay - - - 100,000

Total Appropriations $ 2,632 $ 23,632 $ 23,000 $ 191,100

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations 90,837 73,722 91,152 (63,885)
Beginning Fund Balance 192,422 283,259 356,981 448,133
Ending Fund Balance $ 283,259 $ 356,981 $ 448,133 $ 384,248

66



Champaign Park District: PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND

Year End: April 30, 2024

Listing of Projects for Budget Year by Category

Project Proposed 04/24

210012  Parkland Way Replacement Section 100,000.00

24RM02  General Concrete 40,000.00

24RM04  General Roadway Patch 6,000.00

24RM09  Sealcoating and Line Striping 45,100.00

191,100.00

67



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Capital Improvement and Repairs fund was established for the development of a funding
program for capital improvements and repair projects not funded by the Park District’s other
funds. Revenue is accumulated in this fund in a variety of ways, including corporate property
replacement taxes; state, city and federal grant programs when applicable, payment in lieu of city
property taxes, transfers of unallocated reserve balances from other Park District funds and from
the Champaign Parks Foundation.

68



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND CONTINUED
Two TIF districts were formed in FYE2019 by the City of Champaign; downtown fringe TIF and
Bristol Park. Neither TIF includes any advance surplus payments throughout the course of the
TIF. Due to the lost EAV when the AC Humko Plant TIF formed in FYE2016, the City of
Champaign has agreed to pay $13,334 through FYE2037 for this area referred to as the North
Mattis Avenue Surplus Payment.

Transfers from General and Recreation funds are included in the prior year to provide funding
from current year revenues for capital projects and did not recur in FYE2024.  

Capital expenditures include prior year carry-over of the following projects: 

 Greenbelt Bikeway Connection - $400,000

 Outdoor basketball court improvement $110,000

 West Side Park Bandshell Renovaton $26,000

 Electric Power into Porter Park $33,000

 Carle at the Fields Trail Nodes $25,000

 Dog Park Agility Stations $12,000

69



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND CONTINUED

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 16 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Personal Property Replacement Taxes $ 370,019 $ 806,545 $ 900,000 $ 850,000
Contributions/Sponsorships - - - 550,000
Capital Grants 472,199 277,801 - 950,000
Special Receipts 190,448 57,873 72,075 72,075
Interest Income 8,851 2,220 82,000 96,744
Transfers from Other Funds 693,000 - 1,340,000 -

Total Estimated Revenues $ 1,734,517 $ 1,144,439 $ 2,394,075 $ 2,518,819

Appropriations
Contractual $ 16,000 $ - $ - $ -
Capital Outlay 1,127,003 1,794,675 586,332 2,611,095
Transfers to Other Funds 55,107 - - -

Total Appropriations $ 1,198,110 $ 1,794,675 $ 586,332 $ 2,611,095

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations 536,407 (650,236) 1,807,743 (92,276)
Beginning Fund Balance 2,348,047 2,884,454 2,255,079 4,062,822
Ending Fund Balance $ 2,884,454 $ 2,234,218 $ 4,062,822 $ 3,970,546

70



��������� ���� ��������� ������� ������������ ��� �

���� ���� ����� ��� ����

������� �� �������� ��� ������ ���� �� ��������

������� �������� �����

������� ��������

������  ��������� ������� ���������� ���� ���������� ���

������  ������� ���������� ������ � ���������� �������� ���������� ���

������  ���� ���� ���� ��������� �� �������� ��������� ���

������  �������� ����� ���� ������ ���� ��������� ���

������  ����� � ��� ������ ����� ����� ��������� ���

������  ��� ���� ������� �������� ��������� ���

������  ����������� ����� ������� ����������

������  ������� ��������� ���������

������  ������ ���� �� ������� ���� �� ��������� ������� ���������

������  �������� ������� �������� ������� ���������

������  ������ ������� �������� �� ��������� ���������

������  ������ ����� ����� ���������� ����������� �� ����� ���������

������  ������� ���� �� ����� ���������

������  ���������� �������� �� ����� ����������

������  �������� ���� �������� ������������ ������������ �

������  ���������� ���� ���������� ����� ���������

������  ���� ���� �������� ������������ ����� � ���������

������  �������� �� ��� � � ����� �� ��������� ��� ���������

������  �������� ������� ����� ���������� ����������

������� �������� ������������

��� � ������� ������� ���� ���� ����� ������� �������� �������

�� �������� ��� �������� ���������� ������� ������� �������� ��� ������� ��� �� ����� ����� 

����������� ��� �������� ���� �������������

71



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Bond Amortization fund levies real estate taxes to pay the principal and interest associated
with the annual General Obligation Bond issued by the Park District. As of May 1, 2023 the Park
District has $1,255,000 plus total interest in non-referendum General Obligation Bonds
outstanding that is due to be paid November 30, 2023. The revenues received are transferred to
the bond proceeds fund to record the payment. The general obligation debt is considered short-
term, therefore the debt is recorded as a liability and is not reflected as debt service expenditures
in the budget detail.

72



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND CONTINUED
The Park District has $1,040,000 of Alternate Revenue General Obligation Bonds outstanding,
breakdown is shown later in this section. The current year debt payment and interest on this
outstanding debt is $546,200. This debt payment will be financed by a portion of the proceeds
from the General Obligation Bond issue and will be paid out of the bond proceeds fund. The
remaining GO Bond will be used for roof replacement, vehicle replacement, playground
replacement, and some smaller capital improvements.

The intention is to transfer 100% of cash receipts to the Bond Proceeds Fund to pay debt service
and for new capital projects; therefore these should be close to 100%. Staff have continued to
meet this goal.

2022-2023 Accomplishments
 Paid off the 2021 general obligation debt as required by the maturity date.

 Received the 2022 general obligation bond proceeds in December 2022.

2023-2024 Goals
 Continue to annually roll over the general obligation bond while maintaining a competitive interest

rate.

73



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND CONTINUED

74



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND CONTINUED
Debt Service Schedule

Type Payment Rate Principal (P) Interest (I) Total P&I
Due Date

Alternate Revenue Bonds,
Series 2013

06/15/23 %3.00 $ 0 $ 15,600 $ 15,600

12/15/23 %3.00 515,000 15,600 530,600

06/15/24 %3.00 0 7,875 7,875

12/15/24 %3.00 525,000 7,875 532,875

$ 1,040,000 $ 46,950 $ 1,086,950

75



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND CONTINUED
Legal Debt Margin

Assessed Value (2022 Levy Year) $ 2,172,376,600

Legal Debt Margin

Debt Limitation - 2.875% of Total Assessed Value 62,455,827

Total Debt Application to the Debt Limit

General Obligation Bond Series 2022 1,212,500

Alternate Revenue Bonds 0

Total Debt Applicable to Debt Limit 1,212,500

Legal Debt Margin 61,243,327
Total Net Debt Applicable to the Debt Limit as a % of

the Debt Limit %1.94

Historical Debt Limit %

FYE2023 %2.09

FYE2021 %2.14

FYE2020 %2.28

FYE2019 %2.51

FYE2018 %2.51

FYE2017 %2.48

FYE2016 %2.39

FYE2015 %2.39

76



BOND AMORTIZATION FUND CONTINUED
Champaign Park District

Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 21 - BOND AMORTIZATION FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Property Tax Revenue $ 1,174,240 $ 1,208,704 $ 1,229,963 $ 1,306,000
Interest Income 279 70 6,000 13,500

Total Estimated Revenues 1,174,519 1,208,774 1,235,963 1,319,500

Appropriations
Transfers to Other Funds $ 1,191,272 $ 1,187,200 $ 1,235,963 $ 1,319,500

Total Appropriations 1,191,272 1,187,200 1,235,963 1,319,500

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations (16,753) 21,574 0 0
Beginning Fund Balance 16,753 0 21,564 21,564
Ending Fund Balance $ 0 $ 21,574 $ 21,564 $ 21,564

77



BOND PROCEEDS FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Bond Proceeds fund is restricted to and used by the Park District for the purchase,
development, renovation of land, facilities, buildings and equipment owned by the Park District.
The proceeds from the General Obligation Bond are utilized to pay the debt service on the
alternate revenue bonds, as well as invest in capital assets as outlined in the capital improvement
plan. The funds received are transferred from the Bond Amortization/Debt Service Fund. As the
general obligation debt is considered short-term, the debt is recorded as a liability and therefore
not reflected as debt service expenditures in the budget detail. The deficit fund balance at the
end of the year is expected to be eliminated in the subsequent fiscal year by the transfer of funds
from the Bond Amortization/Debt Service Fund as part of the repayment of the short-term bond.

78



BOND PROCEEDS FUND CONTINUED
Capital expenditures include carry-over projects from prior year(s) as follows: 

 Dodds Tennis Center Roof $450,000

 Zahnd Park (formerly Davidson Park) Playground replacement $75,000

 Mower Replacement $30,000

 Hays HVAC nter, $25,000

2022-2023 Projects Completed
 Martens Center & HK playground completed and grand opening held.

 Completed section replacement at Parkland Way.

 Completed Pickleball Courts at Centennial Park.

 Operations building flooring

2023-2024 Projects
 Hessel Park Parking Lot A renovation $220,000

 General playground replacement $210,000

 Vehicle replacements $160,000

 Operations rolling equipment replacement $145,000

 Dodds Tennis Center HVAC $25,000

79



BOND PROCEEDS FUND CONTINUED

80



BOND PROCEEDS FUND CONTINUED
Champaign Park District

Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 22 - BOND PROCEEDS FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Interest Income $ 3,135 $ 1,569 $ 45,000 $ 51,615
Transfers from Other Funds 1,191,272 1,187,200 1,235,963 1,319,500

Total Estimated Revenues $ 1,194,407 $ 1,188,769 $ 1,280,963 $ 1,371,115

Appropriations
Contractual $ 3,428 $ 3,428 $ 5,428 $ 5,500
Capital Outlay 564,689 629,752 1,235,808 1,340,000
Debt Service - Principal 460,000 480,000 495,000 515,000
Debt Service - Interest/Fees 84,998 64,801 51,000 45,000

Total Appropriations $ 1,113,115 $ 1,177,981 $ 1,787,236 $ 1,905,500

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations 81,292 10,788 (506,273) (534,385)
Beginning Fund Balance 481,252 562,544 573,332 67,059
Ending Fund Balance $ 562,544 $ 573,332 $ 67,059 $ (467,326)

81



Champaign Park District: BOND PROCEEDS FUND
Year End: April 30, 2024
Listing of Projects for Budget Year by Category

Project Proposed 04/24

Capital Projects

230004  Facilities - HVAC Replacement Hays 25,000.00 C/O

230005  Roof Replacement Dodds TC 450,000.00 C/O

230007  Playground Replacement Zahnd (Davidson) 75,000.00 C/O

230008  Mower Replacement 30,000.00 C/O

240003  Rolling Equipment Replacements 145,000.00

240004  Vehicle Replacements 160,000.00

240006  HVAC Dodds Tennis Center 25,000.00

240007  Playground Replacement 210,000.00

240022  Parking Lot renovation Hessel Lot A 220,000.00

Capital Projects 1,340,000.00

C/O = carry over project approved in prior year

82



LAND ACQUISITION FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Land Acquisition fund was established in FYE2012 for the purpose of offsetting the costs of
future land purchases. Each year as part of the budget process a $100,000 transfer is budgeted
from the General Fund to set aside for any potential land purchases.

2022-2023 Accomplishments
 Transferred $100,000 excess fund balance from the General Fund into the Land Acquisition Fund for

future purchases.

2023-2024 Goals
 Continue to set aside surplus from the General Fund into the Land Acquisition Fund so funds are

available when land is identified for purchase.

83



LAND ACQUISITION FUND CONTINUED
As the goal of the Park District is to set aside funds for future land purchases, the revenue and
expenditure analysis is skewed due to timing of those transfers and projected expenditures. In addition,
rather than presenting the fund balance as a percentage of expenditures as with the other funds, the
cumulative fund balance by fiscal year has been shown instead.

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 24 - LAND ACQUISITION FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Interest Income $ 2,108 $ 1,246 $ 38,500 $ 41,539
Transfers from Other Funds 155,107 100,000 100,000 100,000

Total Estimated Revenues $ 157,215 $ 101,246 $ 138,500 $ 141,539

Appropriations

Total Appropriations $ - $ - $ - $ -

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations $ 157,215 $ 101,246 $ 138,500 $ 141,539
Beginning Fund Balance 979,942 1,137,157 1,238,403 1,376,903
Ending Fund Balance $ 1,137,157 $ 1,238,403 $ 1,376,903 $ 1,518,442

84



PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Park Development  fund was established in May 2016 by Board action to commit funds for
future developments in the parks. The only source of planned revenue aside from future Board
approved transfers, is interest income.  

2022-2023 Accomplishments
 Transferred $100,000 for future projects deemed priorities by the Board of Commissioners.

 Completed Spalding Park Improvements partially funded with an OSLAD grant.

2023-2024 Goals
 Additional funds of $100,000 to be transferred in for future projects as deemed priorities by the Board of

Commissioners. 

85



PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND CONTINUED
 Schedule of Expenses

For the Years Ended April 30, 2023
(Unaudited)

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 25 - PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Capital Grants $ 6,114 $ 167,386 $ - $ 151,494
Special Receipts - 1,300 - -
Interest Income 2,212 947 22,000 27,031
Transfers from Other Funds 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Total Estimated Revenues $ 108,326 $ 269,633 $ 122,000 $ 278,525

Appropriations
Capital Outlay $ 12,228 $ 631,872 $ 1,777 $ 66,900

Total Appropriations 12,228 631,872 1,777 66,900

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations 96,098 (362,239) 120,223 211,625
Beginning Fund Balance 1,028,252 1,124,350 762,111 882,334
Ending Fund Balance $ 1,124,350 $ 762,111 $ 882,334 $ 1,093,959

86



TRAILS AND PATHWAYS FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Trails and Pathways fund was established in May 2016 by Board action to commit funds for
trails and pathways throughout the Park District.

2022-2023 Accomplishments
 Transferred $100,000 into fund for future trails and pathways.

 Completed North Champaign Trail connecting path.

2023-2024 Goals
 Maintain quality of existing facilities, parks and trails.

 Additional funding of $100,000 to be transferred into this fund to be used for future trail and pathway

development within the Park District.

87



TRAILS AND PATHWAYS FUND CONTINUED

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 26 - TRAILS AND PATHWAYS FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Interest Income $ 789 $ 465 $ 18,400 $ 25,568
Transfers from Other Funds 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Total Estimated Revenues $ 100,789 $ 100,465 $ 118,400 $ 125,568

Appropriations
Capital Outlay $ 29,650 $ 32,725 $ - $ -

Total Appropriations 29,650 32,725 - -

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations 71,139 67,740 118,400 125,568
Beginning Fund Balance 360,916 432,055 499,795 618,195
Ending Fund Balance $ 432,055 $ 499,795 $ 618,195 $ 743,763

88



MARTENS CENTER CAPITAL FUND

Principal Responsibilities
The Martens Center Capital fund was established in FYE2018 as a direct result of a donor
contribution. This fund contains money for capital improvements made at this specific site
through donations and fundraising efforts, as well as for start-up costs. Receipts from this fund
include anticipated donations, grant funding, and transfers which will be used for contractual
expenditures to develop the existing park. FYE2024 includes grant revenue awarded for the
completion of the Human Kinetics Park Outdoor improvements. There remains outstanding
pledges to be collected after FYE2024 which will alleviate the deficit balance that exists at April
30. In addition, there are remaining pledges to be collected from the Foundation that will also
transfer over to the District estimated at just over $105,000.

2022-2023 Accomplishments
 Construction completed and Grand Opening held in October 2022.  New programming and actvities are

now  occurring in the Martens Center facility.

89



MARTENS CENTER CAPITAL FUND CONTINUED
 Completed Human Kinetics Park outdoor improvements under the OSLAD grant award.

 Board approved three new full-time positions for Martens Center which will be part of the Recreation Fund

operating budget.

2023-2024 Goals
 Martens Center will continue to operate and grow its programming and participant count.

Champaign Park District
Budget Category Totals by Fund

Fund 27 - MARTENS CENTER CAPITAL FUND

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues
Contributions/Sponsorships $ 2,213,513 $ 3,423,170 $ 140,000 $ 215,000
Capital Grants 167,313 15,057 - 163,072
Special Receipts 83,122 - - -
Interest Income 5,145 2,484 10,500 -
Transfers from Other Funds - 2,859,548 - -

Total Estimated Revenues $ 2,469,093 $ 6,300,259 $ 150,500 $ 378,072

Appropriations
Contractual $ 256,720 $ 193,036 $ 40,000 $ -
Commodities/Supplies 70 - - -
Capital Outlay 2,139,541 7,967,313 1,455,500 -

Total Appropriations 2,396,331 8,160,349 1,495,500 -

Net of Revenues Over
(Under) Appropriations 72,762 (1,860,090) (1,345,000) 378,072
Beginning Fund Balance 2,660,869 2,733,631 873,541 (471,459)
Ending Fund Balance $ 2,733,631 $ 873,541 $ (471,459) $ (93,387)

90



General Fund: Administration
Principal Responsibilities
Accounts for the Park District's general, administrative costs, including but not limited to human resouorces,
finance, information technology, board expenses, safety and other general costs. Revenue source is mostly

property tax and interest income.

Employees Funded by General Fund: Administration - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

General Fund Administration

Administration
Executive Director 1.00 1.00 1.08 1.00
Director of Administrative Services - 0.50 1.00 1.00
Assistant Director of Adinistrative Services - 0.50 0.50 0.50
Assistant to the Executive Director 1.04 0.50 0.08 -

2.04 2.50 2.66 2.50
- - - -

Finance
Director of Finance 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Assistant Director of Finance 1.00 1.00 0.17 N/A
Accountant N/A N/A 0.25 1.00
Budget Manager N/A N/A 0.75 1.00
Accounts Payable Coordinator 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Accounting and Procurement Clerk (Allocated) N/A 0.20 0.60 0.60
Administrative Assistant 0.87 0.90 0.25 N/A
Accounting Clerk 0.50 - - N/A
Accounting Clerk/Facility Coordinator - - 0.25 1.00
Building Service Worker @ BMC 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Development Director (Now in Marketing) 1.00 1.00 - -

                     6.37 6.10 5.27 6.60
Human Resources
Director of Human Resources - 0.50 1.00 1.00
Human Resources Manager - 1.00 0.75 1.00
Human Resources Coordinator 1.00 - - -

IT (Risk under Fund 04) - - - -
Director of HR, IT, and Risk 1.00 0.50 - -
Administrative Assistant (Finance) N/A 0.10 N/A N/A

Total FTE's 10.41 10.70 9.68 11.10

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 18.45 $ 18.17 $ 17.91 $ 24.82

Total Acres 689 689 708 708

91



General Fund: Administration

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Trees in the Park System 8,374 7,540 7,652 7,700

# of Trees Planted 157 133 183 185

# of Flower Beds 282 162 276 276

# of Flowers Planted 84,459 58,570 75,380 76,000

General Fund
Department 01-01-000 General Fund: Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 6,330,861 $ 6,674,067 $ 6,995,336 $ 7,286,000

Charge for Service Revenue 285 1,044 650 650

Capital Grants 30,000 - - -

Special Receipts 9,658 7,037 3,680 3,000

Interest Income 54,238 24,257 281,549 361,549

Total Estimated Revenues $ 6,425,042 $ 6,706,405 $ 7,281,215 $ 7,651,199

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 848,907 $ 800,752 $ 729,866 $ 980,536

Fringe Benefits 389,772 363,303 366,303 425,540

Contractual 277,747 293,079 385,870 526,277

92



General Fund: Administration
General Fund

Department 01-01-000 General Fund: Administration

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue

Charge for Service Revenue

Capital Grants

Special Receipts

Interest Income

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

General Fund
Department 01-01-000 General Fund: Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Commodities/Supplies 23,630 31,112 46,350 57,200

Utilities 46,216 50,229 53,208 61,544

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 53,787 80,808 14,788 161,000

Total Appropriations $ 1,640,059 $ 1,619,283 $ 1,596,385 $ 2,212,097

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ 4,784,983 $ 5,087,122 $ 5,684,830 $ 5,439,102

General Fund
Department 01-01-000 General Fund: Administration

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

93



General Fund: Administration
Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $369,984 or 5.1% more than the prior year. 

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $615,712 or 38.6% more than the prior year. FYE2024 includes $75,000
for a salary compensation study.

94



General Fund: Marketing & Communications
Principal Responsibilities
A program of the General Fund which promotes the Park District's mission and goals by positioning its staff,
volunteers, programs, events and sponsors within the community. The department markets to more than
89,000 residents. Primary responsibilities include designing external and internal promotional pieces and
advertisements, market research, media relations, placement of all Park District advertising, producing
Program Guide located at https://champaignparks.com/programs/program-guide/ (allocated between the
Recreation and Museum funds as this is the program guide for those programs), promotions, visual images,
strategic planning and other marketing-related projects. In FYE2024 the Development Director and her efforts
will be part of the Marketing and Communications Team.

Employees Funded by General Fund: Marketing & Communications - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Director of Marketing and Communications 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Graphic Designer (Allocated) 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Marketing Coordinator 1.00 0.20 - -
Marketing Manager - 0.80 1.00 1.00
Part-Time Marketing Assistant - 0.25 0.48 0.48
Director of Development (previously in Finance) - 0.25 0.48 1.00

Total FTE's 2.25 2.75 3.21 3.73

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

CPD Website Visits 365,872 534,032 545,000 560,000

CPD Facebook Followers 10,249 11,950 12,000 12,500

CPD Twitter Followers 6,105 6,197 6,225 6,280

CPD Instagram Followers 3,831 4,077 4,090 5,050

CUSR Facebook Followers 10,249 11,350 11,700 12,000

CUSR Website Visits 12,739 19,573 20,500 22,000

95



General Fund: Marketing & Communications

General Fund
Department 01-10-000:  General Fund: Marketing & Communications

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Total Estimated Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 82,953 $ 126,471 150,402 $ 163,381

Fringe Benefits 844 805 800 840

Contractual 27,618 46,852 52,898 59,325

Commodities/Supplies 1,214 5,088 5,750 6,650

Total Appropriations $ 112,629 $ 179,216 $ 209,850 $ 230,196

Net of Revenues Over (Under)
Appropriations $ (112,629) $ (179,216) $ (209,850) $ (230,196)

96



General Fund: Marketing & Communications
General Fund

Department 01-10-000:  General Fund: Marketing & Communications

Estimated Revenues

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under)
Appropriations

Highlights:

Total expenditures increased $20,346 or 9.7% more than the prior year projected. That reflects wage increase
and additional costs for Contractual work.

Increase in contractual includes year-round videographry services plus additional advertising costs to promote
expanded programming throughout the District. 

97



General Fund: Operations
Principal Responsibilities
Oversees the enhancement, maintenance and daily operations of all Park District facilities, parks, grounds,
equipment, park features, and trails. Responsible for bidding, and contractual oversight for capital projects.
The department includes the following divisions:

 Maintenance Division - maintains all structures within the Park District including all buildings, swimming

pool and splash pads, pavilions, fountains, irrigation, lighting and equipment. Responsible for all HVAC,

electrical, plumbing, carpentry, fleet maintenance and assists with ADA upgrades. Manages the Park

District’s trash removal and recycling collection.

 Grounds Division - manages the Park District’s turf, trees,ball fields, and natural areas. Responsibilities

include oversight of all contractual mowing, the mowing and trimming of the Park District’s “signature” parks,

and all arbor duties, including removal, care and installation.

 Horticulture Division - improves the aesthetic quality of the Park District through design, installation and

maintenance of flowers, plantings, and signage. Responsibilities include the community-wide Flower Island

Program, all beds within the parks, and ornamental plantings. In addition, the division oversees building and

maintenance on park signs and planters.

 Special Projects - This department was recently absorbed into the Maintenance Division and falls under the

maintenance supervisor, but we have retained the Special Projects budget in it previous form to help us track

expenditures over the next year.

Employees Funded by General Fund: Operations - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operations

Operations Administration
Director of Operations 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Assistant Director of Operations 0.34 1.00 1.00 1.00
Admin Assistant & Reservations Coordinator 0.66 - N/A N/A

Subtotal Operations Admin 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Maintenance
Grounds & Maintenance Supervisor (Promoted to
Assistant Director of Operations) 0.66 - N/A N/A

Supervisor of Maintenance (new in 2021) 0.34 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Specialist Carpentry 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Specialist Plumbing 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Specialist Electrical 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Specialist HVAC 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Specialist Mechanic 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Maintenance Worker 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Trash/Recycling Worker 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Part-Time Operations Worker - 0.48 0.48 -

- - - -

Subtotal Maintenance 8.00 8.48 8.48 7.00

Grounds
Arborist 2.00 2.00 2.00 -
Fabricator 0.63 - - -
Grounds Arbor Specialist 1.00 1.00 1.00 3.00

98



General Fund: Operations

Employees Funded by General Fund: Operations - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Grounds Specialist 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Grounds Worker 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Horticulture & Natural Areas Supervisor - N/A N/A N/A
Natural Areas Coordinator 1.00 - - -
Natural Areas Specialist - 1.00 1.00 1.00
Part-Time Grounds Worker Tree Inventory 0.48 0.48 0.48 -
Sports Field Specialist (Rec Fund) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Sports Field Worker (Rec Fund) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Supervisor of Grounds (new in 2021) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Park Maintenance Specialist 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Park Maintenance Worker 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parks Maintenance Trash/Recycling Worker 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Subtotal Grounds 16.11 14.48 14.48 14.00

Horticulture
Horticulture Supervisor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Horticulture Specialist 3.00 3.00 1.00 2.00
Horticulture Worker 1.00 1.00 3.00 2.00

Subtotal Horticulture 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

Special Projects (Moved under Grounds in
FYE2023)
Parks Maintenance Supervisor (allocated prior to

2023) 0.50 0.50 0.50 -
Special Projects Specialist 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Special Projects Worker 0.92 1.00 - -

Subtotal Special Projects 2.42 2.50 1.50 -

Total FTE's 33.53 32.46 31.46 28.00

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 22.45 $ 24.23 $ 28.24 $ 31.08

99



General Fund: Operations

General Fund
Department 01-20-000 General Fund: Operations

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 108,158 $ 116,479 $ 130,069 $ 140,000

Special Receipts 5,615 290 13,100 13,600

Total Estimated Revenues $ 113,773 $ 116,769 $ 143,169 $ 153,600

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 1,270,328 $ 1,416,450 $ 1,498,672 $ 1,668,840

Fringe Benefits 8,181 12,304 13,000 14,520

Contractual 255,619 284,983 383,028 391,380

Commodities/Supplies 270,853 325,654 388,950 396,450

Utilities 89,935 99,005 136,165 143,300

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 100,913 20,742 96,320 155,500

Total Appropriations $ 1,995,829 $ 2,159,138 $ 2,516,135 $ 2,769,990

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $(1,882,056) $(2,042,369) $(2,372,966) $(2,616,390)

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $10,431 or 7.3% more than the prior year and accounts for funds from
the agreement for Carle at the Fields Trail, and the flower island revenues.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $253,855 or 10.1% more than prior year. The budgeted increase reflects
the proposed salary program, and additional Periodic and Routine Maintenance as the District's infrastructure
ages.

100



01-30-098 Douglass Branch Library
Principal Responsibilities
This is the District's portion of any shared costs at Douglass Branch Library. Total expenditures are
comparable to prior year.

General Fund
Department 01-30-098 Douglass Branch Library

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Special Receipts $ - $ - $ - $ 100

Total Estimated Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ 100

Appropriations

Contractual 7,348 5,860 2,000 2,000

Commodities/Supplies 102 - - -

Utilities 2,085 2,043 2,000 -

Total Appropriations $ 9,535 $ 7,903 $ 4,000 $ 2,000

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations $ (9,535) $ (7,903) $ (4,000) $ (1,900)

101



General Fund: Other Programs
Principal Responsibilities
This department is responsible for school's day out programming, senior programming at Douglass and Hays
facilities, as well as Sholem Sharks Swim Team.

- - - -

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ - $ -

General Fund
Department 01-60-000 General Fund: Other Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 4,730 $ 4,860 $ 11,100 $ 5,860

Appropriations

Contractual - - - 250

Commodities/Supplies 171 71 100 400

Utilities 2,599 2,491 3,047 3,500

Total Appropriations $ 2,770 $ 2,562 $ 3,147 $ 4,150

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ 1,960 $ 2,298 $ 7,953 $ 1,710

102



General Fund: Other Programs
General Fund

Department 01-60-000 General Fund: Other Programs

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Appropriations

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $5,240 or 47.2% less than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $1,003 or 31.9% more than the prior year.

103



General Fund: Planning
Principal Responsibilities
This department is responsible for the planning, design and development of new and existing projects
throughout the Park District. In addition, this department seeks out and applies for grants specific to capital
projects; OSLAD, PARC, SEDAC, and DCEO grants are the most common.

Employees Funded by General Fund: Planning - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Planning
Director of Planning 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Park Planner partially vacant 1.00 - 0.75 1.00
Planning Coordinator (reclassified) 1.00 0.67 - -

Total FTE's 3.00 1.67 1.75 2.00

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 1.68 $ 1.70 $ 1.22 $ 2.49

104



Department 01-20-300 General Fund: Planning

General Fund
Department 01-20-300 General Fund: Planning

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 109,977 $ 102,160 $ 83,000 $ 133,705

Fringe Benefits 423 403 500 920

Contractual 39,162 48,379 25,210 87,290

Commodities/Supplies 122 131 50 200

Total Appropriations $ 149,684 $ 151,073 $ 108,760 $ 222,115

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (149,684) $ (151,073) $ (108,760) $ (222,115)

Highlights:

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $113,355 or 104.22% more than the prior year. This reflects the
budgeted proposed salary program and the full-time position of the Park Planner, plus, additional spending for
Contractual services such as Architectural and Engineering fees for regular park activities.

105



Recreation Fund: Administration
Principal Responsibilities
This department is responsible for the planning, establishing and maintaining of recreational services for the
residents of the Park District. Real estate taxes are levied in this fund to pay the administrative costs of the
recreation programs provided to the public. The Park District attempts to set program and admission fees at
levels that will cover the direct costs of the programs being offered.

Employees Funded by Recreation Fund: Administration - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Recreation Administration
Director of Recreation 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Director of Revenue Facilities - - 1.00 1.00
Cultural Arts Manager 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Accounting and Procurement Clerk (Allocated) - - 0.40 0.40
Graphic Designer (Allocated) - - 0.45 0.45

Total FTE's 1.20 1.20 3.05 3.05

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 4.32 $ 4.93 $ - $ -

Recreation Fund
Department 02-01-001 Recreation Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

106



Recreation Fund: Administration
Recreation Fund

Department 02-01-001 Recreation Administration

Estimated Revenues

Recreation Fund
Department 02-01-001 Recreation Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Property Tax Revenue $ 2,266,600 $ 2,310,705 $ 2,556,560 $ 2,854,000

Special Receipts 6,027 1,345 495 250

Interest Income 9,703 5,022 140,375 183,808

Total Estimated Revenues $ 2,282,330 $ 2,317,072 $ 2,697,430 $ 3,038,058

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 178,941 $ 192,386 $ 186,800 $ 234,650

Fringe Benefits 160,613 160,495 152,321 175,040

Contractual 29,434 83,629 101,325 118,594

Commodities/Supplies 1,129 2,075 4,600 4,850

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 14,301 793 - -

Total Appropriations $ 384,418 $ 439,378 $ 445,046 $ 533,134

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations $ 1,897,912 $ 1,877,694 $ 2,252,384 $ 2,504,924

107



Recreation Fund: Administration
Recreation Fund

Department 02-01-001 Recreation Administration

Property Tax Revenue

Special Receipts

Interest Income

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations

Highlights:

Property Tax Revenue is expected to increase 11.63%.

No large fund transfers are anticipated in FYE2024.  (Previous year included a large amount of funds transfers
for the Martens Center project.)

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $340,628 or 12.6% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $88,088 or 19.8% more than the prior year.

108



Recreation Fund: Facilities
Principal Responsibilities
This department is responsible for all expenditures required to maintain the building for programming such as:
staffing, maintenance, supplies, contracts, etc. 

Employees Funded by Recreation Fund: Facilities - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Building Service Worker - Leonhard 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Facility Coordinator - Leonhard 1.00 0.40 2.00 1.00
Registration and Parks Reservation Manager - - - 0.50
Facility Manger - Leonhard 1.00 1.30 1.00 0.70
Program Coordinator - Leonhard - 0.10 - -
Receptionist - Leonhard 1.60 1.20 0.80 -
Afterschool Program Manager - Leonhard - - - 0.34
Manager - Douglass Park - - - 1.00
Building Services Worker - Martens - - - 1.00
Receptionist - Martens - - - 2.00

Total FTE's 4.60 4.00 4.80 7.54

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 8.11 $ 9.55 $ - $ -

109



Recreation Fund: Facilities

Recreation Fund
Department 02-30-000 Recreation Fund: Facilities

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Recreation Fund
Department 02-30-000 Recreation Fund: Facilities

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 78,110 $ 115,072 $ 146,538 $ 188,432

Contributions/Sponsorships - 500 - -

Special Receipts 18,225 104,978 116,387 150,805

Total Estimated Revenues $ 96,335 $ 220,550 $ 262,925 $ 339,237

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 428,899 $ 481,221 $ 577,274 $ 759,160

Fringe Benefits 158 77 - -

Contractual 44,848 49,821 64,760 98,530

Commodities/Supplies 63,509 99,470 142,281 148,305

Utilities 172,631 191,523 271,129 308,899

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 11,246 29,113 8,000 -

Total Appropriations $ 721,291 $ 851,225 $ 1,063,444 $ 1,314,894

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (624,956) $ (630,675) $ (800,519) $ (975,657)

110



Recreation Fund: Facilities
Recreation Fund

Department 02-30-000 Recreation Fund: Facilities

Recreation Fund
Department 02-30-000 Recreation Fund: Facilities

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

FYE20214 budgeted for all full-time and part-time staff, but department experienced a large number of
vacancies during FYE2023.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $76,312 or 29.0% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $251,450 or 23.6% more than the prior year.

111



Recreation Fund: Sports Programs
Principal Responsibilities
This department is responsible for the various youth and adult sport programs offered by the Park District,
including youth and adult baseball, softball, sports camps, soccer, basketball, volleyball, tennis and senior
sports programs. 

Employees Funded by Recreation Fund: Sports Programs- Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Sports Coordinator (Adult & Youth) 0.75 0.28 - 1.00
Aquatics & Tennis (Fitness) Manager - 0.11 0.25 0.32
Aquatics & Tennis Coordinator 0.75 0.41 - 0.55
Douglass Park Program Coordinator 0.25 0.25 0.25 -
Leonhard Recreation Center Program Coordinator 0.13 0.07 - -
Program Manager - 0.06 0.13 0.12
Sports Manager (Adult & Youth) - 0.38 1.00 0.88
Tennis & Sports Concession Manager - 0.34 0.75 -
Tennis Pro Coordinator 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Youth Sports Coordinator 1.00 0.54 - -

Total FTE's 3.88 3.44 3.38 3.87

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 3.48 $ 5.20 $ 4.53 $ 5.54

112



Recreation Fund: Sports Programs

Recreation Fund
Department 02-40-000 Recreation Fund: Sports Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Recreation Fund
Department 02-40-000 Recreation Fund: Sports Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 216,556 $ 452,291 $ 398,133 $ 464,703

Contributions/Sponsorships - 3,990 1,533 2,500

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 1,849 5,690 6,000 6,000

Capital Grants 2,100 - - -

Special Receipts 27,316 45,014 42,550 73,756

Total Estimated Revenues $ 247,821 $ 506,985 $ 448,216 $ 546,959

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 252,916 $ 344,881 $ 289,666 $ 346,322

Fringe Benefits 453 403 - -

Contractual 24,660 46,750 42,458 58,665

Commodities/Supplies 16,503 47,242 47,208 63,864

Utilities 14,858 24,172 24,664 25,137

Total Appropriations $ 309,390 $ 463,448 $ 403,996 $ 493,988

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (61,569) $ 43,537 $ 44,220 $ 52,971

113



Recreation Fund: Sports Programs
Recreation Fund

Department 02-40-000 Recreation Fund: Sports Programs

Recreation Fund
Department 02-40-000 Recreation Fund: Sports Programs

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue

Capital Grants

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Anticipating being fully staffed, current FYE had a number of FT vacancies for large duration (e.g. Dodds
Tennis Center).

Added pickleball clinics and tournaments at the new complex

Youth Softball has seen a significant increase in registration over the past few seasons, anticipating new
registration highs

Added a U14 Fall Travel Fast Pitch Softball Team

Soccer Registration is on the rise and anticipated to be higher than current FYE

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $98,743 or 22.0% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $89,992 or 22.3% more than the prior year.

114



Recreation Fund: Youth Programs
Principal Responsibilities
This department accounts for summer youth programs, afterschool and year-round preschool programs run by
the Park District. That includes Leonhard Recreation Center Day Camp and the Douglass Day Camp.

Employees Funded by Youth Programs Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Program Coordinator - Douglass 0.55 0.55 0.55 1.00
Adult and Senior Coordinator - Douglass - - - 1.00
Program Coordinator - Leonhard 0.50 0.27 0.27 -
Preschool Supervisor - Springer - - - 1.00
Program Manager - Springer - - - 0.54

Total FTE's 1.05 0.82 0.82 3.54

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 1.60 $ 3.39 $ 4.73 $ 5.23

Recreation Fund
Department 02-50-000 Recreation Fund: Youth Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 75,731 $ 231,341 $ 313,765 $ 371,711

Capital Grants 5,197 - 23,501 20,500

115



Recreation Fund: Youth Programs
Recreation Fund

Department 02-50-000 Recreation Fund: Youth Programs

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Capital Grants

Recreation Fund
Department 02-50-000 Recreation Fund: Youth Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Special Receipts - 171 - -

Total Estimated Revenues $ 80,928 $ 231,512 $ 337,266 $ 392,211

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 134,552 $ 284,206 $ 388,833 $ 414,874

Fringe Benefits 462 538 - -

Contractual 791 5,376 11,812 26,340

Commodities/Supplies 6,011 12,028 21,169 24,892

Total Appropriations $ 141,816 $ 302,148 $ 421,814 $ 466,106

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations $ (60,888) $ (70,636) $ (84,548) $ (73,895)

Recreation Fund
Department 02-50-000 Recreation Fund: Youth Programs

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations

Highlights:

116



Recreation Fund: Youth Programs
Increased capacity for LRC SYP (Day camp). Had a large waitlist in current FYE, but not enough staff. Also
increased fees by 11% to cover staff raises and inflationary costs

Membership dues for Hays Seniors increased.  This will be offset by inflationary increases in expenses for fuel
and food and, staff wages.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $54,945 or 16.3% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $44,292 or 10.5% more than the prior year.

117



Recreation Fund: Other Programs
Principal Responsibilities
Other Programs consists of school’s day out programming at Leonhard Rec Center, senior programming at
Douglass and Hays facilities, Martens Center programs, Sholem Sharks Swim Team.

Employees Funded by Recreation Fund: Other Programs - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

- - - -
Aquatics & Tennis Manager - 0.02 - 0.15
Aquatics Coordinator 0.05 - - 0.30
Douglass Adult & Senior Coordinator 0.85 0.71 0.85 -
Leonhard Recreation Center Program Coordinator 0.20 0.11 - -
Program Manager - 0.09 0.20 -
Sports Manager - - - 0.12

Total FTE's 1.10 0.93 1.05 0.57

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.21 $ 0.79 $ 1.52 $ 1.97

Recreation Fund
Department 02-60-000 Recreation Fund: Other Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

118



Recreation Fund: Other Programs
Recreation Fund

Department 02-60-000 Recreation Fund: Other Programs

Estimated Revenues

Recreation Fund
Department 02-60-000 Recreation Fund: Other Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Charge for Service Revenue $ 3,034 $ 28,979 $ 47,000 $ 56,670

Contributions/Sponsorships - - 25 400

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue - - 100 500

Special Receipts - 100 200 -

Total Estimated Revenues $ 3,034 $ 29,079 $ 47,325 $ 57,570

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 18,066 $ 54,351 $ 104,821 $ 107,751

Contractual 13 5,986 12,593 47,911

Commodities/Supplies 367 9,768 18,205 19,535

Total Appropriations $ 18,446 $ 70,105 $ 135,619 $ 175,197

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (15,412) $ (41,026) $ (88,294) $ (117,627)

Recreation Fund
Department 02-60-000 Recreation Fund: Other Programs

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

119



Recreation Fund: Other Programs

Highlights:

Raised Sholem Shark fees by 10% as board approved.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $10,245 or 21.6% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $39,578 or 29.2% more than the prior year.

120



Recreation Fund: Teen Programs
Principal Responsibilities
Connecting teens in the community to the outdoors and recreation activities and programs.  Teen camp is
provided in the Douglass Park area along with assistance from the Community Matters Programs.  Staff also
offer the TIA (Teens in Action) program.

Douglass Park Adult & Senior Program Coordinator - - 0.10 0.20

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.02 $ - $ 0.03 $ 0.03

Recreation Fund
Department 02-65-000 Recreation Fund: Teen Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ 5,040

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 1,726 $ 30 $ - $ -

Contractual - - 2,135 2,737

Commodities/Supplies - - 180 360

Total Appropriations $ 1,726 $ 30 $ 2,315 $ 3,097

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations $ (1,726) $ (30) $ (2,315) $ 1,943

121



Recreation Fund: Teen Programs
Recreation Fund

Department 02-65-000 Recreation Fund: Teen Programs

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $5,040 as the teen program is re-introduced for programming.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $782 or 33.8% more than the prior year,

122



Recreation Fund: Concessions
Principal Responsibilities
Covers the concession operations at Dodds Park, Zahnd Park and Sholem Aquatic Center. The sole revenue
is from concessions sold.

Employees Funded by Recreation Fund Concessions- Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Adult Sports Coordinator 0.25 0.09 - -
Aquatics & Tennis Manager - 0.02 0.20 0.15
Aquatics & Tennis Coordinator 0.05 - - 0.30
Sports Manager - - - 0.12

Total FTE's 0.30 0.11 0.20 0.57

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.22 $ 0.83 $ 1.37 $ 1.67

Recreation Fund
Department 02-69-000 Recreation Fund: Concessions

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ - $ - $ 150 $ 150

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 870 76,731 108,000 136,100

123



Recreation Fund: Concessions
Recreation Fund

Department 02-69-000 Recreation Fund: Concessions

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue

Recreation Fund
Department 02-69-000 Recreation Fund: Concessions

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Total Estimated Revenues $ 870 $ 76,731 $ 108,150 $ 136,250

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 14,598 $ 20,524 $ 55,727 $ 74,613

Contractual 1,886 11,178 13,404 17,127

Commodities/Supplies 2,753 42,051 52,400 56,460

Utilities 414 24 150 800

Total Appropriations $ 19,651 $ 73,777 $ 121,681 $ 149,000

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (18,781) $ 2,954 $ (13,531) $ (12,750)

Recreation Fund
Department 02-69-000 Recreation Fund: Concessions

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Raising food prices to cover increased costs due to inflation and salary program.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $28,100 or 26.0% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $27,319 or 22.5% more than the prior year.

124



Recreation Fund: Concessions

125



Recreation Fund: Aquatics
Principal Responsibilities
This department accounts for the activities at Sholem Aquatic Center.  The Sholem Aquatic Center is a family
water park run by the Park District. Opened in 2006, Sholem is home to two twisting body slides, a winding
tube slide that exits into a lazyy river, a lap lane area, zero depth entry, childrens' poll, plenty of play features,
a full service concession area, and grassy lawns with plety of shaded seating.  Sholem is proudly lifeguarded
by our internationally award winning Ellis and Associates certified staff.

Employees Funded by Aquatics Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Aquatics & Fitness Manager 0.34 1.00 - -
Aquatics & Tennis Manager 0.33 - 1.00 0.15
Aquatics Coordinator 0.90 - - 0.30
Sports Manager - - - 0.12

Total FTE's 1.57 1.00 1.00 0.57

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.98 $ 7.31 $ 8.29 $ 9.14

Recreation Fund
Department 02-70-000 Recreation Fund: Aquatics

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ - $ 382,449 $ 202,008 $ 490,222

126



Recreation Fund: Aquatics
Recreation Fund

Department 02-70-000 Recreation Fund: Aquatics

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Recreation Fund
Department 02-70-000 Recreation Fund: Aquatics

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Contributions/Sponsorships - - 1,800 -

Special Receipts - 23,196 20,313 22,340

Total Estimated Revenues $ - $ 405,645 $ 224,121 $ 512,562

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 30,962 $ 410,380 $ 467,000 $ 494,739

Fringe Benefits 105 403 - -

Contractual 14,949 54,597 64,400 89,972

Commodities/Supplies 3,907 82,357 83,100 90,746

Utilities 37,126 103,513 118,200 119,156

Routine/Periodic Maintenance - - 6,000 20,000

Total Appropriations $ 87,049 $ 651,250 $ 738,700 $ 814,613

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations $ (87,049) $ (245,605) $ (514,579) $ (302,051)

127



Recreation Fund: Aquatics
Recreation Fund

Department 02-70-000 Recreation Fund: Aquatics

Contributions/Sponsorships

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Under Appropriations

Hightlights:

Anticipating full staffing in full-time positions, contrary to FYE2023.

As the Board approved, Sholem Pool season to close August 14th (when Unit #4 returns to school). Shorter
season will help offset inflationary increases in costs and market-driven increases in part-time wages.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $288,441 or 128.7% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $75,913 or 10.3% more than the prior year.

128



Museum Fund: Administration
Principal Responsibilities
This Museum Fund Administration department accounts for all the administrative costs associated with the
fund, including personnel, benefits, contractual services, supplies, etc.

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Administration - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Director of Recreation 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Cultural Arts Manager 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30
Graphic Designer (Allocated) - - - 0.30

Total FTE's 0.80 0.80 0.80 1.10

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 1.91 $ 2.13 $ 2.79 $ 2.77

Museum Fund
Department 03-01-001 Museum Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue $ 1,713,908 $ 1,792,681 $ 1,874,149 $ 2,033,000

Special Receipts 118 - - -

Interest Income 10,192 5,403 210,000 244,031

Total Estimated Revenues $ 1,724,218 $ 1,798,084 $ 2,084,149 $ 2,277,031

129



Museum Fund: Administration
Museum Fund

Department 03-01-001 Museum Administration

Estimated Revenues

Property Tax Revenue

Special Receipts

Interest Income

Total Estimated Revenues

Museum Fund
Department 03-01-001 Museum Administration

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 80,960 $ 75,764 $ 82,000 $ 84,096

Fringe Benefits 82,336 95,374 115,435 132,120

Contractual 6,002 17,636 25,830 30,000

Commodities/Supplies 97 1,243 1,000 500

Routine/Periodic Maintenance - - 24,000 -

Total Appropriations $ 169,395 $ 190,017 $ 248,265 $ 246,716

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations $ 1,554,823 $ 1,608,067 $ 1,835,884 $ 2,030,315

Museum Fund
Department 03-01-001 Museum Administration

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over
Appropriations

Highlights:

130



Museum Fund: Administration
Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $192,882 or 9.3% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $1,549 or .6% less than than the prior year.

131



Museum Fund: Cultural Arts
Principal Responsibilities
This Museum Fund: Cultural Arts department accounts for Springer Cultural Center which provides a 26-room
multipurpose facility featuring informal performance space, exhibit space, dance studio, fitness room, ceramic
studio, studio space, rehearsal and meeting space. Responsibilities include art exhibits, ceramics, dance arts
program, youth theatre, music programs, rentals, special interest, visual arts and workshops.

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Cultural Arts - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Cultural Arts Coordinator 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.41
Dance Arts Supervisor 0.80 1.00 1.00 0.72
Youth Theatre Director/Producer 0.80 1.00 1.00 1.00
Receptionist - - - 1.00

- - - -

Total FTE's 2.40 2.80 2.80 3.13

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 1.14 $ 1.70 $ 2.39 $ 3.04

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-000 Museum Fund: Cultural Arts

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 62,398 $ 139,792 $ 165,324 $ 195,544

Contributions/Sponsorships - - 400 8,860

132



Museum Fund: Cultural Arts
Museum Fund

Department 03-15-000 Museum Fund: Cultural Arts

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-000 Museum Fund: Cultural Arts

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Capital Grants 7,325 6,325 5,250 6,500

Special Receipts 1,319 2,504 2,744 3,484

Total Estimated Revenues $ 71,042 $ 148,621 $ 173,718 $ 214,388

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 78,965 $ 106,270 $ 141,405 $ 187,240

Fringe Benefits 924 2,769 - -

Contractual 19,165 32,110 52,687 63,421

Commodities/Supplies 531 9,017 17,970 18,281

Utilities 1,562 1,403 1,300 1,630

Total Appropriations $ 101,147 $ 151,569 $ 213,362 $ 270,572

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (30,105) $ (2,948) $ (39,644) $ (56,184)

133



Museum Fund: Cultural Arts
Museum Fund

Department 03-15-000 Museum Fund: Cultural Arts

Capital Grants

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $40,670 or 23.4% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $57,210 or 26.8% more than the prior year.

134



Museum Fund: Special Events
Principal Responsibilities
Special Events produces community-wide events and manages the Park District's volunteer program.
Responsibilities include: summer concerts in the parks, Halloween Funfest, Eggstravaganza, Nite Lite egg
Pursuit, Streetfest (prior to FYE2024), Flannelfest, Block Parties, Touch-a-Truck and other smaller events
throughout the year.  For FYE 2023, the Winter Lights at Prairie Farm and FlannelFest events were epanded
and a new event for West Side Arts was added.

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Special Events - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Special Events Manager 0.80 1.00 1.00 1.00
Special Events Coordinator - 0.20 0.20 1.00
Special Events & Volunteer Coordinator (under

general fund) 1.00 0.80 - -

Total FTE's 1.80 2.00 1.20 2.00

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 1.15 $ 1.40 $ 2.50 $ 2.75

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-002 Museum Fund: Special Events

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 2,369 $ 4,835 $ 17,020 $ 37,700

Contributions/Sponsorships 1,000 13,565 39,900 35,500

135



Museum Fund: Special Events
Museum Fund

Department 03-15-002 Museum Fund: Special Events

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-002 Museum Fund: Special Events

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Capital Grants 4,100 2,100 5,750 4,000

Total Estimated Revenues $ 7,469 $ 20,500 $ 62,670 $ 77,200

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 82,258 $ 83,200 $ 106,087 $ 100,114

Fringe Benefits 843 805 1,260 1,260

Contractual 5,066 20,816 91,958 100,610

Commodities/Supplies 14,286 20,259 23,735 43,060

Total Appropriations $ 102,453 $ 125,080 $ 223,040 $ 245,044

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (94,984) $ (104,580) $ (160,370) $ (167,844)

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-002 Museum Fund: Special Events

Capital Grants

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Increase in Personnel due to Volunteer Coordinator wages.  This is a new position that has been active for

136



Museum Fund: Special Events
less than a year.

All events, Touch a Truck, Boneyard Creek Community Day, Holiday in Whooville, Zoom with Santa, Thursday
Night Flix, Day in the Park are planned.  FlannelFest will be a shorter length and have less expensive
entertainment.  Due to the increased wages, all events are planned to include more and/or larger
sponsorships.  Day in the Park will feature addional entertainment. Halloween FunFest will continue to operate
as a partnership with the Urbana Park District. The Showmobile was budgeted for new stage lighting, but will
be moved to the capital improvement plan as bids came back over $5,000.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $14,530 or 23.2% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $22,004 or 9.9% more than the prior year.

137



Museum Fund: Facilities
Principal Responsibilities
The Museum Fund facilties department accounts for all the expeditures required to maintain the building for
programming such as staffing, maintenance supplies, contacts, etc.  It also includes the pottery studio. 

Pairie Farm is a replica of a turn-of-the-century farm complete with barns, farmhouse, pond, pasture and
flower garden. It is open to the general public furing the summer months.The farm features traditional farm
animals and a petting zoo.  No admission is charged, but donations are welcome.

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Facilities - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Building Service Worker - Springer 1.00 0.90 1.00 1.00
Cultural Arts Coordinator 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.19
Receptionist - Douglass 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Facility Manager - Leonhard - 0.20 - 0.30
Facility Coordinator - Springer 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total FTE's 3.18 3.28 3.18 2.49

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 2.16 $ 4.29 $ 4.51 $ 4.93

Recreation Fund
Department 03-30-000 Museum Fund: Facilities

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

138



Museum Fund: Facilities
Recreation Fund

Department 03-30-000 Museum Fund: Facilities

Estimated Revenues

Recreation Fund
Department 03-30-000 Museum Fund: Facilities

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Charge for Service Revenue $ 19,214 $ 57,266 $ 59,200 $ 76,507

Contributions/Sponsorships 967 3,720 2,250 2,250

Capital Grants 3,000 3,000 - 1,500

Special Receipts - 3,914 4,500 7,475

Total Estimated Revenues $ 23,181 $ 67,900 $ 65,950 $ 87,732

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 128,427 $ 285,068 $ 298,083 $ 304,574

Fringe Benefits 696 32 - -

Contractual 14,934 22,897 26,627 31,809

Commodities/Supplies 6,804 28,571 25,238 32,760

Utilities 41,354 45,630 51,941 54,561

Routine/Periodic Maintenance - - - 16,000

Total Appropriations $ 192,215 $ 382,198 $ 401,889 $ 439,704

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (169,034) $ (314,298) $ (335,939) $ (351,972)

139



Museum Fund: Facilities
Recreation Fund

Department 03-30-000 Museum Fund: Facilities

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Capital Grants

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Rentals at Hays Center have increased, but staffing is still an issue.  Therefore, some uncertainty exists as to
whether the program can generate the same revenue as in prior years.  Also, expenses have increased due to
the increase in staff wages.

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $21,782 or 33.0% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $37,815 or 9.4% more than the prior year.

140



Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre
Principal Responsibilities
The Virginia Theatre offers a 1,463 seat historic venue for persorming arets programs accessible to
Champaign, Urbana and surrounding communities.  Reseponsibilities include community partnerships,
concerts, event coordinator, event production, movies, plays, recitals, rentals and The News-Gazette Film
Servies.  The Virginia Theatre was closed for all of FY21, it reopened September 25, 2021. 

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Director of Virginia Theatre 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Box Office Manager 0.80 1.00 1.00 1.00
Front of House Coordinatore 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Sales & Public Relations Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Technical Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total FTE's 4.80 5.00 5.00 5.00

Performance Indicators
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 3.75 $ 7.81 $ 11.89 $ 12.07

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-003 Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ (5,694) $ 325,404 $ 733,500 $ 715,560

Contributions/Sponsorships - 5,725 20 5,000

141



Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre
Museum Fund

Department 03-15-003 Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Contributions/Sponsorships

Museum Fund
Department 03-15-003 Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue 2,255 29,301 113,366 118,508

Special Receipts 4,382 400 15,000 14,500

Total Estimated Revenues $ 943 $ 360,830 $ 861,886 $ 853,568

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 215,940 $ 331,619 $ 412,633 $ 427,911

Fringe Benefits 3,318 2,776 2,000 1,700

Contractual 43,524 266,530 482,678 495,667

Commodities/Supplies 5,077 31,068 56,245 62,545

Utilities 57,081 61,743 87,400 87,400

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 8,500 2,000 18,778 -

Total Appropriations $ 333,440 $ 695,736 $ 1,059,734 $ 1,075,223

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ (332,497) $ (334,906) $ (197,848) $ (221,655)

142



Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre
Museum Fund

Department 03-15-003 Museum Fund: Virginia Theatre

Merchandise/Concessions Revenue

Special Receipts

Total Estimated Revenues

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Utilities

Routine/Periodic Maintenance

Total Appropriations

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $8,318 or 1.0% less than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $15,489 or 1.5% more than the prior year.

143



Museum Fund: Youth Programs
Principal Responsibilities
This Museum Fund department includes preschool activities such as Art Smart Kids and Creative Kids day
camps.

Employees Funded by Museum Fund: Youth Programs - Positions and Numbers

Position
FYE2021

Actual
FYE2022

Actual
FYE2023
Projected

FYE2024
Budget

- - - -
Preschool Supervisor 0.75 0.75 1.00 -
Dance Arts Supervisor - - - 0.28
Cultural Arts Coordinator - - - 0.40

Operating Expenditure Per Capita $ 0.14 $ 0.42 $ - $ -

Museum Fund
Department 03-50-000 Museum Fund: Youth Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue $ 16,146 $ 62,307 $ 59,500 $ 63,500

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages $ 12,312 $ 35,326 $ 58,837 $ 66,900

Contractual 25 1,053 1,250 3,750

Commodities/Supplies 309 668 2,950 3,030

Total Appropriations $ 12,646 $ 37,047 $ 63,037 $ 73,680

144



Museum Fund: Youth Programs
Museum Fund

Department 03-50-000 Museum Fund: Youth Programs

Estimated Revenues

Charge for Service Revenue

Appropriations

Salaries and Wages

Contractual

Commodities/Supplies

Total Appropriations

Museum Fund
Department 03-50-000 Museum Fund: Youth Programs

FYE2021 FYE2022
Projected
FYE2023

Budget
FYE2024

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations $ 3,500 $ 25,260 $ (3,537) $ (10,180)

Museum Fund
Department 03-50-000 Museum Fund: Youth Programs

Net of Revenues Over (Under) Appropriations

Highlights:

Total revenue budgeted for FYE2024 is $4,000 or 6.7% more than the prior year.

FYE2024 budgeted expenditures are $10,643 or 16.9% more than the prior year.

145



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Park District Profile

Organization Date Organized in 1911, the Park District was established as a separate unit
of local government in 1955 by referendum.

Government Type Five elected Commissioners serve as the Board of Commissioners for
the Park District. Commissioners are elected to serve six-year terms and
receive no compensation.

Officers The Commissioners elect a President and Vice President, appoint a
Treasurer, Board Secretary and Assistant Secretary annually in May.

Location Park District is located in East Central Illinois.

Boundaries The boundaries of the Park District are nearly coterminous with the City
of Champaign and encompass approximately 25 square miles.

Population The Park District's population per the 2020 census is 89,114, and is
estimated as of July, 2022 at 89,114. The Park District also serves the
University of Illinois population and the City of Urbana.

Assessed Value The equalized assessed valuation (EAV) for real estate located within
Park District boundaries estimated for RY2022 is 2,172,376,600.

Tax Rate The property tax rate for 2023 payable in 2024 is estimated to be 0.7259
per $100 of EAV, an increase of 0.0066 or 0.92%

Current Budget The Park District's total budget for FYE2024 is $20,958,807 (including
transfers). The fiscal year begins May 1 and ends April 30.

Park Resources The Park District maintains 63 parks comprised of community parks,
neighborhood parks, mini parks and 30 walking/bike trails totaling more
than 691 acres. There are 34 miles of path and trails. Recreational
facilities include one aquatic center with three water slides, two
recreation centers with gymnasiums, two senior centers, the Springer
Cultural Arts Center, the Virginia Theatre (a 1463 seat auditorium), a
six-court indoor tennis facility, 24 outdoor tennis courts, 25 softball and
baseball fields, 22 soccer fields, six volleyball courts, 33 outdoor
playgrounds, two skate parks, a children’s petting zoo, a dog park, 20
picnic shelters, four small lakes for fishing, and shared gymnasium
space at two elementary schools. A new community center was added
in July 2022.

Program Services The Park District offers over 1,400 programs and activities per year
including but not limited to: athletics, group fitness, fitness events,
music, dance, drama, day camps, cultural and performing arts,
preschool and youth programs, swimming, tennis, senior programs,
special events and trips.

Staff The Park District has an appointed executive director responsible for the
administration of the Park District. The Park District Board of
Commissioners has authorized 84 full-time staff (more than 37
hours/week). In addition, the Park District employs an average of 580
additional part-time seasonal and temporary workers in any given year.



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Affiliations The Park District is affiliated with the National Recreation and Park
Association (NRPA), the Illinois Association of Park Districts (IAPD) and
the Illinois Park and Recreation Association (IPRA).

Awards The National Gold Medal Award for Excellence in Parks and Recreation
was received in 1979, 1990 and 1998. The Champaign-Urbana Special
Recreation Association, which is administered by the Park District, won
the Gold Medal for its classification in 2000.

The Park District earned the Distinguished Agency Award and
designation in 1999 and was re-certified in 2006, 2011 and 2018.

The Park District has received the Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting for twenty-six consecutive years
(1995-2021). The Park District also received the Distinguished Budget
Presentation Award for FYE2022, which marks the fifteenth consecutive
year. The District did not apply in FYE2023.

For the past several years, the Park District’s aquatics staff has earned
Ellis & Associates Platinum and Gold International Aquatic Safety
Awards – these awards recognize the top performing lifeguard staffs in
the world.

Contact Information Champaign Park District
706 Kenwood Road
Champaign, IL 61821
Phone:  217-398-2550
Fax:  217-355-8421
Website:  www.champaignparks.com



SOCIAL MEDIA: 

Facebook https://www.facebook.com/ChampaignParkDist  

Twitter https://twitter.com/champark  

Instagram https://instagram.com/champaignparkdist/   

Pinterest https://www.pinterest.com/champark/  

YouTube https://www.youtube.com/user/ChampaignParkDist  



Assessed Valuation Comparisons

 RY 2017 RY 2018 RY 2019 RY 2020 RY 2021 RY 2022

Farm 837,790 841,840 1,002,800 1,055,900 1,100,220 1,150,000
Industrial 13,952,270 14,018,940 14,372,090 14,601,770 14,671,850 15,950,330
Commercial 842,786,406 865,720,994 918,888,016 941,817,753 978,654,973 1,107,732,488
Residential 915,894,920 951,343,567 967,542,759 991,453,168 1,021,639,469 1,046,489,524
Railroad 1,024,136 1,185,438 1,009,588 938,767 1,053,738 1,054,258

TOTAL 1,774,495,522 1,833,110,779 1,902,815,253 1,949,867,358 2,017,120,250 2,172,376,600



Tax Rates, Levies, and Collections

Historical Tax EAV, Rates, and Collections

Year

Assessed
Valuation Tax Rate Taxes Collected

2001 863,909,695 0.6627 5,766,874
2002 918,220,166 0.6754 6,244,301
2003 974,471,183 0.6843 6,707,950
2004 1,031,948,826 0.6782 6,981,975
2005 1,191,143,418 0.6597 8,039,809
2006 1,325,034,312 0.6414 8,662,150
2007 1,453,398,642 0.6190 8,996,538
2008 1,547,895,455 0.6157 9,530,392
2009 1,545,794,493 0.6300 9,738,505
2010 1,550,079,751 0.6529 10,120,470
2011 1,533,547,237 0.6789 10,411,252
2012 1,529,262,864 0.7088 10,839,415
2013 1,503,718,963 0.7645 11,495,931
2014 1,527,189,530 0.7264 11,063,851
2015 1,551,337,617 0.7443 11,531,605
2016 1,676,268,824 0.7149 11,960,653
2017 1,774,495,522 0.7149 12,581,418
2018 1,833,110,779 0.7149 13,044,398
2019 1,902,815,253 0.7193 13,385,617
2020 1,949,867,358 0.7193 13,955,389
2021 2,017,120,250 0.7259 14,581,341
2022

Estimated 2,172,376,600 0.7259 -

Current Year Tax Rate Detail

Fund Rate Assessed Valuation
Tax Extension

Estimated Rate Limit
General 0.3392 2,172,376,600 $ 7,368,748 0.3500
Bond Amortization 0.0598 2,172,376,600 1,299,051 -
IMRF 0.0101 2,172,376,600 218,683 -
Police 0.0020 2,172,376,600 42,450 0.0250
Audit 0.0016 2,172,376,600 35,616 0.0050
Liability Insurance 0.0183 2,172,376,600 398,003 -
Social Security 0.0243 2,172,376,600 527,674 -
Museum 0.0946 2,172,376,600 2,055,938 0.1500
Recreation 0.1314 2,172,376,600 2,855,273 0.3700
Paving and Lighting 0.0050 2,172,376,600 108,441 0.0050
Special and Recreation 0.0396 2,172,376,600 859,405 0.0400
Revenue Recapture - 2,172,376,600 - -

Total 0.7259 $ 15,769,282



Ordinance #667

BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE
For the Year Ended 2024

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE COMBINED
ANNUAL BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION OF

FUNDS FOR THE CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY,ILLINOIS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING ON THE
FIRST (1st) DAY OF MAY 2023, AND ENDING ON THE THIRTIETH DAY (30th) OF APRIL 2024

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS OF THE CHAMPAIGN PARK
DISTRICT, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS:

SECTION 1. It is hereby found and determined:

(a) This Board has heretofore caused to be prepared a combined Annual Budget and
Appropriation in tentative form, which Ordinance will be conveniently available for public
inspection for at least 30 days prior to final action thereon; and

(b) A public hearing will be held at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road,
Champaign, Illinois, on the 8th day of March 2023 on said Ordinance, notice of said
hearing having been given by publication in the Champaign News Gazette, being a
newspaper published within the District, at least one week prior to such hearing; and

(c) That all other legal requirements for the adoption of the Annual Budget and
Appropriation of this Park District for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2023 and ending
April 30, 2024 have heretofore been performed.

Section 2. The following sums of money, or so much thereof as may be authorized by law for the
following objects and purposes, be and the same are hereby budgeted and appropriated for the
fiscal year beginning the first (1st) day of May 2023 and ending the thirtieth (30th) day of April 2024.

Each of said sums of money and the aggregate thereof are deemed necessary by this Board to
defray the necessary expenses and liabilities of this District during the fiscal year beginning May 1,
2023 and ending April 30, 2024 for the respective purposes set forth.

All unexpended balances of the appropriations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2023 and prior
years are hereby specifically re-appropriated for the same general purposes for which they were
originally made and may be expended in making up any insufficiency of any other items provided in
this appropriation ordinance, in making this appropriated, shall constitute the general corporate fund
and shall first be placed to credit of such fund.

Section 3. The following determinations have been made and are hereby made a part of the
aforesaid budget:

An estimate of the cash on hand at the beginning of the fiscal year is expected to be
$34,464,561.

An estimate of the cash expected to be received during the fiscal year from all sources is
$25,393,043.

An estimate of the expenditures and transfers contemplated for the fiscal year is $20,958,807.

An estimate of the cash expected to be on hand at the end of the first year is $38,898,797.

An estimate of the amount of taxes to be received during the fiscal year is $15,655,189.

Section 4. The receipts and revenues of the Champaign Park District derived from sources other



Ordinance #667

BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE
For the Year Ended 2024

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE COMBINED
ANNUAL BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION OF

FUNDS FOR THE CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY,ILLINOIS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING ON THE
FIRST (1st) DAY OF MAY 2023, AND ENDING ON THE THIRTIETH DAY (30th) OF APRIL 2024

than taxation and not specifically appropriated, and all unexpended balances from the preceding
fiscal year not required for the purposes for which they were appropriated and levied, shall constitute
the General Corporate Fund and shall first be placed to credit of such fund.

Section 5. All ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with any of the provisions of this
ordinance be, and the same, are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. If any item or portion
thereof of this budget and appropriation ordinance is for any reason held invalid, such decision shall
not affect the validity of the remaining portion of such items or the remaining portion of this
ordinance.

Section 6. This ordinance shall be full force and effective immediately upon its passage.

Passed this 22nd day of March 2023.

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

[SEAL]

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT

By

______________________________
Kevin Miller, Board President

ATTEST:

______________________________
Jarrod Scheunemann, Board Secretary



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Totals by Fund

May 1,2023 through April 30, 2024

2023-24
Fund Description Final Budget Appropriations

01 General $ 5,758,098 $ 6,168,980

02 Recreation 3,957,968 4,286,867

03 Museum 2,367,889 2,522,022

04 Liability Insurance 504,990 555,489

06 IMRF FUND 263,520 316,224

08 Audit Fund 34,500 37,950

09 Paving And Lighting Fund 191,100 202,210

12 Special Donations Fund 135,000 151,750

14 Social Security Fund 470,000 540,500

15 Special Recreation Fund 1,332,747 1,466,006

16 Capital Improvements Fund 2,611,095 2,872,205

19 Police Protection 40,000 46,000

21 Bond Amortization Fund 1,319,500 1,451,450

22 Bond Proceeds Fund 1,905,500 2,044,550

24 Land Acquisition Fund - 750,000

25 Park Development Fund 66,900 73,590

26 Trails And Pathways Fund - 100,000

Appropriations - All Funds $ 20,958,807 $ 23,585,793



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Fund 01 - GENERAL

Salaries and Wages
70201 Full-Time Salaries And Wages 2,585,964 2,689,403
70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages 376,098 406,186

Salaries and Wages 2,962,062 3,095,589

Fringe Benefits
53132 Dental Insurance 13,000 14,300
53133 Medical Health Insurance 361,600 397,760
53134 Life Insurance 7,600 8,360
53137 Employee Assistance Program 1,600 1,760
83003 Allowances/Reimbursements 58,020 63,822

Fringe Benefits 441,820 486,002

Contractual
54201 Postage And Mailing 5,170 5,687
54202 Legal Publications/Notices 4,750 5,225
54204 Staff Meetings 1,300 1,430
54205 Legal Publications/Notices 3,600 3,960
54206 Advertising/Publicity 31,550 34,705
54207 Staff Training 20,250 22,275
54208 Memberships, Dues And Fees 28,600 31,460
54209 Conference And Travel 50,192 55,211
54210 Board Expense 5,000 5,500
54212 Attorney Fees 150,000 165,000
54214 Architect And Engineering Fees 45,000 49,500
54215 Professional Fees 87,800 96,580
54234 Landfill Fees 32,000 35,200
54236 Auto Allowance 75 83
54240 Office Equipment Repairs 200 220
54241 Vehicle Repair 12,500 13,750
54242 Equipment Repair 28,700 31,570
54245 Building Repair 12,700 13,970
54250 Equipment Rental 15,300 16,830
54253 Pest Control 1,100 1,210
54254 Service Contracts 51,800 56,980
54255 License And Fees 50,635 55,699
54260 Service Contracts-Facilities 4,950 5,445
54261 Service Contracts-Grounds 60,500 66,550
54263 Contractual Mowing 200,000 220,000
54264 Cell Phone Expense 3,500 3,850
54265 Subscriptions 1,350 1,485
54270 Personnel Costs 63,700 70,070
54275 Health And Wellness 4,500 4,950
54280 Other Contractual Services 85,750 92,602
54282 Intern Stipend 600 654
54291 Park And Recreation Excellence 3,000 3,263
59412 Property/Sales Tax 300 306
59414 Credit Card Fees 400 451

Contractual 1,066,772 1,171,671



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Commodities/Supplies
55301 Office Supplies 10,150 11,165
55302 Envelopes And Stationary 800 880
55303 Duplicating Supplies 1,650 1,815
55304 Checks And Bank Supplies 1,200 1,320
55305 Photographic Supplies 750 825
55307 Books And Manuscripts 600 660
55308 First Aid/Medical Supplies 4,750 5,225
55309 Safety Supplies 8,500 9,350
55315 Staff Uniforms 18,000 19,800
55316 Participant Uniforms 500 550
55320 Building Maintenance Supplies 21,000 23,100
55321 Landscape Supplies 33,200 36,520
55322 Cleaning /Janitorial Supplies 6,100 6,710
55323 Playground Maintenance Supplies 6,000 6,600
55324 Prescribed Burn Supplies 1,000 1,100
55325 Equipment And Tools 24,000 25,930
55326 Shop Equipment And Supplies 7,000 7,700
55327 Vehicle/Equipment Repair Parts 28,500 31,350
55328 Amenity Maintenance Supplies 10,000 11,000
55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 5,000 5,500
55330 Gas,Fuel,Grease And Oil 103,050 113,355
55331 Chemicals 14,500 15,950
55332 Paints 1,550 1,705
55333 Plant Materials 125,000 137,500
55348 Flowers And Cards 1,800 1,980
55349 Plaques, Awards And Prizes 4,000 4,400
55350 Recreation/Program Supplies 5,500 6,050
55352 Fish Restocking 3,000 3,300
55354 Food Supplies 15,500 17,050

Commodities/Supplies 462,600 508,390

Utilities
56230 Sanitary Fees And Charges 12,800 14,080
56231 Gas And Electricity 71,000 78,100
56232 Water 90,000 99,000
56233 Telecomm Expenditures 34,544 37,998

Utilities 208,344 229,178

Routine/Periodic Maintenance
58001 Periodic Maintenance 55,500 61,050
58002 Routine Maintenance 261,000 287,100

Routine/Periodic
Maintenance 316,500 348,150

Transfers to Other Funds
59409 Transfers To Other Funds 300,000 330,000

Appropriations - Fund 01 5,758,098 6,168,980



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Fund 02 - RECREATION

Salaries and Wages
70201 Full-Time Salaries And Wages 1,115,038 1,159,640
70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages 1,317,071 1,448,778

Salaries and Wages 2,432,109 2,608,418

Fringe Benefits
53132 Dental Insurance 5,000 5,500
53133 Medical Health Insurance 146,500 161,150
53134 Life Insurance 3,300 3,630
53137 Employee Assistance Program 600 660
83003 Allowances/Reimbursements 19,640 21,604

Fringe Benefits 175,040 192,544

Contractual
54201 Postage And Mailing Expense 360 396
54202 Printing And Duplicating 5,016 5,518
54204 Staff Meetings 200 220
54206 Advertising/Publicity 10,452 11,497
54207 Staff Training 21,928 24,121
54208 Memberships, Dues And Fees 14,560 16,016
54209 Conference And Travel 14,235 15,659
54234 Landfill Fees 5,520 6,072
54241 Vehicle Repair 1,000 1,100
54242 Equipment Repair 33,832 37,215
54245 Building Repair 44,400 48,840
54250 Equipment Rental 9,486 10,435
54251 Rental Facilities 1,815 1,997
54253 Pest Control 4,295 4,725
54254 Service Contracts 21,089 23,198
54255 License And Fees 1,080 1,188
54260 Service Contracts-Facilities 49,726 54,699
54261 Service Contracts-Grounds 2,500 2,750
54264 Cell Phone Expense 3,078 3,386
54265 Subscriptions 275 303
54270 Personnel Costs 59,000 64,900
54271 Petty Cash 600 660
54280 Other Contractual Services 4,551 5,006
54281 Contractual Personnel 30,830 33,913
54282 Intern Stipend 3,000 3,300
54285 Contractual Entertainment 1,700 1,870
54299 Field/Special Trips 61,719 67,891
59412 Property/Sales Tax 12,519 13,771
59414 Credit Card Fees 43,000 47,300

Contractual 461,766 507,946

Commodities/Supplies
55301 Office Supplies 7,695 8,465
55303 Duplicating Supplies 2,875 3,163
55307 Books And Manuscripts 730 803
55308 First Aid Supplies 3,030 3,333



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

55315 Staff Uniforms 19,301 21,231
55316 Participant Uniforms 16,493 18,142
55320 Building Maintenance Supplies 35,015 38,517
55321 Landscape Supplies 13,300 14,630
55322 Cleaning /janitorial Supplies 24,446 26,891
55325 Equipment And Tools 7,000 7,700
55327 Vehicle/equip Repair Parts 2,500 2,750
55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 4,000 4,400
55330 Fuel Purchases 14,050 15,455
55331 Chemicals 73,500 80,850
55332 Paints 20,000 22,000
55333 Plant Materials 1,000 1,100
55348 Flowers And Cards 500 550
55349 Plaques, Awards And Prizes 7,744 8,518
55350 Recreation/program Supplies 79,560 87,516
55353 Innovation Center Supplies 2,000 2,200
55354 Food Supplies 21,332 23,465
55360 Merchandise For Resale 58,990 64,889

Commodities/Supplies 415,061 456,568

Utilities
56230 Sanitary Fees And Charges 8,120 8,932
56231 Gas And Electricity 313,716 345,088
56232 Water 105,014 115,515
56233 Telecomm Expenditures 27,142 29,856

Utilities 453,992 499,391

Routine/Periodic Maintenance
58001 Periodic Maintenance 20,000 22,000

Transfers to Other Funds

Appropriations - Fund 02 3,957,968 4,286,867

Fund 03 - MUSEUM

Salaries and Wages
70201 Full-Time Salaries And Wages 704,316 725,445
70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages 476,519 490,815

Salaries and Wages 1,180,835 1,216,260

Fringe Benefits
53132 Dental Insurance 4,000 4,400
53133 Medical Health Insurance 122,300 134,530
53134 Life Insurance 2,400 2,640
53137 Employee Assistance Program 600 660
83003 Allowances/Reimbursements 5,780 6,358

Fringe Benefits 135,080 148,588

Contractual
54201 Postage And Mailing 2,300 2,530
54202 Printing And Duplicating 10,767 11,844



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

54205 Legal Publications/Notices 64 70
54206 Advertising/Publicity 53,577 58,935
54207 Staff Training 1,000 1,100
54208 Memberships, Dues And Fees 1,000 1,100
54209 Conference And Travel 11,000 12,100
54215 Professional Fees 1,000 1,100
54234 Landfill Fees 7,325 8,058
54241 Vehicle Repair 500 550
54242 Equipment Repair 10,920 12,012
54245 Building Repair 12,250 13,475
54250 Equipment Rental 45,390 49,929
54251 Rental Facilities 39,375 43,313
54253 Pest Control 1,580 1,738
54254 Service Contracts 5,560 6,116
54255 License And Fees 8,215 9,037
54260 Service Contracts-facilities 61,020 67,122
54265 Subscriptions 156 172
54270 Personnel Costs 26,000 28,600
54280 Other Contractual Services 52,200 57,420
54281 Contractual Personnel 33,378 36,716
54285 Contractual Entertainment 271,630 298,793
54299 Field/special Trips 3,000 3,300
59412 Property/sales Tax 10,000 11,000
59414 Credit Card Fees 56,450 62,095

Contractual 725,657 798,225

Commodities/Supplies
55301 Office Supplies 2,450 2,695
55302 Envelopes And Stationary 500 550
55303 Duplicating Supplies 855 941
55305 Photographic Supplies 50 55
55308 First Aid/Medical Supplies 600 660
55315 Staff Uniforms 1,137 1,251
55316 Participant Uniforms 1,904 2,094
55320 Building Maintenance Supplies 16,250 17,875
55322 Cleaning /Janitorial Supplies 7,100 7,810
55327 Vehicle/Equipment Repair Parts 1,000 1,100
55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 1,500 1,650
55330 Gas,Fuel,Grease And Oil 1,500 1,650
55349 Plaques, Awards And Prizes 10,021 11,023
55350 Recreation/Program Supplies 55,809 61,390
55351 Animal Supplies 1,500 1,650
55354 Food Supplies 29,600 32,560
55355 Animal Feed 2,000 2,200
55360 Merchandise For Resale 32,950 36,245

Commodities/Supplies 166,726 183,399

Utilities
56230 Sanitary Fees And Charges 2,000 2,200
56231 Gas And Electricity 113,731 125,104
56232 Water 13,450 14,795
56233 Telecomm Expenditures 14,410 15,851



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Utilities 143,591 157,950

Routine/Periodic Maintenance
58001 Periodic Maintenance 16,000 17,600

Transfers to Other Funds

Appropriations - Fund 03 2,367,889 2,522,022

Fund 04 - LIABILITY INSURANCE

Salaries and Wages
70201 Full-Time Salaries And Wages 33,600 36,960

Fringe Benefits
53132 Dental Insurance 500 550

53133 Medical Health Insurance 14,000 15,400

53134 Life Insurance 300 330

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements 840 924

Fringe Benefits 15,640 17,204

Contractual
54207 Staff Training 750 825

54209 Conference And Travel 750 825

54255 License And Fees 2,000 2,200

54270 Personnel Costs 1,000 1,100

Contractual 4,500 4,950

Commodities/Supplies
55306 CPR Books And Supplies (Tort Fund) 4,600 5,060

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 2,000 2,200

Commodities/Supplies 6,600 7,260

Insurance
57131 Workers Compensation 93,500 102,850

57137 Unemployment Premium 2,500 2,750

57220 Liability Insurance 51,700 56,870

57222 Employment Practices 14,950 16,445

57224 Property Insurance 92,000 101,200

Insurance 254,650 280,115

Capital Outlay
61515 Repair Projects And Equipment 190,000 209,000

Appropriations - Fund 04 504,990 555,489

Fund 06 - IMRF FUND

Fringe Benefits
53135 IMRF Payments 263,520 316,224

Appropriations - Fund 06 263,520 316,224



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Fund 08 - AUDIT FUND

Fringe Benefits
54217 Audit Expenses 34,500 37,950

Appropriations - Fund 08 34,500 37,950

Fund 09 - PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND

Routine/Periodic Maintenance
58002 Routine Maintenance 91,100 100,210

Capital Outlay
61508 Park Construction/Improvements 100,000 102,000

Appropriations - Fund 09 191,100 202,210

Fund 12 - SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND

Contractual
54292 Scholarships 65,000 74,750

59415 Transfer To Parks Foundation-Restricted 70,000 77,000

135,000 151,750

Appropriations - Fund 12 135,000 151,750

Fund 14 - SOCIAL SECURITY FUND

Fringe Benefits
53136 FICA Payments 470,000 540,500

Appropriations - Fund 14 470,000 540,500

Fund 15 - SPECIAL RECREATION FUND

Salaries and Wages
70201 Full-Time Salaries And Wages 214,200 235,620

70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages 205,427 225,970

419,627 461,590

Fringe Benefits
53132 Dental Insurance 1,500 1,650

53133 Medical Health Insurance 41,900 46,090

53134 Life Insurance 600 660

53135 IMRF Payments 13,500 14,850

53136 FICA Payments 25,000 27,500

53137 Employee Assistance Program 200 220

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements 1,000 1,100

83,700 92,070



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Contractual
54201 Postage And Mailing 2,000 2,200

54202 Printing And Duplicating 5,000 5,500

54204 Staff Meeting 620 682

54205 Legal Publications And Notices 500 550

54206 Advertising/publicity 1,850 2,035

54207 Staff Training 2,850 3,135

54208 Memberships, Dues And Fees 1,725 1,898

54209 Conference And Travel 340 360

54236 Auto Allowance 250 275

54241 Vehicle Repair 3,000 3,300

54245 Building Repair 1,500 1,650

54250 Equipment Rental 525 578

54251 Rental Facilities 4,570 5,027

54253 Pest Control 420 462

54254 Service Contracts 2,700 2,970

54260 Service Contracts-facilities 5,400 5,940

54264 Cell Phone Expense 400 440

54270 Personnel Costs 11,000 12,100

54281 Contractual Personnel 3,881 4,269

54282 Intern Stipends 1,200 1,320

54285 Contractual Entertainment 100 110

54299 Field/special Trips 30,684 33,752

59414 Credit Card Fees 1,400 1,540

81,915 90,093

Commodities/Supplies
55301 Office Supplies 1,500 1,650

55302 Envelopes And Stationary 380 418

55303 Duplicating Supplies 300 330

55315 Staff Uniforms 3,700 4,070

55316 Participant Uniforms 2,304 2,534

55320 Building Maintenance Supplies 2,000 2,200

55322 Cleaning /janitorial Supplies 2,710 2,981

55327 Vehicle/equipment Repair Parts 2,000 2,200

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000 800 880

55330 Gas,fuel,grease And Oil 2,000 2,200

55348 Flowers And Cards 50 55

55349 Plaques, Awards And Prizes 6,350 6,985

55350 Recreation/program Supplies 11,396 12,536

55354 Food Supplies 18,648 20,513

54,138 59,552

Utilities
56230 Sanitary Fees And Charges 400 440

56231 Gas And Electrictiy 16,000 17,600

56232 Water 1,500 1,650

56233 Telecomm Expenditures 4,080 4,488

21,980 24,178

Insurance
57131 Workers Compensation 1,500 1,650



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

57220 Liability Insurance 5,000 5,500

57222 Employment Practices 1,500 1,650

57224 Property Insurance 8,500 9,350

16,500 18,150

Routine/Periodic Maintenance
58003 ADA Non-Capital Expenditures 25,000 27,500

Capital Outlay
61508 CPD - ADA 323,625 355,988

61509 UPD Capital ADA 306,262 336,885

629,887 692,873

Appropriations - Fund 15 1,332,747 1,466,006

Fund 16 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Capital Outlay
61504 Vehicles / Equipment 35,000 38,500
61508 Park Construction/Improvements 2,576,095 2,833,705

2,611,095 2,872,205

Transfers to Other
Funds

Appropriations - Fund 16 2,611,095 2,872,205

Fund 19 - POLICE PROTECTION

Contractual
54281 Contractual Personnel 40,000 46,000

Appropriations - Fund 19 40,000 46,000

Fund 21 - BOND AMORTIZATION FUND

Transfer To Other Funds
59409 Transfers To Other Funds 1,319,500 1,451,450

Appropriations - Fund 21 1,319,500 1,451,450

Fund 22 - BOND PROCEEDS FUND

Contractual
54215 Professional Fees 5,500 6,050

Capital Outlay
61504 Vehicles / Equipment 335,000 368,500
61508 Park Construction/Improvements 1,005,000 1,105,500

1,340,000 1,474,000



Ordinance No. 667
Budget & Appropriations Details by Fund

May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024

Account Description
2023-24
Budget Appropriations

Debt Service Principal
59405 Bond Redemption 515,000 515,000

Debt Service Interest/Fees
59407 Interest Expenditure 45,000 49,500

Appropriations - Fund 22 1,905,500 2,044,550

Fund 24 - LAND ACQUISITION FUND

Capital Outlay
61504 Land Acquisition - 750,000

Appropriations - Fund 24 - 750,000

Fund 25 - PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND

Capital Outlay
61508 Park Construction/Improvements 66,900 73,590

Appropriations - Fund 25 66,900 73,590

Fund 26 - TRAILS AND PATHWAYS FUND

Capital Outlay
61508 Park Construction/Improvements - 100,000

Appropriations - Fund 26 - 100,000



CERTIFICATION OF 
ESTIMATE OF REVENUE

FISCAL YEAR 2024

I, Brenda Timmons, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified Treasurer of the Champaign Park
District. As such, I do further certify that the revenues, by source, anticipated to be received by the
Park District in the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2023 and ending on April 30, 2024 are estimated to
be as follows:

ESTIMATE OF REVENUE
Source of Revenue Amount

Property Taxes $ 15,655,189

Personal Property Replacement Tax 850,000

Charges for Services 2,997,641

Contributions & Sponsorships 1,094,060

Concessions & Merchandise 261,108

Grants 1,297,066

Interest 1,245,594

Bond Proceeds (Reflected as a Transfer) 1,319,500

Special Receipts/Other 372,885

Transfer to Other Funds 300,000

Total Estimate of Revenue $ 25,393,043

IN WITNESS WHEROF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Champaign Park
District this 22nd day of March, 2023.

SEAL

__________________________________________

          Brenda Timmons, Treasurer

GLOSSARY
ABATEMENT – A partial or complete cancellation of a tax levy imposed by the Park District.

ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES – All processes that discover, record, classify and
summarize financial information to produce financial reports and to provide internal
controls.

ACCRUAL BASIS – The basis of accounting under which transactions are recognized when
they occur, regardless of the timing of the related cash flow.

ACTUAL – The actual figures in the budget document are year-end totals for fiscal years



preceding the current year.

ADA – Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

ADOPTED BUDGET – This is the budget, which consolidates all beginning of the year
appropriations, building upon prior budgets, Park District goals, staff objectives, citizen
feedback and experience over the past year. The Board of Commissioners approves the
budget no later than 90 days after the beginning of the fiscal year.

AMENITIES – Items in the parks such as picnic tables, bollards, trash cans, park grills, bike
racks, etc.

APPROPRIATION – An authorization made by the Board of Commissioners, which legally
permits the Park District to incur obligations and to make expenditures for purposes
specified in the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance.

APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE – The ordinance adopted by the Board of Commissioners
establishing the legal authority to obligate and expend resources.

ASSESSED VALUATION – Basis for determining property tax. Assessed valuation
determines the value of real (land & buildings) property. Real property is appraised at
100% of the fair market value, and the assessed value may not exceed 1/3 of the
appraised value.

BALANCED BUDGET – A balanced budget is a budget where revenues meet or exceed
expenditures, and reserve balances are not considered a revenue source.

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS – An independent board of five individuals elected at-large
for six-year terms by the citizens of the Park District.

BOND – A written promise to pay a specified sum of money, called principal, at a specified
maturity date along with periodic interest paid at a specified percentage of the outstanding
principal. They are usually used for long-term debt.

BOND REFINANCING – The payoff and reissuance of bonds in order to obtain a better
interest rate or bond conditions.

BUDGET – The financial plan for a specified period of time for the operation of a program or
organization, or for the completion of a given project.



BUDGET ACTIVITY – A group of expenditures that provides for the accomplishment of a
specific program or purpose.

BUDGET AMENDMENT – After adoption, the annual budget may be revised through a
budget amendment. Any change in the budget that would decrease contingencies or
increase total expenditures for any fund must be made through a budget amendment,
which requires the affirmative vote of three of the five members of the Board of
Commissioners.

BUDGET MESSAGE – Included in the opening section of the budget, the Director of
Finance’s Letter of Transmittal provides the Executive Director and the Board of
Commissioners with a general summary of important budget issues.

BUDGETARY CONTROL – The control or management of a governmental unit or enterprise
in accordance with an approved budget for the purpose of keeping expenditures within the
limitations of available appropriations and available revenue.

CAFR – Comprehensive Annual Financial Report awarded by the Government Finance
Officers’ Association

CAPITAL BUDGET – A plan of proposed capital expenditures and the means of financing
them. The capital budget is usually enacted as part of the complete annual budget, which
includes both periodic and routine maintenance/repairs and capital outlays.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS – A nonrecurring project including, but not limited to,
construction of, and major alterations, remodeling of repair of physical facilities, buildings,
structures, landscaping and fixed equipment.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUNDS – Funds established in order to account for the financial
resources and costs associated with the construction of major capital facilities and
improvements.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN – The plan for the development of capital improvements
with the Park District’s jurisdiction. The plan includes a capital improvement budget for the
current fiscal year and proposal for a capital improvement budget for four fiscal years
subsequent to the current fiscal year.

CENSUS – An official population count of all or part of a geographic area conducted by the
federal government. This data is published online at www.census.gov

COMMODITIES – Items which, after use, are consumed or show a material change in, or an
appreciable impairment, of their physical condition, and which are generally of limited
value and characterized by rapid depreciation.

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES – Services provided by another individual, (not on Park District
payroll) agency, or private firm.

COTERMINOUS – Having the same boundary or covering the same area.

CPI – Consumer Price Index

DEBT – A financial obligation from the borrowing of money.

DEBT SERVICE – Includes principal and interest payments and handling charges on general



obligation bonds.

DEBT SERVICE FUND – A fund established to account for the accumulation of resources
for, the payment of, general long-term debt principal and interest.

DEPARTMENT – a major organizational unit of the Park District which has been assigned
overall management responsibility for an operation or a group of related operations within
a functional area.

DEPRECIATION – The decrease in value of physical assets due to use and passage of time.

ENCUMBRANCES – These are obligations in the form of purchase orders or contracts which
are chargeable to an appropriation and for which a part of the appropriation is reserved.
The use of encumbrances is designed to prevent overspending and permit officials to be
certain of how much money is available for new commitments.

ENTERPRISE FUND – A fund to account for operation that financed and operated in a
manner similar to private business enterprises – where the costs of providing services are
financed or recovered primarily through user charges.

ESTIMATE – Revenue and expenditure estimates for the current fiscal year, which are
developed as part of the budget preparation process.

EXPENDITURE – Payment by the Park District for goods or services that the Park District
has received or will receive in the future. All payments to vendors, personnel and any
other government agencies are considered expenditures.

EXPENSE CODE – Set of numbers which, in accordance with an overall system for
classifying accounts, indicates the fund, department, program and category to which a
good or service is expended

FINANCIAL POLICIES – General and specific guidelines adopted by the Park District on an
annual basis that govern budget preparation and administration

FISCAL YEAR – The time period designated by the Park District identifying the beginning
and ending period for recording financial transactions. The Park District’s fiscal year is
from May 1 to April 30.

FISCAL YEAR END – The year that the fiscal year ends for recording financial transactions.
The Park District’s fiscal year crosses over calendar years ending in April.

Full-Time I (FT1) – Employee that works a minimum of 37.5 to 40.0 hours per week and
receives full benefits from the Park District.

Full-Time II (FT2) – Employee that works a minimum of 30 hours up to 37.0 hours per week
and receives health insurance, IMRF benefits and one-half of paid leave earned by a FTI.

FUND – A fund is the basic accounting unit: it is a self-balancing accounting entity with
revenues and expenditures which are segregated for the purpose of carrying out specific
programs in accordance with Park District policies, and certain applicable State and
Federal laws. For fund types, see the Budgetary Basis and Accounting information section
of this document.

FUND BALANCE – The excess of current assets over current liabilities, it represents the



cumulative effect of revenues and other financing sources over expenditures and other
financing uses.

GASB – The Governmental Accounting Standards Board is an independent organization
which has ultimate authority over the establishment of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) for state and local governments.

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS – When a municipal government pledges its full faith and
credit to the repayment of the bonds it issues, then those bonds are general obligation
(GO) bonds.

GFOA – Government Finance Officers Association is an organization representing public
finance officers.

GOAL – A long-term or short-term desirable development.

GOVERNMENT FUND TYPES – Funds that account for a government’s government type
activities.

GRANTS – Funds received by the Park District that are designated for specific purposes.
Many grants come from the State of Illinois to reimburse the Park District for construction
costs.

IAPD – The Illinois Association of Park Districts is a statewide organization of park districts
that strive to ensure the quality of life through parks and recreation activities.

IMRF – Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund is the retirement system established for municipal
and park district employees in Illinois.

IPRA – The Illinois Park and Recreation Association is a statewide organization of parks and
recreation professionals that advocates the lifetime benefits of parks, recreation and
conservation.

INITIATIVES – Any new programs or services to be undertaken by a department or fund for
the fiscal year and any project or activity which may be unusual or otherwise significant.

INTER-FUND TRANSFER – Transfers made from one fund to another to reimburse or pay
for specific services rendered or to more generally support the activities of another fund.

LEVY – (Verb) to impose taxes for the support of government services. (Noun) The total
amount of taxes imposed by a unit of government.

LINE ITEM BUDGET – A budget that lists detailed expenditure categories separately along
with the budgeted amounts for each expenditure category. The Park District maintains
line-item detail for financial reporting and control purposes.

LONG-TERM DEBT – Debt with a maturity of more than one year from the date of issuance.

MISSION STATEMENT – A broad statement of the overall goal or purpose assigned to a
particular department or fund.

MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – The accrual basis of accounting adopted
to the governmental fund type. Under it, revenues are recognized when they become both
measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Expenditures are



generally recognized when an event or transaction is expected to draw on current
expendable resources.

NRPA – The National Recreation and Park Association is an organization of citizen boards
and professionals interested in the parks and recreation throughout the United States.

OBJECTIVES – A desired accomplishment that can be measured within a specific time
frame.

OPERATING BUDGET – The budget for funds that include recurring revenue sources used
to finance on-going operating expenditures which permit basic government services, e.g.
the General, Recreation, Museum and Special Recreation funds.

OPERATING EXPENDITURES – Day to day costs and expenses of running the Park
District, i.e. personnel, benefits, contractual and supplies, maintenance, etc.

ORDINANCE – A formal legislative enactment by the governing board of the Park District.

OSLAD GRANT – Open Space Land Acquisition and Development grant awarded by the
Illinois Department of Natural Resources. 

PARC GRANT – Park and Recreation Facility Construction Act Grant Program managed by
the Illinois Department of Natural Resources 

PARK FEATURES – Amenities found within a park (flower beds, sport fields, restrooms,
pavilions, etc.)

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS – Statistical measures that are collected to show the impact
of dollars spent on Park District services.

PERSONNEL SERVICES – Salaries and wages paid for services performed by employees
of the Park District, and fringe benefits costs associated with these services.

PROGRAM FEES AND CHARGES – The payment of fees for direct receipt of a service by
the party benefiting from the service.

PROPERTY TAX LEVY – A tax based on the assessed value of a property. Tax liability falls
on the owner of record as of the beginning of the levy year.

PUBLIC MUSEUM GRANT – Grant program awarded by the Illinois Department of Natural
Resources.

REVENUE – Funds that the Park District receives as income. It includes such items as tax
payments, fees from services, grants, donations, sponsorships and interest income.

SERVICE PLANS – Documents drafted by each department that describe the services
provided by that department as well as changes in service levels planned.

SPECIAL EVENT – A large program held in one location over a short period of time that
typically does not require advance registration.

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS – Funds used to account for the proceeds from specific
revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditure for specific purposes, e.g.,
IMRF, Social Security and Liability Insurance Fund.



STRATEGY – Statement that identifies the specific actions or steps needed to accomplish an
objective.

TAX LEVY – The total amount of money to be raised by property taxes for corporate
operating, special service areas or debt service purposes. The Park District Board of
Commissioners passes a property tax ordinance annually in November.

TAX RATE – The rate of tax levied for each $100 of assessed valuation. 

TRAIL – Linear route that links businesses, parks, schools and other trails. 

VISION – Statement that communicates the desired image for the future.



ACRONYMS
ADA – Americans with Disabilities Act

ACFR - Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

CAFR – Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is no longer referenced beginning March
2021 as requested by the GFOA.

CAPRA – Commission for Accreditation of Park and Recreation Agencies

CIP – Capital Improvement Plan

CPI – Consumer Price Index

CPRP - Certified Park and Recreation Professional

COA - Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting

CY – Calendar Year

DCC – Douglass Community Center

EAV – Equalized Assessed Value

FICA – Federal Insurance Contributions Act

FT – Full-time employee

FTE – Full Time Equivalent

FY – Fiscal Year

FYE – Fiscal Year Ended

GAAP – Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

GASB – Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

GFOA – Government Finance Officers Association 

HK – Human Kinetics Park

IAPD – Illinois Association of Park Districts

IDNR – Illinois Department of Natural Resources

IMRF – Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

IPRA – Illinois Parks and Recreation Association

LRC – Leonhard Recreation Center

MC – Martens Center

NRPA – National Recreation and Park Association

OSLAD – Open Space Land Acquisition and Development

PARC – Parks and Recreation Commission 

PDRMA – Park District Risk Management Agency 

RPT – Regular Part-Time Employee

PT – Part-time employee

PTELL – Property Tax Extension Limitation Law



RY – Revenue Year

SCC – Springer Cultural Center

SEDAC – Smart Energy Design Assistance Center

SYP – Summer Youth Program, formerly known as day camps

TIF – Tax Increment Financing District

TY – Tax Year


	2023-02-08 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	2023-02-22 Special Board Meeting Minutes
	North Campustown TIF Extension Memo_Champaign Park District
	ADPA1BD.tmp
	ARTICLE II
	F. Executive Director’s Report
	G. Committee Reports

	ARTICLE V

	ADPFD3D.tmp
	ARTICLE II
	F. Executive Director’s Report
	G. Committee Reports

	ARTICLE V

	ADP5C03.tmp
	REPORT TO PARK BOARD
	Prior Board Action
	April 8, 2020 Regular Board Meeting - the Board approved a three (3) year agreement for $2,50562.50 per month, or a total of $30,750 for the first two (2) years. Year three (3) of the agreement increased to $2,613.75 per month for a total of $31,365 p...
	Budget Impact
	Including the rate increase, the impact to the budget for FY24 will be $38,400.00.
	Recommended Action
	Staff recommends approval of a two (2) year agreement between the Park District and Micro Systems International, Inc. at the rate of $3,200.00 per month beginning May 1, 2023 and ending April 30, 2025.

	ADPA440.tmp
	A. CALL TO ORDER
	C. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments must be limited to not more than three (3) minutes.
	D. COMMUNICATIONS
	E. TREASURER’S REPORT
	F. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT
	G. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS
	H. REPORT OF OFFICERS
	I. CONSENT AGENDA
	J.  NEW BUSINESS
	K. DISCUSSION ITEMS
	L. COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS
	M. ADJOURN

	FYE2025 Preliminary Budget Book.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Budget Navigation Guide 
	CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT
	Board of Commissioners and Administrative Staff 
	Board of Commissioners
	Officers
	Administrative Staff

	Budget Overview 
	Tentative Budget Schedule 
	Start of Fiscal Year.

	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Financial Structure, Policy and Process 
	Budget Policies and Procedures 


	Org Chart
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Financial Summaries 
	Combined Fund Analysis 
	Budget Analysis
	Carryover/Reserve Balance
	Revenues:
	Expenditures:
	Budget Summary All Funds Combined 

	Champaign park district fund
	Recreation Fund
	Museum Fund
	Liability insurance fund
	Audit fund
	Fund 12 Special Donations Fund
	Fund 14 Social Security Fund
	Champaign park district
	Police protection
	schstmt39
	Paving and lighting fund
	Paving and lighting fund
	Capital improvements fund
	Capital improvements fund
	Capital improvements fund
	Principal responsibilities
	Principal responsibilities
	Principal responsibilities
	Principal responsibilities
	Principal responsibilities
	Principal responsibilities
	Bond proceeds fund
	Bond proceeds fund
	Bond proceeds fund
	Bond proceeds fund
	Land acquisition fund
	Land acquisition fund
	Park development fund
	Park development fund
	Trails and pathways fund
	Trails and pathways fund
	Martens center capital fund
	Martens center capital fund
	 champaign park district
	 champaign park district
	 champaign park district
	 champaign park district
	Recreation administration
	02-30-000 recreation fund: facilities
	02-40-000 recreation fund: sports programs
	Recreation fund: youth programs
	Recreation fund: other programs
	Recreation fund: teen programs
	Recreation fund: concessions
	Recreation fund: aquatics
	Champaign park district
	Museum fund: cultural arts
	Museum fund: special events
	Museum fund: facilities
	Museum fund: virginia theatre
	Museum fund: youth programs
	schstmt70
	Supplemental Information
	Park District Profile
	Assessed Valuation Comparisons
	Tax Rates, Levies, and Collections
	Budget and Appropirations Totals by Fund
	Ordinance No. 

	ADP6C35.tmp
	February 8, 2023

	ADPEB99.tmp
	February 22, 2023
	Commissioner McMahon made a motion to approve accepting the low, responsible base bid, rejecting the add alternate one (1) as well as authorize the Executive Director to enter into an agreement with A&A Concrete for a total of $64,928.14. The motion w...




